Università Degli Studi di Siena



Dipartimento di Biotecnologie Mediche Dottorato di Ricerca in Biotecnologie Mediche

Ciclo XXIII

Coordinatore Prof. Lorenzo Leoncini

Maximizing disinfection procedures in endodontics

Settore Scientifico-Disciplinare: Endodonzia

Dottorando: Dott. Raffaele Paragliola

Tutor: Prof. Simone Grandini

Anno Accademico 2020/2021

Contents

Introduction

Chapter 1. The role of instrumentation

- 1.1 Root canal infection
- 1.2 Root canal instrumentation
- 1.2.1 The crown down approach
- 1.2.2 Working length determination
- 1.2.3 Size of apical preparation
- **1.2.4 Preparation techniques**
- 1.2.5 Hand file instrumentation
- 1.2.6 Patency filing
- 1.2.7 The era of nickel titanium
- 1.2.8 Rotary file systems
- 1.2.9 Reciprocating systems
- 1.2.10 Which system is best?

Chapter 2. The role of irrigation

- 2.1 Type of irrigant
- 2.2 Factor influencing endodontic irrigants
- 2.3 Mode of delivery
- 2.4 Activation of irrigant

Chapter 3. The role of Smear layer

- 3.1 The significance of the smear layer
- 3.2 Should the smear layer be removed?
- 3.3 Methods to remove the smear layer

Chapter 4. The role of Enterococcus Faecalis

- 4.1 E. faecalis Characteristics and Strains
- 4.2 Prevalence in Secondary Root Canal Infections
- 4.3 Survival and Virulence Factors
- 4.4 Methods of Eradication
- **4.5 Conclusion**

EXPERIMENTAL PART

Chapter 5. Final Rinse Optimization: Influence of Different Agitation Protocols

- 5.1 Introduction
- **5.2 Materials and Methods**
- 5.3 Results
- 5.4 Discussion

Chapter 6. Comparison of smear layer removal using four final-rinse protocols

- 6.1 Introduction
- 6.2 Materials and Methods
- 6.3 Results
- 6.4 Discussion

Chapter 7. Influence of surfactant and PUI on the effectiveness of NaOCl for final rinse optimization

- 7.1 Introduction
- 7.2 Materials and Methods
- 7.3 Results
- 7.4 Discussion

Chapter 8. The role of PUI on Enterococcus Faecalis

- 8.1 Introduction
- 8.2 Materials and methods
- 8.3 Results
- 8.4 Discussion

Chapter 9. Conclusions and future directions

Introduction

We are living in the age of evidence-based medicine. Any new concept and technique to be used on patients should ideally be assessed in randomized controlled clinical trials against their respective gold standards. This, however, poses a major problem particularly in endodontic research. A favourable outcome of root canal treatment is defined as the reduction of a radiographic lesion and the absence of clinical symptoms of the affected tooth after a minimal observation period of 1 yr. (1). Alternatively, the so called surrogate outcome (dependent) variables yielding quicker results, such as the microbial load remaining in the root canal system after different treatment protocols, can be defined. However, these do not necessarily correlate with the "true" treatment outcome (2). Endodontic success is dependent on multiple factors (3), and a faulty treatment step can thus be compensated. For instance if cultivable microbiota remain after improper canal disinfection, they can theoretically be entombed in the canal system by a perfect root canal filling (4), and clinical success may still be achieved (5). On the other hand, in a methodologically sound clinical trial, single treatment steps have to be randomized and related to outcome. Otherwise, the results do not allow any conclusions and no causative relationships may be revealed (6).

The above issues may be viewed as the reason (or as an excuse) for the fact that no randomized controlled clinical trials exist on the effect of irrigating solutions on treatment outcome in the endodontic literature. As of yet, we largely depend on data from in vitro studies and clinical trials with microbial recovery after treatment as the surrogate outcome. Clinical recommendations based on such findings are merely deductive and need to be interpreted with care.

Chapter 1

1.1Root Canal Infection

A traditional concept that explains infectious processes occurring in humans suggests that diseases are produced as the result of the aggressive invasion of harmful microorganisms, which battle with the human host's defences, triggering mechanisms that release antibodies and immune cells. The impact of such an approach generates a predisposition to search for those "most dangerous" microorganisms that can cause/ trigger the most severe damage to the host. In line with this view, infectious processes of the oral cavity were proposed to be caused by a relatively small number of organisms from the diverse collection of species found in the human mouth (7). In caries, for example, the frequent isolation of *Streptococcus mutans* from carious lesions (8–12) generated a considerable number of studies to explore the ex vivo features of this bacterium. Research findings showing the significant acid-tolerant capabilities of S. mutans defined this organism as "the" agent responsible for initial enamel and dentine demineralization. Similarly, in periodontal disease, the frequent recovery of proteolytic microorganisms from deep periodontal pockets, such as *Porphyromonas gingivalis*, increased the attention of periodontists to these bacteria because they were considered key etiological agents of the disease (11,12). The main disadvantage with this traditional view of the infectious process, especially in oral infections, is that the determination of true cause-andeffect relationships is not always possible. Consequently, the predominance of certain microorganisms at a given site may be the result of the disease itself rather than that of the initiating agent (13). Recently, the "ecological plaque hypothesis" (14–19) has improved on these classic infectious concepts to explain the aetiology of caries and periodontal disease. This hypothesis suggests that the organisms associated with the disease may also be present at sound sites, but at levels too low to represent a clinical threat. In other words, disease is produced as the result of changes in the local environmental conditions that will shift the balance of the resident flora.

Root canal infections have a different nature than that of caries or periodontitis because they become established in originally sterile compartments of the oral cavity. In many cases, this led to the concept that the aetiology of root canal infections involves only a single pathogen. For example, the predominance of certain proteolytic black-pigmented anaerobic organisms in cultures from infected root canals associated with acute symptoms suggested that these organisms are foremost etiological agents in such cases (20,21). Recently, the frequent recovery of Enterococcus faecalis in root canals associated with persistent infections brought

about an intense research interest in this bacterium. E. faecalis has become the ideal organism to test different irrigants, medicaments, and antiseptic solutions used in endodontics ex vivo, with findings that revealed its innate resistance capacity (22–24). This extensive interest in E. faecalis, perhaps driven by its ability to grow under almost any laboratory condition (25), resulted in the concept that the organism is the sole etiological agent for chronic endodontic infections. Consequently, the focus on E. faecalis resulted in much less information on the existence of other organisms in such infections that may possess similar tolerating characteristics to E. faecalis and that would shed light on the existence of a polymicrobial persisting community. Thus, it is not surprising that ecological parameters in root canal infections are not often discussed.

From an ecological perspective, the root canal can be considered a highly controlled environment with a limited number of niches. Although niches are composed by a variety of environmental factors that limit the growth of one species relative to others (26), the main limiting factors in root canal niches that influence bacterial colonization are, for instance, oxygen and nutrient availability (27). After root canal treatment, other limiting factors become involved, such as pH and the short/long-term effects of the antibacterial medicaments applied. Bacterial survival in such controlled environments, especially after root canal treatment, is based on the capacity of organisms to adapt to the existing conditions.

Although traditional views suggest that the organisms surviving root canal treatment are a selected group of the "most robust" organisms, the application of ecological parameters indicates that bacterial survival after root canal treatment will depend not on the robustness of the organisms, but on how good an adaptor the organism is to the new limiting factors in their corresponding niches. Furthermore, as in every natural microenvironment, the adaptive capabilities of individual organisms are exponentially augmented when growing in biofilm communities. The foundation for this ecological approach to endodontic infections suggests that the most dangerous "pathogen" is not an individual species, but a polymicrobial entity that undergoes physiological and genetic changes triggered by changes in the root canal environment.

Currently, there is no substantial evidence indicating that certain microorganisms of the microbial flora in root canal infections are more virulent than others. With this in mind, Sundqvist and Figdor (28) stated that a proper definition for endodontic pathogens should include every organism capable of inducing the tissue destruction in apical periodontitis. In reality, however, the majority of endodontic-microbiology studies refer to the endodontic

pathogen as the bacterium isolated from a symptom-associated root canal that grows in the laboratory in a specific media. By this approach, the most frequently recovered species will assume the role of major endodontic pathogen. In persistent root canal infections, for example, the frequent occurrence of monocultures of E. faecalis has raised suspicion that this bacterium may be the sole organism persisting in the root canals. Considering that monoinfections rarely if ever occur in nature, it is possible that the apparent pure cultures of E. faecalis could be the result of sampling and culturing techniques that favour it over other organisms at the site that were either in low numbers or were physiologically inactive or dormant. For instance, in a commonly cited study (29), from the total 100 root- filled teeth with apical periodontitis sampled E. faecalis was reported as the most frequently recovered organism (32%), although in 32% of the cases with persistent lesion no microbe could be isolated. In yet nine root-filled teeth without periapical lesion that showed bacterial growth, the organism was found in one case. In a similar study, 25 root-filled teeth requiring retreatment were sampled and E. faecalis was found in 14 of those 20 teeth with bacterial growth (30). However, it would seem that this study was focused primarily in proving the occurrence of E. faecalis in root-filled teeth rather than in exploring the microbial flora in persisting infections. Similarly, in a recent study using a sophisticated nested PCR technique, the target bacterium E. faecalis was found in 41 of 50 (82%) untreated root canals and in 38 of 50 (76%) treatment failure associated root canals (31). As in other related works (32–35), PCR methodology seems to be exclusively directed to find only E. faecalis, ignoring the rest of the flora present that may be as important as E. faecalis in provoking the treatment failures.

On the other hand, recent investigations have confirmed the polymicrobial nature of root canal infections (36, 57). In a study with monkeys (36), different combinations of bacteria were experimentally inoculated in root canals and periapical lesions were induced. The teeth were treated endodontically and followed-up radiographically and histologically for 2 to 2.5 years. In the root canals with bacteria present when the root filling was removed, 30 of the 31 canals had persisting periapical lesions. Importantly, more of these non-healed lesions were associated with various combinations of bacterial strains, that is, mixed infections, than single strains. Previously, the same research group (38) also found that when an "eight-strain collection" of species, derived from one infected root canal, was re-inoculated in equal proportions into other monkey teeth, species such as Bacteroides oralis (now Prevotella oralis) dominated in mixed infections and showed a more potent capacity for tissue destruction. Furthermore, B. oralis could not be reisolated from inoculated root canals after the experimental period when inoculated as a pure culture. In another study using the tissue

cage model implanted subcutaneously in the backs of rabbits, the same col- lection of eight bacterial strains from monkey root canals were inoculated in different combinations and individual species. The combination of B. oralis, Fusobacterium necrophorum, Peptostreptococcus anaerobius, and Streptococcus milleri was the most predominant and induced higher titers of circulating antibodies than that obtained with individual inoculations, such as E. faecalis (39).

Even if we accept the polymicrobial nature of root canal infections, one of the major problems in understanding endodontic infections is that we still extrapolate between individual organisms growing in liquid (planktonic) cultures and the in vivo situation. A significant literature now exists demonstrating that the physiology of a bacterium in planktonic culture is profoundly different from that of the same organism growing on a surface in a biofilm [see review by Costerton et al. (40)]. For instance, planktonic bacteria are more sensitive to antimicrobial agents because of their ease of diffusion within the bulk fluid, whereas biofilm bacteria are notably resistant to these agents (41–45). In this context, the study of biofilms in root canal infections has included biofilms formed by mixed cultures of anaerobic bacteria in extracted teeth (46, 47) or by pure cultures of E. faecalis (48, 49). Biofilms of five root canal isolates have also been used to test the antimicrobial efficacy of endodontic irrigants, such as sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl) (2.25%), 0.2% chlorhexidine, 10% povidone iodine, and 5 ppm colloidal silver, with NaOCl shown to be the most effective agent of this group (50). In addition, Chavez et al. tested the alkaline tolerance of species isolated from chronically infected root canals and found that E. faecalis and other Gram-positive organisms, such as Lactobacillus paracasei, Olsenella uli, or Streptococcus gordonii, shared similarly high alkaline-tolerant capabilities when growing in planktonic conditions. S. anginosus, S. oralis, and F. nucleatum, on the other hand, were greatly affected by the alkaline stress (see Fig. 1) (51). Of importance, however, was the observation that this difference in alkaline tolerance was not apparent when the strains were tested in biofilms because all seven strains showed a similar high tolerance to alkaline pH (Fig. 1). These findings not only show the capacity of root canal bacteria other than E. faecalis to adapt to alkaline stress, but also provide further evidence that bacteria in surface-adhered biofilm consortia are more resistant to environmental stress than when grown in liquid culture.

Planktonic cells

Biofilms



Figure 1. Fluorescence micrographs using Live/Dead fluorescence staining for bacterial viability. Cells stained fluorescent green represent viable cells, whereas cells stained fluorescent red are nonviable or damaged. In the first column, images show planktonic cells of three root canal strains at neutral media (pH 7). The middle column shows planktonic cells after exposure to pH 10.5 for 4 hours, and the right column shows biofilm cells exposed to alkaline challenge (pH 10.5) for 4 hours. Bars, 2 m. Images are published with permission of Blackwell Publishing. International Endodontic Journal, Chávez de Paz et al. (65)

As the host defense loses its access to the necrotic pulp space, opportunistic microorganisms selected by harsh ecological conditions and the low-oxygen environment aggregate in the root canal system (52). These microbial communities may survive on organic pulp tissue remnants and exudate from the periodontium (53, 54). Consequently, clusters of microorganisms in

necrotic teeth and teeth with failed root canal treatments are typically found in the apical root canal area, where they have access to tissue fluid (52). In long-standing infections, root canal bacteria can invade the adjacent dentin via open dentinal tubules (55, 56).

Primary root canal infections are polymicrobial, typically domi- nated by obligately anaerobic bacteria (53). The most frequently isolated microorganisms before root canal treatment include Gram-negative anaerobic rods, Gram-positive anaerobic cocci, Gram-positive anaerobic and facultative rods, Lactobacillus species and Gram-positive facultative Streptococcus species (53). The obligate anaerobes are rather easily eradicated during root canal treatment. On the other hand, facultative bacteria such as nonmutans Streptococci, Enterococci, and Lactobacilli, once established, are more likely to survive chemomechanical instrumentation and root canal medication (57). In particular Enterococcus faecalis has gained attention in the endodontic literature, as it can frequently be isolated from root canals in cases of failed root canal treatments (58, 59). In addition, yeasts may also be found in root canals associated with therapy-resistant apical periodontitis (60).

It is likely that all of the microorganisms able to colonize the necrotic root canal system cause periapical inflammatory lesions. Enterococci can survive in monoculture, but cause only minor lesions (38). Certain Gram-negative taxa appear to be more virulent (53). The outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria contains endotoxin, which is present in all necrotic teeth with periapical lesions (61), and is able to trigger an inflammatory response even in the absence of viable bacteria (62). Furthermore, the levels of endotoxin in necrotic root canals are positively correlated to clinical symptoms such as spontaneous pain and tenderness to percussion (63). Virulent Gram-negative anaerobic rods depend on the presence of other bacteria in their environment to survive and establish their full pathogenic potential (38). Such aggregations of microorganisms in an extracellular polysaccharide matrix associated with a surface (in our case the inner root canal wall) are called biofilms (64). There is convincing evidence that microorganisms organized in this manner are far less susceptible to antimicrobial agents than their planktonic counterparts, which have traditionally been used to test the antimicrobial efficacy of substances in vitro (65, 66). If a bacterially inoculated broth is confronted with an antimicrobial fluid, the efficacy of that agent can appear to be very convincing, similar as with agar-diffusion tests. However, in the root canal system biofilms and infected dentinal tubules make disinfection much more difficult and thus study models such as standardized infected bovine dentin blocks (67) or in vivo models appear to be more valid than the above mentioned study designs. Furthermore, it has been shown that organic and inorganic dentin components, which are suspended in the irrigant during chemomechanical instrumentation, inhibit most antimicrobial agents (68, 69).

In conclusion, the biofilm concept and the specific conditions in the pulpless root canal microniche cannot be overestimated when considering the actions of different irrigating solutions.

References

- 1. Ørstavik D. Time-course and risk analyses of the development and healing of chronic apical periodontitis in man. Int Endod J 1996;29:150 –5.
- Peters LB, van Winkelhoff AJ, Buijs JF, Wesselink PR. Effects of instrumentation, irrigation and dressing with calcium hydroxide on infection in pulpless teeth with periapical bone lesions. Int Endod J 2002;35:13–21.
- 3. Ørstavik D, Qvist V, Stoltze K. A multivariate analysis of the outcome of endodontic treatment. Eur J Oral Sci 2004;112:224 30.
- Saleh IM, Ruyter IE, Haapasalo M, Ørstavik D. Survival of Enterococcus faecalis in infected dentinal tubules after root canal filling with different root canal sealers in vitro. Int Endod J 2004;37:193–8.
- Peters LB ,Wesselink PR. Periapical healing of endodontically treated teeth in one and two visits obturated in the presence or absence of detectable microorganisms. Int Endod J 2002;35:660 –7.
- 6. Alderson P, Green S, Higgins J. Cochrane Reviewer's Handbook. The Cochrane Library, Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2004.
- 7. Loesche WJ. Chemotherapy of dental plaque infections. Oral Sci Rev 1976; 9:65–107
- Bowden GH. Microbiology of root surface caries in humans. J Dent Res 1990;69:1205– 10.
- Loesche WJ. Role of Streptococcus mutans in human dental decay. Microbiol Rev 1986;50:353–80.
- 10. Marsh PD. Microbial community aspects of dental plaque. In:Newman HN, Wilson M, eds. Dental plaque revisited. Cardiff, UK: BioLine; 1999:237–53.
- 11. Moore WE, Moore LV. The bacteria of periodontal diseases. Periodontology 1994;5:66 –77.
- 12. Socransky SS, Haffajee AD, Cugini MA, Smith C, Kent RL Jr. Microbial complexes in subgingival plaque. J Clin Periodontol 1998;25:134 44.
- 13. Marsh PD. Are dental diseases examples of ecological catastrophes ? Microbiology 2003;149:279 –94.
- 14. Bowden GH, Hardie JM, McKee AS, Marsh PD, Fillery ED, Slack GL. The microflora associated with developing carious lesions of the distal surfaces of the upper first premolars in 13–14 year old children. In: Stiles HM, Loesche WJ, O'Brien TC, eds. Microbial Aspects of Dental Caries. Washington, DC: Information Retrieval; 1976:233–

41.

- 15. Marsh PD. Sugar, fluoride, pH and microbial homeostasis in dental plaque. Proc Finn Dent Soc 1991;87:515–25.
- Marsh PD. Microbial ecology of dental plaque and its significance in health and disease. Adv Dent Res 1994;8:263–71.
- 17. Marsh PD,Bradshaw DJ. Physiological approaches to the control of oral biofilms. Adv Dent Res 1997;11:176 – 85.
- 18. Marsh PD, Featherstone A, McKee AS, et al. A microbiological study of early caries of approximal surfaces in schoolchildren. J Dent Res 1989;68:1151–4.
- 19. Newman HN. Plaque and chronic inflammatory periodontal disease. A question of ecology. J Clin Periodontol 1990;17:533–41.
- 20. Chávez de Paz Villanueva LE. Fusobacterium nucleatum in endodontic flare-ups. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2002;93:179 – 83.
- 21. Haapasalo M, Ranta H, Ranta K, Shah H. Black-pigmented *Bacteroides* spp. in human apical periodontitis. Infect Immun 1986;53:149–53.
- 22. Dahlén G, Samuelsson W, Molander A, Reit C. Identification and antimicrobial susceptibility of enterococci isolated from the root canal. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2000;15:309 – 12.
- 23. Eddy RS, Joyce AP, Roberts S, Buxton TB, Liewehr F. An in vitro evaluation of the antibacterial efficacy of chlorine dioxide on *E. faecalis* in bovine incisors. J Endod 2005;31:672–5.
- 24. Portenier I, Waltimo T, Ørstavik D, Haapasalo M. The susceptibility of starved, stationary phase, and growing cells of *Enterococcus faecalis* to endodontic medicaments. J Endod 2005;31:380 6.
- 25. Siren EK, Haapasalo MP, Waltimo TM, Orstavik D. In vitro antibacterial effect of calcium hydroxide combined with chlorhexidine or iodine potassium iodide on *Enterococcus faecalis.* Eur J Oral Sci 2004;112:326–31.
- 26. Kassen R, Rainey PB. The ecology and genetics of microbial diversity. Annu Rev Microbiol 2004;58:207–31.
- 27. SundqvistG.Ecologyoftherootcanalflora.JEndod1992;18:427–30.
- 28. Sundqvist G, Figdor D. Life as an endodontic pathogen. Ecological differences between the untreated and root-filled root canals. Endodontic Topics 2003;6:3–28.
- 29. Molander A, Reit C, Dahlén G, Kvist T. Microbiological status of root-filled teeth with

apical periodontitis. Int Endod J 1998;31:1-7.

- 30. Peciuliene V, Balciuniene I, Eriksen HM, Haapasalo M. Isolation of Enterococcus *faecalis* in previously root-filled canals in a Lithuanian population. J Endod 2000;26:593–5.
- 31. Gomes BP, Pinheiro ET, Sousa EL ,et al. Enterococcus faecalis in dental root canals detected by culture and by polymerase chain reaction analysis. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2006;102:247–53.
- 32. Kaufman B, Spångberg L, Barry J, Fouad AF. *Enterococcus* spp. in endodontically treated teeth with and without periradicular lesions. J Endod 2005;31:851–6.
- 33. Sedgley C, Nagel A, Dahlén G, Reit C, Molander A. Realtime quantitative polymerase chain reaction and culture analyses of *Enterococcus faecalis* in root canals. J Endod 2006;32:173–7.
- 34. Williams JM, Trope M, Caplan DJ, Shugars DC. Detection and quantitation of *E. faecalis* by real-time PCR (qPCR), reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PCR), and culti- vation during endodontic treatment. J Endod 2006;32:715–21.
- 35. Zoletti GO, Siqueira JF Jr, Santos KR. Identification of *Enterococcus faecalis* in root-filled teeth with or without periradicular lesions by culture-dependent and independent approaches. J Endod 2006;32:722– 6.
- 36. Fabricius L, Dahlén G, Sundqvist G, Happonen RP, Möller ÅJ. Influenceofresidual bacteria on periapical tissue healing after chemomechanical treatment and root filling of experimentally infected monkey teeth. Eur J Oral Sci 2006;114:278 – 85.
- 37. Rôças IN, Siqueira JF Jr, Aboim MC, Rosado AS. Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis analysis of bacterial communities associated with failed endodontic treatment. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2004;98:741–9.
- 38. Fabricius L, Dahlén G, Hölm SE, Möller ÅJ. Influence of combinations of oral bacteria on periapical tissues of monkeys. Scand J Dent Res 1982;90:200 – 6.
- 39. Dahlén G, Fabricius L ,Hölm SE ,Möller ÅJ. Interactions with inacollection of eight bacterial strains isolated from a monkey dental root canal. Oral Microbiol Immunol 1987;2:164 –70.

- 40. Costerton JW, Lewandowski Z, DeBeer D, Caldwell D, Korber D, James G. Biofilms, the customized microniche. J Bacteriol 1994;176:2137–42.
- 41. Costerton JW, Cheng KJ, Geesey GG, et al. Bacterial biofilms in nature and disease. Annu Rev Microbiol 1987;41:435–64.
- 42. Gilbert P, Das J, Foley I. Biofilm susceptibility to antimicrobials. Adv Dent Res 1997;11:160-7.
- 43. Johnson SA, Goddard PA, Iliffe C, et al. Comparative susceptibility of resident and transient hand bacteria to para-chloro-meta-xylenol and triclosan. J Appl Microbiol 2002;93:336 – 44.
- 44. Larsen T. Susceptibility of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* in biofilms to amoxicillin, doxycycline and metronidazole. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2002;17:267–71.
- 45. Shani S, Friedman M, Steinberg D. The anticariogenic effect of amine fluorides on *Streptococcus sobrinus* and glucosyltransferase in biofilms. Caries Res 2000; 34:260 7.
- 46. Barrieshi KM, Walton RE, Johnson WT, Drake DR. Coronal leakage of mixed an- aerobic bacteria after obturation and post space preparation. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 1997;84:310 – 4.
- 47. Clegg MS, Vertucci FJ, Walker C, Belanger M, Britto LR. The effect of exposure to irrigant solutions on apical dentin biofilms in vitro. J Endod 2006;32:434 –7.
- 48. Dunavant TR, Regan JD, Glickman GN, Solomon ES, Honeyman AL. Comparative evaluation of endodontic irrigants against *Enterococcus faecalis* biofilms. J Endod 2006;32:527–31.
- 49. George S, Kishen A, Song KP. The role of environmental changes on monospecies biofilm formation on root canal wall by *Enterococcus faecalis*. J Endod2005;31:867–72.
- 50. Spratt DA, Pratten J, Wilson M, Gulabivala K. An in vitro evaluation of the antimicrobial efficacy of irrigants on biofilms of root canal isolates. Int Endod J 2001;34:300 –7.
- 51. Chávez de Paz LE, Bergenholtz G, Dahlén G, Svensäter G. Response to alkaline stress by root canal bacteria in biofilms. Int Endod J. 2007 May;40(5):344-55. Epub 2007 Feb 27

- 52. Nair PN. Pathogenesis of apical periodontitis and the causes of endodontic failures. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 2004;15:348 – 81.
- 53. Sundqvist G. Taxonomy, ecology, and pathogenicity of the root canal flora. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1994;78:522–30.
- 54. Love RM. Enterococcus faecalis a mechanism for its role in endodontic failure. Int Endod J 2001;34:399 405.
- 55. Shovelton DS. The presence and distribution of microorganisms with nonvital teeth. Br Dent J 1964;117:101–7.
- 56. Armitage GC, Ryder MI ,Wilcox SE. Cemental changes in teeth with heavily infected root canals. J Endod 1983;9:127–30.
- 57. Chavez DePaz LE, Dahlén G, Molander A, Möller A, Bergenholtz G. Bacteria recovered from teeth with apical periodontitis after antimicrobial endodontic treatment. Int Endod J 2003;36:500 8.
- 58. Engström B. The significance of Enterococci in root canal treatment. Odontol Revy 1964;15:87–106.
- 59. Haapasalo M, Ranta K, Ranta H.Facultatice Gram-negative entericrods in persistent periapical infections. Acta Odontol Scand 1983;91:458 63.
- 60. Waltimo TM, Sirén EK, Torkko HL, Olsen I, Haapasalo MP. Fungi in therapy resistant apical periodontitis. Int Endod J 1997;30:96 –101.
- 61. DahlénG,BergenholtzG.Endotoxicactivityinteethwithnecroticpulps.JDentRes 1980;59:1033–40.
- 62. Dwyer TG, Torabinejad M. Radiographic and histologic evaluation of the effect of endotoxin on the periapical tissues of the cat. J Endod 1980;7:31–5.
- 63. Jacinto RC, Gomes BP, Shah HN, Ferraz CC, Zaia AA, Souza Filho FJ.Quantification of endotoxins in necrotic root canals from symptomatic and asymptomatic teeth. J Med Microbiol 2005;54:777–83.
- 64. Costerton JW, Lewandowski Z, DeBeer D, Caldwell D, Korber D, James G. Biofilms, the customized microniche. J Bacteriol 1994;176:2137–42.

- 65. Nickel JC, Ruseska I, Wright JB, Costerton JW. Tobramycin resistance of Pseudo- monas aeruginosa cells growing as a biofilm on urinary catheter material. Antimi- crob Agents Chemother 1985;27:619 –24.
- 66. Wilson M. Susceptibility of oral bacterial biofilms to antimicrobial agents. J Med Microbiol 1996;44:79 87.
- 67. Haapasalo M, Ørstavik D. In vitro infection and disinfection of dentinal tubules. J Dent Res 1987;66:1375–9.
- 68. Portenier I, Haapasalo H, Rye A, Waltimo T, Ørstavik D, Haapasalo M. Inactivation of root canal medicaments by dentine, hydroxylapatite and bovine serum albumin. Int Endod J 2001;34:184 – 8.
- 69. Portenier I, Haapasalo H, Ørstavik D, Yamauchi M, Haapasalo M. Inactivation of the antibacterial activity of iodine potassium iodide and chlorhexidine digluconate against Enterococcus faecalis by dentin, dentin matrix, type-I collagen, and heat- killed microbial whole cells. J Endod 2002;28:634 –7.

1.2 ROOT CANAL INSTRUMENTATION

The objectives of mechanical preparation are two-fold:

1. To facilitate irrigation Conventional radiography does not enlighten the clinician about the true complexity of the root canal system. Lateral canals, fins, anastomoses and ramifications are invariably present, with some canals being joined by narrow isthmi. The main canal is rarely round, but often oval, ribbon- like or even 'C'-shaped, depending upon the tooth. One seminal study has demonstrated up to 53% of the canal will remain unreached by instrumentation following preparation (1). Therefore, mechanical preparation facilitates penetration of irrigants into these complex anatomical spaces. Although some dentine-containing micro-organisms will be removed during mechanical preparation, research suggests that a considerable amount of the canal will not be contacted by a file, therefore irrigants play a crucial role in destroying micro-organisms, neutralizing endotoxin and removing organic tissue components (2).

2. To facilitate obturation as cleaning and shaping does not remove all micro-organisms from the canal, obturation aims to entomb any residual pathogens and limit recolonization by preventing the passage of nutrients from both coronal and apical aspects. Mechanical preparation facilitates obturation. Schilder's principles of canal preparation still hold true today (3). The idea of creating a continuously tapering preparation, free from mechanical errors, allows the best chance of a well-condensed obturation, with the absence of voids.

1.2.1 The crown down approach

The majority of micro-organisms are in the coronal portion of the canal and pulp chamber (4). Thus, whatever instruments are used, a crown down approach and only initial scouting of the canal prior to working length determination is sensible. This technique involves shaping the canal from the coronal aspect first and progressively working more apically with smaller diameter instruments (5) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. The crown down approach: the coronal third of the canal system is enlarged using GG or orifice-shaping files. The enlargement is directed away from the furcation and has the simultaneous benefit of removing dentine overhanging the orifices to allow optimal straight-line access.

Such an approach:

- Minimizes the transportation of pathogens further into the canal system;
- Allows a greater amount of irrigant to be held in the canal, facilitating debris removal and disinfection;
- Removes coronal curvatures and facilitates straight-line access;
- Improves accuracy of working length determination as reduction of curvature after working length determination may alter the working length and result in a tendency to transport the canal and over-enlarge the apical foramen;
- Reduces file binding in the coronal portion of the canal, facilitating working length assessment and further reducing the risk of instrument separation through torsional failure.

Traditionally, Gates Glidden (GG) instruments would be used for the crown down procedure but many rotary filling systems now have orifice shapers to begin the preparation. If clinicians elect to use GGs it is wise to remember a Size 6 GG has an apical diameter of 1.5 mm (ISO 150), with sizes stepping down in 0.2 mm increments to a Size 1 GG at 0.50 mm (ISO 50). As such, even the smallest of GGs can be very destructive if used carelessly. Avoid using sizes above GG 3 (0.90 mm: ISO 90). Whatever instruments are used, caution must be taken with regard to the furcation region, the instruments being used away from the furcation (anti-curvature filing) (6). Despite the aforementioned advantages, it is easier to create blockages and ledges with an aggressive or careless crown down approach, thus highlighting the importance of recapitulation.

1.2.2 Working length determination

The apical extent of preparation should be kept within the canal system: over extension can reduce success up to 62% and, for every mm short of the apex, underextension reduces success by 12% (7). Methods used to estimate the maximum working length for instrumentation include apical gauging by tactile sensation, instrumentation without local anaesthetic, using pre-operative radiographs alone, the paper point technique, working length radiographs (WLRs) with files *in situ* and, most recently, the use of electronic apex locators (EALs). Historically, the most widely accepted method is by placing a file to the estimated length, then taking a confirmatory radiograph, but the radiographic apex rarely corresponds with the anatomical apex (8) It follows that WLRs can only give an estimation of the correct termination of preparation.

Modern impedance-based multifrequency EALs are reliable and accurate >90% of the time (9) These devices are only accurate at a ZERO reading. Any reading given other than ZERO should not be used as a marker of apical extent. The ZERO reading is reached when the file contacts the periodontal ligament. Thus, by definition this is over extended and, to calculate the working length, one must subtract 0.5 mm from the ZERO reading length (10). For more information readers are referred to other papers on the subject of EALs (11,12).

The 2013 Faculty of General Dental Practitioners Selection Criteria for Dental Radiography states 'Unless there is confidence about working length(s) derived from an electronic apex locator, at least one good-quality radiograph is necessary to confirm working length(s)' (13). From this one could extrapolate that WLRs are no longer always necessary. We recommend that a combination of techniques is used.

1.2.3 Size of apical preparation

There is equivocal evidence regarding the effect of the size of apical preparation on the success of endodontic treatment (14,15) Smaller apical preparation has the advantage of minimizing the risk of transportation and extrusion of debris and irrigant. Conversely, a more aggressive apical preparation will remove more infected dentine and allow greater access to irrigants but may increase the risk of perforation and extrusion of debris and irrigants. Traditional teaching advocated using a master apical file which was three sizes larger than the first file to bind (16) Subsequent work has shown this method to be inaccurate (17). In addition, most apical foramina are not round but ovoid in shape and it is questionable whether infected dentine needs to be removed as appropriate irrigation penetrates dentine and kills micro-organisms (18). A modern approach to apical enlargement focuses on irrigation. Irrigant must reach the apical 1 mm of the canal (19). Evidence suggests that irrigants do not flow greater than 1–2 mm past the syringe tip. Ideally, the irrigating syringe tip must be placed within 1-2 mm of the apex (20). A conventional 30 gauge needle corresponds to the tip of an ISO 30 file, therefore an apical preparation smaller than this may result in the inability to place the needle tip within the apical 2 mm and thus there may be inadequate irrigation in this area. We suggest that an apical preparation of 0.25–0.30 mm (ISO 25-30) should be considered a good target. In addition, it has been demonstrated that larger taper preparations enhance cleaning and irrigation and subsequently reduce bacterial load (21). One study has shown only modest increases in irrigation with taper increases beyond 0.04 (22). The clinician must therefore be aware that increasing taper carelessly may also increase the risk of excessive tooth structure removal and perforation without added benefit. If canals are sclerosed or very curved such large preparation may not be possible.

1.2.4 Preparation techniques

New endodontic instrumentation systems are being continually introduced on to the market, allowing clinicians to complete endodontic treatment with simpler protocols, faster. Accordingly, there has been a paradigm shift towards nickel titanium rotary file systems. Nonetheless the clinician must understand the importance of hand filing: the clinician that cannot hand file is handicapped in the 'art of endodontics'.

1.2.5 Hand file instrumentation

Hand files afford the clinician greater tactile feedback than rotary instruments and are often invaluable in determining the direction and magnitude of curvatures and canal configurations. There are two main types of files: Hedstrom and K files. The former are machined stainless steel cylinders that cut aggressively. The latter are twisted stainless steel that are more flexible and less aggressive. The cross-section varies depending on the type of file. All have 16 mm fluted portions and follow ISO dimensions. New instruments are available in nickel titanium. These instruments are flexible and potentially safer but cannot be pre-curved and negate some of the benefit of hand filing in the early stages, especially in curved canals.

Shaping the canal with hand files can be undertaken in numerous ways, depending upon the canal anatomy. Techniques for total canal preparation with hand files includes 'step-back', 'crown-down', 'double flare' and 'anticurvature filing' (5,6,23,24). Techniques for manipulation of the files during preparation include circumferential filing, 'balanced force' (25), watchwinding and push-pull. Thus the former describe the strategy and the latter describes the method of achieving that. 'Step-back' and 'double flare' techniques both involve determining the working length and choosing a master apical file size, then using progressively larger files at shorter lengths in order to create a continuous taper. Stainless steel hand files are all standard 2% ISO taper. The operator can choose the degree of taper created by adjusting the lengths to which progressively larger files are inserted. Traditional step back, using increments of 1 mm creates a canal with a 5% taper. If the clinician wishes to develop a larger taper, then reducing the increments to 0.5 mm will result in a canal with a 10% taper. One common pitfall with both these techniques is under preparation of the middle third of the canal. This poses problems when obturating using cold lateral compaction techniques, as accessory points cannot penetrate past the coronal third, resulting in an obturation which resembles an 'inverted wine bottle'.

The 'balanced force' technique involves turning the file clockwise up to 90° followed by an anti-clockwise movement of 180° or more whilst maintaining apical pressure (25). The first movement engages the dentine, whilst the second movement releases and cuts the canal wall. This permits predictable, centred dentine removal. Though 'balanced force' may be used in all canals, it is an especially effective and safe technique for hand filing curved canals. Circumferential and push-pull filing techniques are more suitable for straight, wide canals, C-shaped or ovoid canals: the walls of the canal are reamed with an oscillating apico-coronal

movement. As a rule, the use of stainless steel endodontic instruments should be avoided in rotary hand-pieces as they can be aggressive and are prone to breakage.

Stainless steel files may be pre-curved to the estimated shape of the canal, preferably with a designated instrument to avoid contamination. It is useful to indicate the direction of the curve by marking it with the pointer on the rubber stop. After using each successive file, always irrigate and recapitulate with a fine file, such as #10, to disrupt and to agitate the plug of 'dentine mud' which builds up apically which can result in loss of working length.

1.2.6 Patency filing

Patency filing is the process of placing an ISO 10 file (or smaller) 0.5 mm passively beyond the apex (26). It is imperative that the file is not excessively rotated, as this can enlarge the apical foramen. This removes dentine plugs that can be compacted in the apical region. These can harbour bacteria and may result in deviation of the instrument tip if not cleared. Ensuring patency of canals improves the success of RCT7.

1.2.7 The era of nickel titanium

The most notable development in endodontics in the last 25 years is the introduction of nickel titanium (NiTi) instruments (27) This alloy, composed of 55% nickel and 45% titanium has several properties which are desirable for endodontics; most notably, NiTi has super elasticity and shape memory. This helps to keep the file centred in the canal and reduces the risk of procedural errors. Although NiTi instruments are commonly associated with rotary techniques, many manufacturers also produce hand file versions of their rotary systems, which are designed to be used in the same sequence. The super elasticity of nickel titanium does, however, prevent these files being pre-curved. Recent advances in material technology now afford greater flexibility and cyclic fatigue resistance (28) These include *M-wire* (Dentsply, Tulsa) and *HyFlex CM* or *Controlled Memory* (Coltene/Whaledent, Germany). *M-wire* is now used in the production of single file systems (see below). *HyFlex CM* instruments can also be pre-bent, reducing the risk of ledging, transportation or perforation. This may potentially revolutionize nickel- titanium technology.

1.2.8 Rotary file systems

Since the introduction of nickel titanium it has been possible to prepare root canals using a motor safely and predictably. Rotary instrumentation increases cutting efficiency. Although speed reducing motor hand-pieces can be coupled to existing units, the use of dedicated electric endodontic motors is recommended. The torque and speed can be adjusted to match the instrument manufacturers' specifications precisely and many have auto reverse to prevent files binding in the canal and exceeding the torque limit. Rotary files usually create preparations of greater taper than the conventional ISO 2%, with some systems exhibiting variable taper throughout the length of the file.

Although most practitioners will be familiar with the manufacturers' protocol for such instruments, Table 1 offers a list of guidelines relevant to all using rotary instrumentation (29).

Create straight line access to the coronal or middle third of the root before using a hand or rotary instrument
Create a glide path up to a #20 hand file to the apex before using hand or rotary instruments in that part of the canal
Fine files frequently: after 3–4 pecks of a rotary instrument, remove, irrigate and recapitulate with fine files
Thoroughly clean the flutes of the instrument after removal from the canal
Maintain patency throughout by taking a small (ISO 8 or 10) file 0.5 mm beyond the working length
Never force a rotary instrument. If resistance is met; stop, increase the amount of coronal flaring, irrigate and recapitulate
If challenging anatomy is present, always prepare the canal with hand files before introducing rotary instruments
Don't try to bypass ledges with rotary instruments; always use hand files for this
Prepare sufficient coronal flaring to ensure that the minimum amount of the file is contacting the canal walls
Always introduce the file into the canal whilst it is rotating. Do not stop and start the motor once the file is in the canal
Make sure that you have an accurate working length before using rotary files in the apical area. Aggressive enlargement and transportation can occur if a rotary file goes beyond the apex
Any time saved in preparation should be used in irrigation

Table 1. Tips for using rotary NiTi file systems modified from the AAEs Guidelines.

Most manufacturers would recommend the use of a 'glide path' to ensure safe and efficient passage of the instruments to full working length. By taking an ISO 20 hand file to the length to which a NiTi instrument is to go will significantly reduce the risk of instrument fracture, as covered below. There are ranges of NiTi instruments that are advocated for developing a glide path (eg *Pathfile* (Dentsply, Tulsa, USA). The manufacturers indicate these for use in sclerosed or difficult to negotiate canals. These should be used at slow speeds and with caution. It remains sensible to create a glide path with hand instruments first. The finer details of file design and shape will not be covered in this paper but the clinician should be aware that

many of the properties of an instrument are not simply governed by the material but the shape of the instrument. It is important to know the cutting efficiency, the taper size, and the instrument diameters at the tip.

- Although rotary NiTi file systems can be advantageous for preserving the original canal anatomy, they have limitations: When straight files are placed into curved roots the instrument can straighten the canal, resulting in a 'zip' apically where the apex is expanded. This is virtually impossible to fill. Rotary instruments should not be left rotating for more than 3–4 pecks of the apex to prevent such zipping and the ensuing difficulties this presents for obturation.
- Rotary preparations are circular, thus they are less useful in ribbon and 'C'-shaped canals, which are better prepared with hand files using circumferential techniques.
- Rotary files have a propensity to separate by two mechanisms (30) First, torsional failure can occur by the file continuing to rotate whilst one part of it is bound against the canal. Secondly, continuous rotation of the file in a curved canal can result in cyclical failure. The move to single use instruments reduces the risk of instrument separation but this will never mitigate the risks of poor technique. Always inspect the tips of instruments during use: if the threads are unwinding there is a risk of separation, so discard them. Nonetheless, NiTi rotary instrumentation is safe and effective if care is taken and manufacturer's instructions are followed (31).

1.2.9 Reciprocating systems

Reciprocation involves the file rotating in both anti-clockwise and clockwise directions: essentially a form of mechanized 'balanced force'. The anti-clockwise movement engages dentine following which the clockwise turn releases the file from the canal before re-engaging the canal wall, shearing dentine and creating the preparation. The reciprocating motion and single file system has several important benefits:

- Decreased risk of cyclical failure as the files are rotating at a lower RPM;
- Decreased risk of torsional failure as the filing motion repeatedly disengages the dentine, thus preventing binding and instrument fracture;
- More cost-effective endodontic treatment as the current reciprocating systems are 'single file'.
- A simplified protocol with only three choices of instrument for small, regular or large

canals.

Currently, there are two systems on the market, *Wave One* (Dentsply- Maillefer, Ballaigues, Switzerland) and *Reciproc* (VDW, Munich, Germany). *Wave One* utilizes an 170°:50° anticlockwise: clockwise movement and *Reciproc* 150°:30°. This means that it will take three reciprocating movements for both file systems to rotate 360°. Although marketed as a single file system, the ecommended protocol for *Wave One* still involves the initial use of hand files (32). The manufacturers of *Reciproc* advocate that production of a glide path with hand files is not required in most cases (33). It remains good practice to establish a glide path with 0.20 ISO files before any NiTi instrument is used to working length. These instruments surpass conventional rotary instruments in resisting cyclical and torsion fatigue and, although similar in concept, *Wave One* has greater resistance to torsional fatigue than *Reciproc* and *Reciproc* has greater resistance to cyclical fatigue than *Wave One* (34). This means that *Reciproc* is more suited to curved canals and *Wave One* to narrow or sclerosed canals.

1.2.10 Which system is best?

The method of instrumentation used (hand or rotary) does not appear to influence success rates (7), although one study found better success rates with rotary instruments amongst general practitioners (39). Although manufacturers are becoming more aware of the importance of robust supporting evidence, clinicians must not be duped by the marketing and should research the systems independently, if possible. We recommend practitioners remain open-minded about using differing systems using extracted teeth to trial new filing systems. Finally, always remember the mantra 'files shape and irrigants clean': no system of instrumentation renders the canal bacteria free (40,41) Irrigation is the key to success in endodontics and will be discussed in the next chapter.

References

1. Peters OA, Laib A, Göhring TN *et al.* Changes in root canal geometry after preparation assessed by high-resolution computed tomography. *J Endod* 2001; **27**(1): 1–6.

2. Hübscher W, Barbakow F, Peters O. Root canal preparation with FlexMaster: canal shapes analysed by micro-computed tomography. Int Endod J 2003; 36(11): 740–747.

3. Schilder H. Filling root canals in three dimensions. Dent Clin North Am 1967; 11(7): 723–744.

4. Shovelton D. The presence and distribution of microorganisms within non-vital teeth. Br Dent J 1964; 117(3): 101–107.

5. Marshall F, Pappin J. A crown-down pressureless preparation root canal enlargement technique. In: Technique Manual. Oregon Health & Sciences University, Portland, Oregon, 1980.

6. Abou-Rass M, Frank A, Glick D. The anticurvature filing method to prepare the curved root canal. J Am Dent Assoc 1980; 101(5): 792–794.

7. Ng Y, Gulabivala K, Mann V. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment: part 1 perapical health. Int Endod J 2011; 44: 583–609.

8. Kuttler Y. Microscopic investigation of root apexes. J Am Dent Assoc 1939; 50(5): 544–552.

9. Gordon M, Chandler N. Electronic apex locators. Int Endod J 2004; 37(7): 425–437.

10. Nekoofar M, Ghandi M, Hayes S et al. The fundamental operating principles of electronic root canal length measurement devices. Int Endod J 2006; 39(8): 595–609.

11. Gordon MPJ, Chandler NP. Electronic apex locators. Int Endod J 2004; 37(7): 425–437.

12. Ali R, Okechukwu N, Brunton P et al. An overview of electronic apex locators: part 2. Br Dent J 2013; 214(5): 227–231.

13. FGDP. Selection Criteria for Dental Radiography 3rd edn. London: FGDP, 2013.

14. Yared GM, Bou Dagher FE. Influence of apical enlargement on bacterial infection during treatment of apical periodontitis. J Endod 1994; 20(11): 535–537.

15. Ørstavik D, Kerekes K, Molven O. Effects of extensive apical reaming and calcium hydroxide dressing on bacterial infection during treatment of apical periodontitis: a pilot study. Int Endod J 1991; 24(1): 1–7.

16. Walton R, Torabinajad M. Principles 822 DentalUpdate and Practice of Endodontics 2nd edn. Philadelphia: WB Saunders Company, 1996.

17. Wu MK, Barkis D, Roris A et al. Does the first file to bind correspond to the diameter of the canal in the apical region? Int Endod J 2002; 35: 264–267.

18. Wu MK, R'oris A, Barkis D et al. Prevalence and extent of long oval canals in the apical third. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2000; 89(6): 739–743.

19. Chow T. Mechanical effectiveness of root canal irrigation. J Endod 1983; 9(11): 475–479.

20. Gulabivala K, Ng Y, Gilbertson M et al. The fluid mechanics of root canal irrigation. Physiol Meas 2010; 31(12): R49.

21. Falk KW, Sedgley CM. The influence of preparation size on the mechanical efficacy of root canal irrigation in vitro. J Endod 2005; 31(10): 742–745.

22. Brunson M, Heilborn C, Johnson DJ et al. Effect of apical preparation size and preparation taper on irrigant volume delivered by using negative pressure irrigation system. J Endod 2010; 36(4): 721–724.

23. Mullaney T. Instrumentation of finely curved canals. Dent Clin North Am 1979; 23(4): 575–592.

24. Fava LRG. The double-flared technique: an alternative for biomechanical preparation. J Endod 1983; 9(2): 76–80.

25. Roane J, Sabala C, Duncanson M. The "balanced force" concept for instrumentation of curved canals. J Endod 1985; 11: 203–211.

26. Buchanan L. Working length and apical patency: the control factors. Endod Rep 1987; Fall-Winter: 16–20.

27. Walia H, Brantley W, Gertein H. An initial investigation of the bending and torsional properties of nitinol root canal files. J Endod 1988; 14: 346–351.

28. Alapati SB, Brantley WA, Iijima M et al. Metallurgical characterization of a new nickeltitanium wire for rotary endodontic instruments. J Endod 2009; 35(11): 1589–1593.

29. AAE. Rotary Instrumentation: an endodontic perspective. J Endod 2008; 11: 203–211.

30. Sattapan B, Nervo GJ, Palamara JE et al. Defects in rotary nickel-titanium files after clinical use. J Endod 2000; 26(3):161–165.

31. Parashos P, Messer HH. Rotary NiTi instrument fracture and its consequences. J Endod 2006; 32(11): 1031–1043.

32. Dentsply. WaveOne. 2013 [13 Jan 2015]. Available from: https://www.dentsply.co.uk/Products/Endodontics/ Endodontic-Files/Reciprocating-Files/ WaveOne.aspx#

33. VDW-Dental. Reciproc one file endo. 2013 [13 Jan 2015]. Available from: http://www.vdw-dental.com/en/products/reciprocating-preparation/reciproc.html

34. Kim HC, Kwak SW, Cheung GS et al. Cyclic fatigue and torsional resistance of two new nickel-titanium instruments used in reciprocation motion: Reciproc versus WaveOne. J Endod 2012; 38(4): 541–544.

35. Akçay I, Yiğit-Özer S, Adigüzel Ö et al. Deformation of the self-adjusting file on simulated curved root canals: a time-dependent study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2011; 112(5): e12–e17.

36. ReDentNova. SAF system: Clinical guidelines. 2013 [13 Jan 2015]. Available from: http://www.redent.co.il/ Guidelines

37. De-Deus G, Souza EM, Barino B etal. The self-adjusting file optimizes debridement quality in oval-shaped root canals. J Endod 2011; 37(5): 701–705.

38. Siqueira Jr JF, Rôças IN, Favieri A et al. Chemomechanical reduction of the bacterial population in the root canal after instrumentation and irrigation with 1%, 2.5%, and 5.25% sodium hypochlorite. J Endod 2000; 26(6): 331–334.

39. Molander A, Caplan D, Bergenholtz G et al. Improved quality of root fillings provided by general dental practitioners educated in nickel-titanium rotary instrumentation. Int Endod J

2007; 40(4): 254-260.

40. Dalton BC, Ørstavik D, Phillips C et al. Bacterial reduction with nickel-titanium rotary instrumentation. J Endod 1998; 24(11): 763–767.

41. Siqueira Jr JF, Lima KC, Magalhães FA et al. Mechanical reduction of the bacterial population in the root canal by three instrumentation techniques. J Endod 1999; 25(5): 332–335.

Chapter 2

IRRIGATION

During endodontic treatment mechanical debridement alone will not rid the root canals of bacteria (1) regardless of whether this is done by hand files or rotary instruments (2). First, instruments do not access the complex shape of the root canal system (3-6). Secondly, within these inaccessible regions complex biofilms can develop that are not easily disrupted. Thirdly, instrumentation creates a smear layer that further prevents decontamination of the canal surface dentine and prevents a good adaptation of the obturation material to the canal wall. A sound irrigation regimen can help to deliver antimicrobials to these inaccessible areas of the root canal system, penetrate and remove biofilm and smear layer and even penetrate the dentine.

2.1 Type of irrigant

A recent Cochrane Systematic Review showed no difference between different endodontic irrigants (7). However, these results should be interpreted with caution. A 'no difference' result is a reflection of the paucity of well-conducted clinical studies rather than taking as fact that no difference exists. The irrigant has several primary goals: dissolution of organic tissue and pulpal remnants, be they vital or necrotic, dissolution of select inorganic components, killing of micro-organisms and neutralization of endotoxin.

Many different irrigants and combinations of irrigants have been used in RCT to achieve these goals. These include:

- Sodium hypochlorite;
- Chlorhexidine;
- Sterilox;
- EDTA;
- Iodine potassium iodide;
- Hydrogen peroxide;
- Local anaesthetic, saline and/or water;
- Mixtures of irrigants (QMIX®).

See Table 1 for a summary of their differing properties (8). When used alone, very few irrigants offer a complete spectrum of ideal properties.

	ТҮРЕ	ACTION ON FLORA	TISSUE DISSOLUTION	ENDOTOXIN DEACTIVATION	INORGANIC SMEAR LAYER	SUBSTANTIVITY	TOXIC?	ALLERGENIC?	COST
SODIUM HYPOCHLORITE >1%	HALOGEN IONS	~~	~~~	~	x	x	x	-VE	£
CHLORH EXIDINE 0.2%	BISGUANIDE	~~	x	×	x	×	?	+VE	££
HYPOCHLOROUS ACID		~~~	x	?	х	x	~	?	££
EDTA	CHELATING AGENT	~	x	x	~ ~ ~	x	~	-VE	££
IODINE POTASSIUM IODIDE	HALOGEN IONS	~~	x	x	x	x	~	+VE	££
HYDROGEN PEROXIDE	PEROXIDE	~	x	x	x	x	x	-VE	£
SALINE/WATER/ LOCAL ANAESTHETIC	PLACEBO!	x	x	x	X	x	~	-VE	£

Whenever dentine is cut using hand or rotary instruments, the mineralized tissues are not shredded or cleaved but shattered to produce considerable quantities of debris. Much of this, made up of very small particles of mineralized collagen matrix, is spread over the surface to form what is called the smear layer. Identification of the smear layer was made possible using the electron microprobe with scanning electron microscope (SEM) attachment, and first reported by Eick et al. (1970). These workers showed that the smear layer was made of particles ranging in size from less than 0.5–15 lm. Scanning electron microscope studies of cavity preparations by Bra¨nnstrÖm & Johnson (1974) demonstrated a thin layer of grinding debris. They estimated it to be 2–5 lm thick, extending a few micrometres into the dentinal tubules.

The smear layer in a cavity and in the root canal may not be directly comparable. Not only are the tools for dentine preparation different in coronal cavities, but in the root canal the dentinal tubule numbers show greater variation and there are likely to be more soft tissue remnants present. The first researchers to describe the smear layer on the surface of instrumented root canals were McComb & Smith (1975). They suggested that the smear layer consisted not only of dentine as in the coronal smear layer, but also the remnants of odontoblastic processes, pulp tissue and bacteria. Lester & Boyde (1977) described the smear layer as 'organic matter trapped within translocated inorganic dentine'. As it was not removed by sodium hypochlorite irrigation, they concluded that it was primarily composed of inorganic dentine. Goldman et al. (1981) estimated the smear thickness at 1 lm and agreed with previous investigators that it was largely inorganic in composition. They noted its

presence along instrumented canal surfaces. Mader et al. (1984) reported that the smear layer thickness was generally 1–2 lm. Cameron (1983) and Mader et al. (1984) discussed the smear material in two parts: first, superficial smear layer and second, the material packed into the dentinal tubules. Packing of smear debris was present in the tubules to a depth of 40 lm. Bra nnstro m & Johnson (1974) and Mader et al. (1984) concluded that the tubular packing phenomenon was due to the action of burs and instruments. Components of the smear layer can be forced into the dentinal tubules to varying distances (Moodnik et al. 1976, Bra" nnstro" m et al. 1980, Cengiz et al. 1990) to form smear plugs (Fig. 2). However, Cengiz et al. (1990) proposed that the penetration of smear material into dentinal tubules could also be caused by capillary action as a result of adhesive forces between the dentinal tubules and the material. This hypothesis of capillary action may explain the packing phenomenon observed by Aktener et al. (1989), who showed that the penetration could increase up to 110 lm when using surface-active reagents in the canal during endodontic instrumentation. The thickness may also depend on the type and sharpness of the cutting instruments and whether the dentine is dry or wet when cut (Barnes 1974, Gilboe et al. 1980, Cameron 1988). In the early stages of instrumentation, the smear layer on the walls of canals can have a relatively high organic content because of necrotic and/or viable pulp tissue in the root canal (Cameron 1988). Increased centrifugal forces resulting from the movement and the proximity of the instrument to the dentine wall formed a thicker layer which was more resistant to removal with chelating agents (Jodaikin & Austin 1981). The amount produced during motorized preparation, as with Gates- Glidden or post drills, has been reported as greater in volume than that produced by hand filing (Czonstkow- sky et al. 1990). However, McComb & Smith (1975) observed under SEM that instrumentation with K-reamers, K-files and Giromatic reciprocating files created similar surfaces. Additional work has shown that the smear layer contains organic and inorganic substances that include fragments of odontoblastic processes, microorganisms and necrotic materials (Pashley 1992). The generation of a smear layer is almost inevitable during root canal instrumentation. Whilst a noninstrumentation technique has been described for canal preparation without smear formation, efforts rather focus on methods for its removal, such as chemical means and methods such as ultrasound and hydrodynamic disinfection for its disruption. Root canal preparation without the creation of a smear layer may be possible. A noninstrumental hydrodynamic technique may have future potential (Lussi et al. 1993), and sonically driven polymer instruments with tips of variable diameter are reported to disrupt the smear layer in a technique called hydrodynamic disinfection (Ruddle 2007).

When viewed under the SEM, the smear layer often has an amorphous irregular and granular appearance (Bra[¬] nnstro[¬] m et al. 1980, Yamada et al. 1983, Pashley et al. 1988) (Fig. 3). The appearance is thought to be formed by translocating and burnishing the superficial components of the dentine walls during treatment (Baumgartner & Mader 1987).

3.1 The significance of the smear layer

Root canal treatment usually involves the chemomechanical removal of bacteria and infected dentine from within the root canals. The process is often followed by an intracanal dressing and a root filling. Amongst important factors affecting the prognosis of root canal treatment is the seal created by the filling against the walls of the canal. Considerable effort has been made to understand the effect of the smear layer on the apical and coronal seal (Madison & Krell 1984, Goldberg et al. 1985, 1995, Evans & Simon 1986, Kennedy et al. 1986, Cergneux et al. 1987, Saunders & Saunders 1992, 1994, Gencogʻlu et al. 1993a, Karagoʻz-Kuʻc,uʻkay & Bayirli 1994, Tidswell et al. 1994, Lloyd et al. 1995, Behrend et al. 1996, Chailertvanitkul et al. 1996, Vassiliadis et al. 1996, Taylor et al. 1997, Timpawat & Sripanaratanakul 1998, Economides et al. 1999, 2004, von Fraunhofer et al. 2000, Froe's et al. 2000, Goya et al. 2000, Timpawat et al. 2001, Clark-Holke et al. 2003, Cobankara et al. 2004, Park et al. 2004).

Workers have reached different conclusions, with current knowledge of interactions between the smear layer and factors such as filling technique and sealer type being limited. In addition, the methodology of studies, the type and site of leakage tests, and the sample size should be taken into account and consideration given to these variables before conclusions are reached (Shahravan et al. 2007).

Some authors suggest that maintaining the smear layer may block the dentinal tubules and limit bacterial or toxin penetration by altering dentinal permeability (Michelich et al. 1980, Pashley et al. 1981, Safavi et al. 1990). Others believe that the smear layer, being a loosely adherent structure, should be completely removed from the surface of the root canal wall because it can harbour bacteria and provide an avenue for leakage (Mader et al. 1984, Cameron 1987a, Meryon & Brook 1990). It may also limit the effective disinfection of dentinal tubules by preventing sodium hypochlorite, calcium hydroxide and other intracanal medicaments from penetrating the dentinal tubules.
3.2 Should the smear layer be removed?

The question of keeping or removing the smear layer remains controversial (Drake et al. 1994, Shahravan et al. 2007). Some investigations have focussed on its removal (Garberoglio & Bra[¬] nnstro[¬] m 1976, Outhwaite et al. 1976, Pashley 1985), whilst others have consid- ered its effects on apical and coronal microleakage (Madison & Krell 1984, Goldberg et al. 1995, Chailertvanitkul et al. 1996), bacterial penetration of the tubules (Pashley 1984, Williams & Goldman 1985, Meryon & Brook 1990) and the adaptation of root canal materials (White et al. 1987, Gencog Iu et al. 1993a, Gutmann 1993). In support of its removal are:

1. It has an unpredictable thickness and volume, because a great portion of it consists of water (Cergneux et al. 1987).

2. It contains bacteria, their by-products and necrotic tissue (McComb & Smith 1975, Goldberg & Abramovich 1977, Wayman et al. 1979, Cunningham & Martin 1982, Yamada et al. 1983). Bacteria may survive and multiply (Bra¨nnstro¨m & Nyborg 1973) and can proliferate into the dentinal tubules (Olgart et al. 1974, Akpata & Blechman 1982, Williams & Goldman 1985, Meryon et al. 1986, Meryon & Brook 1990), which may serve as a reservoir of microbial irritants (Pashley 1984).

3. It may act as a substrate for bacteria, allowing their deeper penetration in the dentinal tubules (George et al. 2005).

4. It may limit the optimum penetration of disinfecting agents (McComb & Smith 1975, Outhwaite et al. 1976, Goldberg & Abramovich 1977, Wayman et al. 1979, Yamada et al. 1983). Bacteria may be found deep within dentinal tubules (Bystroïm & Sundqvist 1981, 1983, 1985) and smear layer may block the effects of disinfectants in them (Goldberg & Abramovich 1977, Wayman et al. 1979, Yamada et al. 1983, Baumgartner & Mader 1987). Haapasalo & Ørstavik (1987) found that in the absence of smear layer, liquid camphorated monochlorophenol disinfected the den- tinal tubules rapidly and completely, but calcium hydroxide failed to eliminate Enterococcus faecalis even after 7 days of incubation. A subsequent study con- cluded that the smear layer delayed but did not abolish the action of the disinfectant (Ørstavik & Haapasalo 1990). Braïnnstroïm (1984) had previously stated that following the removal of the smear layer, bacteria in the dentinal tubules can easily be destroyed.

5. It can act as a barrier between filling materials and the canal wall and therefore compromise the formation of a satisfactory seal (Lester & Boyde 1977, White et al. 1984, Cergneux et al. 1987, Czonstkowsky et al. 1990, Foster et al. 1993, Yang & Bae 2002). Lester &

Boyde (1977) found that zinc oxide – eugenol based root canal sealers failed to enter dentinal tubules in the presence of smear. In two consecutive studies, White et al. observed that plastic filling materials and sealers penetrated dentinal tubules after removal of smear layer (White et al. 1984, 1987). Oks, an et al. (1993) also found that smear prevented the penetration of sealers into dentinal tubules, whilst no penetration of sealer was observed in control groups. Penetration in their smear-free groups ranged from 40 to 60 lm. It may be concluded that such tubular penetration increases the interface between the filling and the dentinal structures, which may improve the ability of a filling material to prevent leakage (White et al. 1984). If the aim is maximum penetration into the dentinal tubules to prevent microleakage, root canal filling materials should be applied to a surface free of smear and either a low surface activity or, alternatively, an adequate surface-active reagent must be added to them (Aktener et al. 1989). However, there are no reports of a correlation between microleakage and penetration offilling materials into dentinal tubules, whilst the basis of leakage studies remains questionable. Pashley et al. (1989) observed an extensive network of microchannels around restorations that had been placed in cavities with smear layer. The thickness of these channels was 1–10 lm. Smear layer may thus present a passage for substances to leak around or through its particles at the interface between the filling material and the tooth structure. Pashley & Depew (1986) reported that, when experimenting with class 1 cavities, microleakage decreased after the removal of smear layer, but dentinal permeability increased. Saunders & Saunders (1992) concluded that coronal leakage of root canal fillings was less in smear-free groups than those with a smear layer.

6. It is a loosely adherent structure and a potential avenue for leakage and bacterial contaminant passage between the root canal filling and the dentinal walls (Mader et al. 1984, Cameron 1987b, Meryon & Brook 1990). Its removal would facilitate canal filling (McComb & Smith 1975, Goldman et al. 1981, Cameron 1983).

Conversely, some investigators believe in retaining the smear layer during canal preparation, because it can block the dentinal tubules, preventing the exchange of bacteria and other irritants by altering permeability (Michelich et al. 1980, Pashley et al. 1981, Safavi et al. 1990, Drake et al. 1994, Galvan et al. 1994). The smear layer serves as a barrier to prevent bacterial migration into the dentinal tubules (Drake et al. 1994, Galvan et al. 1994, Love et al. 1996, Perez et al. 1996). Pashley (1985) suggested that if the canals were inadequately disinfected, or if bacterial contamination occurred after canal preparation, the presence of a smear layer might stop bacterial invasion of the dentinal tubules. Bacteria remaining after canal preparation are sealed into the tubules by the smear layer and subsequent filling materials.

Some studies provide evidence to support the hypothesis that the smear layer inhibits bacterial penetration (Pashley et al. 1981, Safavi et al. 1989). A major limitation is that the experiments were undertaken with dentine discs or root cross-sections, models with little relevance in terms of simulating the clinical conditions of root canal treatment. Drake et al. (1994) developed a more clinically relevant model to determine the effect of the presence or absence of the smear layer on bacterial colonization of root canals.

Williams & Goldman (1985) reported that the smear layer was not a complete barrier and could only delay bacterial penetration. In their experiment, using the motile, swarming bacterium Proteus vulgaris, the smear layer delayed the passage of the organisms through the tubules. Madison & Krell (1984) using ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) solution in a dye pene- tration study found that the smear layer made no difference to leakage. Goldberg et al. (1995) studied the sealing ability of Ketac Endo and Tubliseal in an India ink study with and without smear layer and found no difference. Chailertvanitkul et al. (1996) found no difference in leakage with or without smear layer, however the time period was short. When the smear layer is not removed, the durability of the apical seal should be evaluated over a long period. Since the smear layer is nonhomogenous and may potentially be dislodged from the underlying tubules (Mader et al. 1984), it may slowly disintegrate, dissolving around a leaking filling material to leave a void between the canal wall and sealer. Meryon & Brook (1990) found the presence of smear layer had no effect on the ability of three oral bacteria to penetrate dentine discs. All were able to digest the layer, possibly stimulated by the nutrient-rich medium below the discs.

The adaptation of root canal materials to canal walls has been studied. White et al. (1987) found that pHEMA, silicone and Roth 801 and AH26 sealers extended into tubules consistently when smear layer was removed. Gencogilu et al. (1993b) found removing the smear layer enhanced the adaptation of guttapercha in both cold laterally compacted and thermoplastic root fillings without sealer. Gutmann (1993) also showed that after removing the smear layer, themoplastic gutta-percha adapted with or without sealer.

A systematic review and meta-analysis by Shahra- van et al. (2007) set out to determine whether smear layer removal reduced leakage of root filled teeth ex vivo. Using 26 eligible papers with 65 comparisons, 54% of the comparisons reported no significant difference, 41% reported in favour of removing the smear layer and 5% reported a difference in favour of keeping it. They concluded that smear layer removal improved the fluid-tight seal of the root canal system, whereas other factors such as filling technique or the type of sealer did not produce significant effects.

Urethane dimethacrylate (UDMA) based root canal sealers have been introduced. Their aim is to provide a better bond to allow less microleakage and increase the fracture resistance of root filled teeth through the creation of monoblocks, when a core material such as Resilon replaces gutta-percha. Whilst some studies indicate that smear layer removal leads to higher tubule penetration, increased sealer to dentine bond strength and enhanced fluid-tight seal, a recent report concluded that smear layer removal did not necessarily equate to improved resistance to bacterial penetration along these and older types of sealers (Saleh et al. 2008).

3.3 Methods to remove the smear layer

Chemical removal

The quantity of smear layer removed by a material is related to its pH and the time of exposure (Morgan & Baumgartner 1997). A number of chemicals have been investigated as irrigants to remove the smear layer. According to Kaufman & Greenberg (1986), a working solution is the one which is used to clean the canal, and an irrigation solution the one which is essential to remove the debris and smear layer created by the instrumentation process. Chlorhexidine, whilst popular as an irrigant and having a long lasting antibacterial effect through adherence to dentine, does not dissolve organic material or remove the smear layer.

Sodium hypochlorite

The ability of NaOCl to dissolve organic tissues is wellknown (Rubin et al. 1979, Wayman et al. 1979, Goldman et al. 1982) and increases with rising temperature (Moorer & Wesselink 1982). However, its capacity to remove smear layer from the instrumented root canal walls has been found to be lacking. The conclusion reached by many authors is that the use of NaOCl during or after instrumentation produces superficially clean canal walls with the smear layer present (Baker et al. 1975, Goldman et al. 1981, Berg et al. 1986, Baumgartner & Mader 1987).

Chelating agents

Smear layer components include very small particles with a large surface: mass ratio, which makes them soluble in acids (Pashley 1992). The most common chelating solutions are based on EDTA which reacts with the calcium ions in dentine and forms soluble calcium chelates. It

has been reported that EDTA decalcified dentine to a depth of 20–30 lm in 5 min (von der Fehr & Nygaard-O[°] stby 1963); however, Fraser (1974) stated that the chelating effect was almost negligible in the apical third of root canals.

Different formulations of EDTA have been used as root canal irrigants. In a combination, urea peroxide is added to encourage debris to float out of the root canal (Stewart et al. 1969). This product (RC-Prep, Premier Dental Products, Plymouth Meeting, PA, USA) also includes a wax that left a residue on the root canal walls despite further instrumentation and irrigation and which may compromise the ability to obtain a hermetic seal (Biesterfeld & Taintor 1980). Many studies have shown that paste-type chelating agents, whilst having a lubricating effect, do not remove the smear layer effectively when compared to liquid EDTA. A recent experiment examining the addition of two surfactants to liquid EDTA did not result in better smear layer removal (Lui et al. 2007).

A quaternary ammonium bromide (cetrimide) has been added to EDTA solutions to reduce surface tension and increase penetrability of the solution (von der Fehr & Nygaard-O stby 1963). McComb & Smith (1975) reported that when this combination (REDTA) was used during instrumentation, there was no smear layer remaining except in the apical part of the canal. After using REDTA in vivo, it was shown that the root canal surfaces were uniformly occupied by patent dentinal tubules with very little superficial debris (McComb et al. 1976). When used during and after instrumentation, it was possible to still see remnants of odontoblastic processes within the tubules even though there was no smear layer present (Goldman et al. 1981). Goldberg & Abramovich (1977) observed that the circumpulpal surface had a smooth structure and that the dentinal tubules had a regular circular appearance with the use of EDTAC (EDTA and cetavlon). The optimal working time of EDTAC was suggested to be 15 min in the root canal and no further chelating action could be expected after this (Goldberg & Spielberg 1982). This study also showed that REDTA was the most efficient irrigating solution for removing smear layer. In a study using a combination of 0.2% EDTA and a surface-active antibacterial solution, Bra nnstro m et al. (1980) observed that this mixture removed most of the smear layer without opening many dentinal tubules or removing peritubular dentine. Bis-dequalinium-acetate (BDA), a dequalinium compound and an oxine derivative has been shown to remove the smear layer throughout the canal, even in the apical third (Kauf- man et al. 1978, Kaufman 1981). BDA is well tolerated by periodontal tissues and has a low surface tension allowing good penetration. It is considered less toxic that NaOCl and can be used as a root canal dressing. A commercial form of BDA called Solvidont (De Trey, A.G., Zurich, Switzerland) was available in the 1980s and its use as an

alternative to NaOCl was supported experimentally (Kaufman 1983a,b, Chandler & Lilley 1987, Lilley et al. 1988, Mohd Sulong 1989). Salvizol (Ravens Gmbh, Konstanz, Germany) is a commercial brand of 0.5% BDA and possesses the combined actions of chelation and organic debridement. Kaufman et al. (1978) reported that Salvizol had better cleaning properties than EDTAC. When comparing Salvizol with 5.25% NaOCl, both were found comparable in their ability to remove organic debris, but only Salvizol opened dentinal tubules (Kaufman & Greenberg 1986). Berg et al. (1986) found that Salvizol was less effective at opening dentinal tubules than REDTA.

Calt & Serper (2000) compared the effects of ethylene glycol-bistetraacetic acid (EGTA) with EDTA. The smear layer was completely removed by EDTA, but it caused erosion of the peritubular and intertubular dentine, whilst EGTA was not as effective in the apical third of root canals. EGTA is reported to bind calcium more specifically (Schmid & Reilley 1957).

Tetracylines (including tetracycline hydrochloride, minocycline and doxycycline) are antibiotics effective against a wide range of microorganisms. Tetracyclines have unique properties in addition to their antimicrobial aspect. They have low pH in concentrated solution, and because of this can act as a calcium chelator and cause enamel and root surface demineralization (Bjorvatn 1982). The surface demineralization of dentine is comparable with that of citric acid (Wikesjo[°] et al. 1986). Barkhordar et al. (1997) reported that doxycycline hydrochloride (100 mg mL-1) was effective in removing the smear layer from the surface of instrumented canals and root-end cavity preparations. They speculated that a reservoir of active antibacterial agents might remain, because doxycycline readily attaches to dentine and can be subsequently released (Baker et al. 1983, Wikesjo[°] et al. 1986). Haznedaroglu & Ersev (2001) showed that 1% tetracycline hydrochloride or 50% citric acid can be used to remove the smear layer from surfaces of root canals. Although they reported no difference between the two groups, it appeared that the tetracycline demineralized less peritubular dentine than the citric acid.

In an effort to produce an irrigant capable of both removing the smear layer and disinfecting the root canal system, Torabinejad et al. (2003) developed a new irrigating solution containing a mixture of a tetracycline isomer, an acid, and a detergent (MTAD). Their work concluded MTAD to be an effective solution for the removal of the smear layer. It does not significantly change the structure of the dentinal tubules when the canals are irrigated with sodium hypochlorite and followed with a final rinse of MTAD. This irrigant demineralizes dentine faster than 17% EDTA (De Deus et al. 2007) and bacterial penetration into filled canals is similar with both solutions (Ghoddusi et al. 2007).

Organic acids

The effectiveness of citric acid as a root canal irrigant has been demonstrated (Loel 1975, Tidmarsh 1978) and confirmed to be more effective than NaOCl alone in removing the smear layer (Baumgartner et al. 1984). Citric acid removed smear layer better than polyacrylic acid, lactic acid and phosphoric acid but not EDTA (Meryon et al. 1987). Wayman et al. (1979) showed that canal walls treated with 10%, 25% and 50% citric acid solution were generally free of the smeared appearance, but they had the best results in removing smear layer with sequential use of 10% citric acid solution and 2.5% NaOCl solution, then again followed by a 10% solution of citric acid. However, Yamada et al. (1983) observed that the 25% citric acid-NaOCl group was not as effective as a 17% EDTA–NaOCl combination. To its detriment, citric acid left precipitated crystals in the root canal which might be disadvantageous to the root canal filling. With 50% lactic acid, the canal walls were generally clean, but with openings of dentinal tubules that did not appear to be completely patent (Wayman et al. 1979). Bitter (1989) introduced 25% tannic acid solution as a root canal irrigant and cleanser. Canal walls irrigated with this solution appeared significantly cleaner and smoother than walls treated with a combination of hydrogen peroxide and NaOCl, and the smear layer was removed. Sabbak & Hassanin (1998) refuted these findings and explained that tannic acid increased the cross-linking of exposed collagen with the smear layer and within the matrix of the underlying dentine, therefore increasing organic cohesion to the tubules.

McComb & Smith (1975) compared the efficacy of 20% polyacrylic acid with REDTA and found that it was no better than REDTA in removing or preventing the build up of smear layer, thought to be as a result of its higher viscosity. McComb et al. (1976) also used 5% and 10% polyacrylic acid as an irrigant and observed that it could remove smear layer in accessible regions. Polyacrylic acid (Durelon liquid and Fuji II liquid) at 40% has been reported to be very effective, and because of its potency users should not exceed a 30 s applica- tion (Berry et al. 1987).

Sodium hypochlorite and EDTA

When irrigating a root canal the purpose is twofold: to remove the organic component, the debris originating from pulp tissue and microorganisms, and the mostly inorganic component, the smear layer. As there is no single solution which has the ability to dissolve organic tissues

and to demineralize the smear layer, the sequential use of organic and inorganic solvents has been recommended (Koskinen et al. 1980, Yamada et al. 1983, Baumgartner et al. 1984). Numerous authors have agreed that the removal of smear layer as well as soft tissue and debris can be achieved by the alternate use of EDTA and NaOCl (Yamada et al. 1983, White et al. 1984, Baumgartner & Mader 1987, Cengiz et al. 1990). Goldman et al. (1982) examined the effect of various combinations of EDTA and NaOCl, and the most effective final rinse was 10 mL of 17% EDTA followed by 10 mL of 5.25% NaOCl, a finding confirmed by Yamada et al. (1983). Used in combination with EDTA, NaOCl is inactivated with the EDTA remaining functional for several minutes.

Ultrasonic smear removal

Following the introduction of dental ultrasonic devices in the 1950s, ultrasound was investigated in endodontics (Martin et al. 1980, Cunningham & Martin 1982, Cunningham et al. 1982). A continuous flow of NaOCl activated by an ultrasonic delivery system was used for the preparation and irrigation of canals. Smear-free canal surfaces were observed using this method (Cameron 1983, 1987a,b, Griffiths & Stock 1986, Alacam 1987). Whilst concentrations of 2–4% sodium hypochlorite in combination with ultrasonic energy were able to remove smear layer, lower concentrations of the solutions were unsatisfactory (Cameron 1988). However, Ahmad et al. (1987a) claimed that their technique of modified ultrasonic instrumentation using 1% NaOCl removed the debris and smear layer more effectively than the technique recommended by Martin & Cunningham (1983). The apical region of the canals showed less debris and smear layer than the coronal aspects, depending on acoustic streaming, which was more intense in magnitude and velocity at the apical regions of the file. Cameron (1983) also compared the effect of different ultrasonic irrigation periods on removing smear layer and found that a 3 and 5 min irrigation produced smearfree canal walls, whilst an 1-min irrigation was ineffective. In contrast to these results, other investigators found ultrasonic preparation unable to remove smear layer (Cymerman et al. 1983, Baker et al. 1988, Goldberg et al. 1988).

Researchers who found the cleaning effects of ultrasonics beneficial used the technique only for the final irrigation of root canal after completion of hand instrumentation (Ahmad et al. 1987a, Alacam 1987, Cameron 1988). This is given the term passive ultrasonic irrigation and

has been the subject of a recent review (van der Sluis et al. 2007). Ahmad et al. (1987a,b) claimed that direct physical contact of the file with the canal walls throughout instrumentation reduced acoustic streaming. Acoustic streaming is maximized when the tips of the smaller instruments vibrate freely in a solution. Lumley et al. (1992) recommended that only size 15 files be used to maximize microstreaming for the removal of debris. Prati et al. (1994) also achieved smear layer removal with ultrasonics. Walker & del Rio (1989, 1991) showed no significant difference between tap water and sodium hypochlorite when used with ultrasonics, but they reported that neither solution was effective at any level in the canal to remove the smear layer ultrasonically. Baumgartner & Cuenin (1992) also observed that ultrasonically energized NaOCl, even at full strength, did not remove the smear layer from root canal walls. Guerisoli et al. (2002) evaluated the use of ultrasonics to remove the smear layer and found it necessary to use 15% EDTA with either distilled water or 1% sodium hypochlorite to achieve the desired result.

Laser Removal

Lasers can be used to vaporize tissues in the main canal, remove the smear layer and eliminate residual tissue in the apical portion of root canals (Takeda et al. 1998a,b, 1999). The effectiveness of lasers depends on many factors, including the power level, the duration of exposure, the absorption of light in the tissues, the geometry of the root canal and the tip-to-target distance (Dederich et al. 1984, O[°]nal et al. 1993, Tewfik et al. 1993, Moshonov et al. 1995).

Dederich et al. (1984) and Tewfik et al. (1993) used variants of the neodymiumyttriumaluminiumgarnet (Ne:YAG) laser and reported a range of findings from no change or disruption of the smear layer to actual melting and recrystallization of the dentine. This pattern of dentine disruption was observed in other studies with various lasers, including the carbon dioxide laser (O'nal et al. 1993), the argon fluoride excimer laser (Stabholz et al. 1993), and the argon laser (Moshonov et al. 1995, Harashima et al. 1998). Takeda et al. (1998a,b, 1999) using the erbium-yttrium-aluminium-garnet (Er:YAG) laser, demonstrated optimal removal of the smear layer without melting, charring or recrystallization associated with other laser types. Kimura et al. (2002) also demon- strated the removal of the smear layer with an Er:YAG laser. Although they showed removal of the smear layer, photomicrographs showed destruction of peritubular dentine. The main difficulty with laser removal of the smear layer is access to the small canal spaces with the relatively large probes that are available.

Conclusion

Contemporary methods of root canal instrumentation produce a layer of organic and inorganic material called the smear layer that may also contain bacteria and their byproducts. This layer covers the instrumented walls and may prevent the penetration of intracanal medicaments into the dentinal tubules and interfere with the close adaptation of root filling materials to canal walls. The data presented indicate removal of the smear layer for more thorough disinfection of the root canal system and better adaptation of materials to the canal walls. There are, however, no clinical trials to demonstrate this. Current methods of smear layer removal include chemical, ultrasonic and laser techniques none of which are totally effective throughout the length of all canals or are used universally. However, if the smear layer is to be removed the method of choice seems to be the alternate use of EDTA and sodium hypochlorite solutions. Whilst much is known about individual irrigants, their use in combination and their interactions (and in some cases precipitates) is less well understood. Conflicting reports exist regarding the removal of the smear layer before filling root canals. As several new sealer and core materials have recently been introduced, further investigations are required to determine the role of the smear layer in the outcome of treatment.

References

Ahmad M, Pitt Ford TR, Crum LA (1987a) Ultrasonic debridement of root canals: acoustic streaming and its possible role. Journal of Endodontics 13, 490–9.

Ahmad M, Pitt Ford TR, Crum LA (1987b) Ultrasonic debridement of root canals: an insight into the mechanisms involved. Journal of Endodontics 13, 93–101.

Akpata ES, Blechman H (1982) Bacterial invasion of pulpal dentin wall in vitro. Journal of Dental Research 61, 435–8. Aktener BO, Cengiz T, Piskin B (1989) The penetration of smear material into dentinal tubules during instrumentation with surfaceactive reagents: a scanning electron microscopic study. Journal of Endodontics 15, 588–90.

Alacam T (1987) Scanning electron microscope study comparing the efficacy of endodontic irrigating systems. Inter- national Endodontic Journal 20, 287–94.

Baker NA, Eleazer PD, Averbach RE, Seltzer S (1975) Scanning electron microscopic study of the efficacy of various irrigating solutions. Journal of Endodontics 1, 127–35.

Baker PJ, Evans RT, Coburn RA, Genco RJ (1983) Tetracycline and its derivatives strongly bind to and are released from the tooth surface in active form. Journal of Periodontology 54, 580–5.

Baker MC, Ashrafi SH, Van Cura JE, Remeikis NA (1988) Ultrasonic compared with hand instrumentation: a scanning electron microscope study. Journal of Endodontics 14, 435–40. Barkhordar RA, Watanabe LG, Marshall GW, Hussain MZ (1997) Removal of intracanal smear by doxycycline in vitro. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology and Endodontics 84, 420–3.

Barnes IE (1974) The production of inlay cavity bevels. British Dental Journal 137, 379–90.

Baumgartner JC, Cuenin PR (1992) Efficacy of several concentrations of sodium hypochlorite for root canal irrigation. Journal of Endodontics 18, 605–12.

Baumgartner JC, Mader CL (1987) A scanning electron microscopic evaluation of four root canal irrigation regimens. Journal of Endodontics 13, 147–57.

Baumgartner JC, Brown CM, Mader CL, Peters DD, Shulman JD (1984) A scanning electron microscopic evaluation of root canal debridement using saline, sodium hypochlorite, and citric acid. Journal of Endodontics 10, 525–31.

Behrend GD, Cutler CW, Gutmann JL (1996) An in-vitro study of smear layer removal and microbial leakage along root-canal fillings. International Endodontic Journal 29, 99–107.

Berg MS, Jacobsen EL, BeGole EA, Remeikis NA (1986) A comparison of five irrigating solutions: a scanning electron microscopic study. Journal of Endodontics 12, 192–7.

Berry EA III, von der Lehr WN, Herrin HK (1987) Dentin surface treatments for the removal of the smear layer: an SEM study. Journal of the American Dental Association 115, 65–7.

Biesterfeld RC, Taintor JF (1980) A comparison of periapical seals of root canals with RC-Prep or Salvizol. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 49, 532–7.

Bitter NC (1989) A 25% tannic acid solution as a root canal irrigant cleanser: a scanning electron microscope study. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 67, 333–7.

Bjorvatn K (1982) Antibiotic compounds and enamel demineralization. An in vitro study. Acta Odontologica Scandinavica 40, 341–52.

Bra[°]nnstro[°]m M (1984) Communication between the oral cavity and the dental pulp associated with restorative treatment. Operative Dentistry 9, 57–68.

Bra[°]nnstro[°]m M, Johnson G (1974) Effects of various conditioners and cleaning agents on prepared dentin surfaces: a scanning electron microscopic investigation. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 31, 422–30.

Bra[°]nnstro[°]m M, Nyborg H (1973) Cavity treatment with a microbicidal fluoride solution: growth of bacteria and effect on the pulp. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 30, 303–10.

Bra[°]nnstro[°]m M, Nordenvall KJ, Glantz P-O (1980) The effect of EDTA-containing surfaceactive solutions on the morphology of prepared dentin: an in vivo study. Journal of Dental Research 59, 1127–31.

Bystro^m A, Sundqvist G (1981) Bacteriologic evaluation of the efficacy of mechanical root canal instrumentation in endodontic therapy. Scandinavian Journal of Dental Research 89, 321–8.

Bystro[°]m A, Sundqvist G (1983) Bacteriologic evaluation of the effect of 0.5 percent sodium hypochlorite in endodontic therapy. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 55, 307–12.

Bystro^m A, Sundqvist G (1985) The antibacterial action of sodium hypochlorite and EDTA in 60 cases of endodontic therapy. International Endodontic Journal 18, 35–40. Calt S, Serper A (2000) Smear layer removal by EGTA. Journal of Endodontics 26, 459–61.

Cameron JA (1983) The use of ultrasonics in the removal of the smear layer: a scanning electron microscope study. Journal of Endodontics 9, 289–92.

Cameron JA (1987a) The synergistic relationship between ultrasound and sodium hypochlorite: a scanning electron microscope evaluation. Journal of Endodontics 13, 541–5.

Cameron JA (1987b) The use of 4 per cent sodium hypochlorite, with or without ultrasound, in cleansing of uninstrumented immature root canals; SEM study. Australian Dental Journal 32, 204–13.

Cameron JA (1988) The use of ultrasound for the removal of the smear layer. The effect of sodium hypochlorite concentration; SEM study. Australian Dental Journal 33, 193–200.

Cengiz T, Aktener BO, Piskin B (1990) Effect of dentinal tubule orientation on the removal of smear layer by root canal irrigants. A scanning electron microscopic study. International Endodontic Journal 23, 163–71.

Cergneux M, Ciucchi B, Dietschi JM, Holz J (1987) The influence of the smear layer on the sealing ability of canal obturation. International Endodontic Journal 20, 228–32.

Chailertvanitkul P, Saunders WP, MacKenzie D (1996) The effect of smear layer on microbial coronal leakage of guttapercha root fillings. International Endodontic Journal 29, 242–8.

Chandler NP, Lilley JD (1987) Clinical trial of a bisdequaliniumacetate solution as an endodontic irrigant. Journal of Dental Research 66, 842.

Clark-Holke D, Drake D, Walton R, Rivera E, Guthmiller JM (2003) Bacterial penetration through canals of endodontically treated teeth in the presence or absence of the smear layer. Journal of Dentistry 31, 275–81.

Cobankara FK, Adanir N, Belli S (2004) Evaluation of the influence of smear layer on the apical and coronal sealing ability of two sealers. Journal of Endodontics 30, 406–9.

Cunningham WT, Martin H (1982) A scanning electron microscope evaluation of root canal debridement with the endosonic ultrasonic synergistic system. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 53, 527–31.

Cunningham WT, Martin H, Forrest WR (1982) Evaluation of root canal debridement by the endosonic ultrasonic synergistic system. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 53, 401–4.

Cymerman JJ, Jerome LA, Moodnik RM (1983) A scanning electron microscope study comparing the efficacy of hand instrumentation with ultrasonic instrumentation of the root canal. Journal of Endodontics 9, 327–31.

Czonstkowsky M, Wilson EG, Holstein FA (1990) The smear layer in endodontics. Dental Clinics of North America 34, 13– 25.

Dederich DN, Zakariasen KL, Tulip J (1984) Scanning electron microscopic analysis of canal wall dentin following neodymiumyttriumaluminumgarnet laser irradiation. Journal of Endodontics 10, 428–31.

De-Deus G, Reis C, Fidel S, Fidel R, Paciornik S (2007) Dentin demineralization when subjected to BioPure MTAD: a longitudinal and quantitative assessment. Journal of Endodontics 33, 1364–1368.

Drake DR, Wiemann AH, Rivera EM, Walton RE (1994) Bacterial retention in canal walls in vitro: effect of smear layer. Journal of Endodontics 20, 78–82.

Economides N, Liolios E, Kolokuris I, Beltes P (1999) Long-term evaluation of the influence of smear layer removal on the sealing ability of different sealers. Journal of Endodontics 25, 123–5.

Economides N, Kokorikos I, Kolokouris I, Panagiotis B, Gogos C (2004) Comparative study of apical sealing ability of a new resin-based root canal sealer. Journal of Endodontics 30, 403–5.

Eick JD, Wilko RA, Anderson CH, Sorensen SE (1970) Scanning electron microscopy of cut tooth surfaces and identification of debris by use of the electron microprobe. Journal of Dental Research 49(Suppl), 1359–68.

Evans JT, Simon JHS (1986) Evaluation of the apical seal produced by injected thermoplasticized guttapercha in the absence of smear layer and root canal sealer. Journal of Endodontics 12, 100–7.

von der Fehr FR, Nygaard-O[°] stby B (1963) Effect of EDTAC and sulfuric acid on root canal dentine. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 16, 199–205.

Foster KH, Kulild JC, Weller RN (1993) Effect of smear layer removal on the diffusion of calcium hydroxide through radicular dentin. Journal of Endodontics 19, 136–40.

Fraser JG (1974) Chelating agents: their softening effect on root canal dentin. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 37, 803–11.

von Fraunhofer JA, Fagundes DK, McDonald NJ, Dumsha TC (2000) The effect of root canal preparation on microleakage within endodontically treated teeth: an in vitro study. International Endodontic Journal 33, 355–60.

Froes JA, Horta HGP, da Silveira AB (2000) Smear layer influence on the apical seal of four different obturation techniques. Journal of Endodontics 26, 351–4.

Galvan DA, Ciarlone AE, Pashley DH, Kulild JC, Primack PD, Simpson MD (1994). Effect of smear layer removal on the diffusion permeability of human roots. Journal of Endodontics 20, 83–6.

Garberoglio R, Bra[°] nnstro[°] m M (1976) Scanning electron microscopic investigation of human dentinal tubules. Archives of Oral Biology 21, 355–62.

Gencog IuN, SamaniS, Gu ndayM (1993a) Dentinalwall adaptation of thermoplasticized guttapercha in the absence or presence of smear layer: a scanning electron microscopic study. Journal of Endodontics 19, 558–62.

Gencog IuN, SamaniS, Gu ndayM (1993b) Evaluation of sealing properties of Thermafil and Ultrafil techniques in the absence or presence of smear layer. Journal of Endodontics 19, 599–603.

George S, Kishen A, Song KP (2005) The role of environmen- tal changes on monospecies biofilm formation on root canal wall by Enterococcus faecalis. Journal of Endodontics 31, 867–72.

Ghoddusi J, Rohani A, Rashed T, Ghaziani P, Akbari M (2007) An evaluation of microbial leakage after using MTAD as a final irrigation. Journal of Endodontics 33, 173–176.

Gilboe DB, Svare CW, Thayer KE, Drennon DG (1980) Dentinal smearing: an investigation of the phenomenon. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 44, 310–6.

Goldberg F, Abramovich A (1977) Analysis of the effect of EDTAC on the dentinal walls of the root canal. Journal of Endodontics 3, 101–5.

Goldberg F, Spielberg C (1982) The effect of EDTAC and the variation of its working time analyzed with scanning electron microscopy. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 53, 74–7.

Goldberg F, Bernat MI, Spielberg C, Massone EJ, Piovano SA (1985) Analysis of the effect of ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid on the apical seal of root canal fillings. Journal of Endodontics 11, 544–7.

Goldberg F, Soares I, Massone EJ, Soares IM (1988) Comparative debridement study between hand and sonic instrumentation of the root canal. Endodontics and Dental Traumatology 4, 229–34.

Goldberg F, Artaza LP, De Silvio A (1995) Apical sealing ability of a new glass ionomer root canal sealer. Journal of Endodontics 21, 498–500.

Goldman LB, Goldman M, Kronman JH, Lin PS (1981). The efficacy of several irrigating solutions for endodontics: a scanning electron microscopic study. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 52, 197–204.

Goldman M, Goldman LB, Cavaleri R, Bogis J, Lin PS (1982) The efficacy of several endodontic irrigating solutions: a scanning electron microscopic study: Part 2. Journal of Endodontics 8, 487–92.

Goya C, Yamazaki R, Tomita Y, Kimura Y, Matsumoto K (2000) Effects of pulsed Nd:YAG laser irradiation on smear layer at the apical stop and apical leakage after obturation. International Endodontic Journal 33, 266–71.

Griffiths BM, Stock CJR (1986) The efficiency of irrigants in removing root canal debris when used with ultrasonic preparation technique. International Endodontic Journal 19, 277–84.

Guerisoli DMZ, Marchesan MA, Walmsley AD, Lumley PJ, Pecora JD (2002) Evaluation of smear layer removal by EDTAC and sodium hypochlorite with ultrasonic agitation. International Endodontic Journal 35, 418–21.

Gutmann JL (1993) Adaptation of injected thermoplasticized guttapercha in the absence of the dentinal smear layer. International Endodontic Journal 26, 87–92.

Haapasalo M, Ørstavik D (1987). In vitro infection and disinfection of dentinal tubules. Journal of Dental Research 66, 1375–9.

Harashima T, Takeda FH, Zhang C, Kimura Y, Matsumoto K (1998) Effect of argon laser irradiation on instrumented root canal walls. Endodontics and Dental Traumatology 14, 26–30.

Haznedaroglu F, Ersev H (2001) Tetracycline HCl solution as a root canal irrigant. Journal of Endodontics 27, 738–40.

Jodaikin A, Austin JC (1981) Smear layer removal with chelating agents after cavity preparation. Journal of Pros- thetic Dentistry 46, 171–4.

Karago[°]zKu[°] c, u[°] kay I, Bayirli G (1994) An apical leakage study in the presence and absence of the smear layer. International Endodontic Journal 27, 87–93.

Kaufman AY (1981) The use of dequalinium acetate as a disinfectant and chemotherapeutic agent in endodontics. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 51, 434–41.

Kaufman AY (1983a). Solvidont – a new chemotherapeutic and bacteriocidal agent for endodontic use (I). Quintessence International 14, 71–9.

Kaufman AY (1983b) Solvidont – a new chemotherapeutic and bacteriocidal agent for endodontic use (II). Quintessence International 14, 235–44.

Kaufman AY, Greenberg I (1986) Comparative study of the configuration and the cleanliness level of root canals prepared with the aid of sodium hypochlorite and bisdequaliniumacetate solutions. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 62, 191–7.

Kaufman AY, Binderman I, Tal M, Gedalia I, Peretz G (1978) New chemotherapeutic agent for root canal treatment. A preliminary electron microscopic study on an in vivo and in vitro endodontically treated tooth. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 46, 283–95. Kennedy WA, Walker WA III, Gough RW (1986) Smear layer removal effects on apical leakage. Journal of Endodontics 12, 21–7.

Kimura Y, Yonaga K, Yokoyama K, Kinoshita J, Ogata Y, Matsumoto K (2002) Root surface temperature increase during Er:YAG laser irradiation of root canals. Journal of Endodontics 28, 76–8.

Koskinen KP, Meurman JH, Stenvall H (1980) Appearance of chemically treated root canal walls in the scanning electron microscope. Scandinavian Journal of Dental Research 88, 397–405.

Lester KS, Boyde A (1977) Scanning electron microscopy of instrumented, irrigated and filled root canals. British Dental Journal 143, 359–67.

Lilley JD, Russell C, Chandler NP (1988) Comparison of bisdequaliniumacetate and sodium hypochlorite solutions as endodontic irrigants. Journal of Dental Research 67, 300.

Lloyd A, Thompson J, Gutmann JL, Dummer PMH (1995) Sealability of the Trifecta technique in the presence or absence of a smear layer. International Endodontic Journal 28, 35–40.

Loel DA (1975) Use of acid cleanser in endodontic therapy. Journal of the American Dental Association 90, 148–51.

Love RM, Chandler NP, Jenkinson HF (1996) Penetration of smeared or nonsmeared dentine by Streptococcus gordonii. International Endodontic Journal 29, 2–12.

Lui J-N, Kuah H-G, Chen N-N (2007) Effects of EDTA with and without surfactants or ultrasonics on removal of smear layer. Journal of Endodontics 33, 472–5.

Lumley PJ, Walmsley AD, Walton RE, Rippin JW (1992) Effect of precurving endosonic files on the amount of debris and smear layer remaining in curved root canals. Journal of Endodontics 18, 616–9.

Lussi A, Nussba¨cher U, Grosrey J (1993) A novel noninstrumented technique for cleansing the root canal system. Journal of Endodontics 19, 549–53.

Mader CL, Baumgartner JC, Peters DD (1984) Scanning electron microscopic investigation of the smeared layer on root canal walls. Journal of Endodontics 10, 477–83.

Madison S, Krell KV (1984) Comparison of ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid and sodium hypochlorite on the apical seal of endodontically treated teeth. Journal of Endodontics 10, 499–503.

Martin H, Cunningham MJ (1983) Endosonic endodontics, the ultrasonic synergistic system. In: Gerstein H, ed. Techniques in Clinical Endodontics. Philadelphia, PA, USA: WB Saunders, 316–22.

Martin H, Cunningham WT, Norris JP, Cotton WR (1980) Ultrasonic versus hand filing of dentin: a quantitative study. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 49, 79–81. McComb D, Smith DC (1975) A preliminary scanning electron microscopic study of root canals after endodontic proce- dures. Journal of Endodontics 1, 238–42.

McComb D, Smith DC, Beagrie GS (1976) The results of in vivo endodontic chemomechanical instrumentation-a scanning electron microscopic study. Journal of the British Endodontic Society 9, 11–8.

Meryon SD, Brook AM (1990) Penetration of dentine by three oral bacteria in vitro and their associated cytotoxicity. International Endodontic Journal 23, 196–202.

Meryon SD, Jakeman KJ, Browne RM (1986) Penetration in vitro of human and ferret dentine by three bacterial species in relation to their potential role in pulpal inflammation. International Endodontic Journal 19, 213–20. Meryon SD, Tobias RS, Jakeman KJ (1987) Smear removal agents: a quantitative study in vivo and in vitro. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 57, 174–9.

Michelich VJ, Schuster GS, Pashley DH (1980) Bacterial penetration of human dentin in vitro. Journal of Dental Research 59, 1398–403.

Mohd Sulong MZA (1989) The incidence of postoperative pain after canal preparation of open teeth using two irrigation regimes. International Endodontic Journal 22, 248–51.

Moodnik RM, Dorn SO, Feldman MJ, Levey M, Borden BG (1976) Efficacy of biomechanical instrumentation: a scanning electron microscopic study. Journal of Endodontics 2, 261–6.

Moorer WR, Wesselink PR (1982) Factors promoting the tissue dissolving capability of sodium hypochlorite. International Endodontic Journal 15, 187–96.

Morgan LA, Baumgartner JC (1997) Demineralization of resected root-ends with methylene blue dye. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology and Endodontics 84, 74–8.

Moshonov J, Sion A, Kasirer J, Rotstein I, Stabholz A (1995) Efficacy of argon laser irradiation in removing intracanal debris. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology and Endodontics 79, 221–5.

Oks, an T, Aktener BO, S, en BH, Tezel H (1993) The penetration of root canal sealers into dentinal tubules. A scanning electron microscopic study. International Endodontic Journal 26, 301–5.

Olgart L, Bra[°]nnstro[°]m M, Johnson G (1974) Invasion of bacteria into dentinal tubules. Experiments in vivo and in vitro. Acta Odontologica Scandinavica 32, 61–70.

O[°] nal B, Ertl T, Siebert G, Mu[°] ller G (1993) Preliminary report on the application of pulsed CO2 laser radiation on root canals with AgCl fibers: a scanning and transmission electron microscopic study. Journal of Endodontics 19, 272–6.

Ørstavik D, Haapasalo M (1990) Disinfection by endodontic irrigants and dressings of experimentally infected dentinal tubules. Endodontics and Dental Traumatology 6, 142–9. Outhwaite WC, Livingston MJ, Pashley DH (1976) Effects of changes in surface area, thickness, temperature and postextraction time on human dentine permeability. Archives of Oral Biology 21, 599–603.

Park DS, Torabinejad M, Shabahang S (2004) The effect of MTAD on the coronal leakage of obturated root canals. Journal of Endodontics 30, 890–2.

Pashley DH (1984) Smear layer: physiological considerations. Operative Dentistry Supplement 3, 13–29.

Pashley DH (1985) Dentin-predentin complex and its perme- ability: physiologic overview. Journal of Dental Research 64 Spec Iss, 613–20.

Pashley DH (1992) Smear layer: overview of structure and function. Proceedings of the Finnish Dental Society 88(Suppl 1), 215–24.

Pashley DH, Depew DD (1986) Effects of the smear layer, Copalite, and oxalate on microleakage. Operative Dentistry 11, 95–102.

Pashley DH, Michelich V, Kehl T (1981) Dentin permeability: effects of smear layer removal. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 46, 531–7.

Pashley DH, Tao L, Boyd L, King GE, Horner JA (1988) Scanning electron microscopy of the substructure of smear layers in human dentine. Archives of Oral Biology 33, 265–70.

Pashley DH, Depew DD, Galloway SE (1989) Microleakage channels: scanning electron microscopic observation. Oper- ative Dentistry 14, 68–72.

Perez F, Calas P, Rochd T (1996) Effect of dentin treatment on in vitro root tubule bacterial invasion. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology and Endodontics 82, 446–51.

Prati C, Selighini M, Ferrieri P, Mongiorgi R (1994) Scanning electron microscopic evaluation of different endodontic procedures on dentin morphology of human teeth. Journal of Endodontics 20, 174–9.

Rubin LM, Skobe Z, Krakow AA, Gron P (1979) The effect of instrumentation and flushing of freshly extracted teeth in endodontic therapy: a scanning electron microscope study. Journal of Endodontics 5, 328–35.

Ruddle CJ (2007) Hydrodynamic disinfection: tsunami end- odontics. Dentistry Today 26(5), 114–7.

Sabbak SA, Hassanin MB (1998) A scanning electron micro- scopic study of tooth surface changes induced by tannic acid. Journal of Prosthetic Dentistry 79, 169–74.

Safavi KE, Spa[°]ngberg LSW, Costa NS Jr, Sapounas G (1989) An in vitro method for longitudinal evaluation of toxicity of endodontic sealers. Journal of Endodontics 15, 484–6.

Safavi KE, Spa[°]ngberg LSW, Langeland K (1990) Root canal dentinal tubule disinfection. Journal of Endodontics 16, 207–10.

Saleh IM, Ruyter IE, Haapasolo M, Ørstavik D (2008) Bacterial penetration along different root canal filling materials in the presence or absence of smear layer. International Endodontic Journal 41, 32–40.

Saunders WP, Saunders EM (1992) The effect of smear layer upon the coronal leakage of gutta-percha root fillings and a glass ionomer sealer. International Endodontic Journal 25, 245–9.

Saunders WP, Saunders EM (1994) Influence of smear layer on the coronal leakage of Thermafil and laterally condensed gutta-percha root fillings with a glass ionomer sealer. Journal of Endodontics 20, 155–8.

Schmid R, Reilley C (1957) New complexion for titration of calcium in the presence of magnesium. Annals of Chemistry 29, 264–8.

Shahravan A, Haghdoost AA, Adl A, Rahimi H, Shadifar F (2007) Effect of smear layer on sealing ability of canal obturation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Endodontics 33, 96–105.

van der Sluis LWM, Versluis M, Wu MK, Wesselink PR (2007) Passive ultrasonic irrigation of the root canal: a review of the literature. International Endodontic Journal 40, 415–26.

Stabholz A, Neev J, Liaw LH, Stabholz A, Khayat A, Torabinejad M (1993) Effect of ArF-193 nm excimer laser on human dentinal tubules. A scanning electron microscopic study. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine and Oral Pathology 75, 90–4.

Stewart GG, Kapsimalas P, Rappaport H (1969). EDTA and urea peroxide for root canal preparation. Journal of the American Dental Association 78, 335–8.

Takeda FH, Harashima T, Kimura Y, Matsumoto K (1998a) Comparative study about the removal of smear layer by three types of laser devices. Journal of Clinical and Laser Medical Surgery 16, 117–22.

Takeda FH, Harashima T, Kimura Y, Matsumoto K (1998b) Efficacy of Er:YAG laser irradiation in removing debris and smear layer on root canal walls. Journal of Endodontics 24, 548–51.

Takeda FH, Harashima T, Kimura Y, Matsumoto K (1999) A comparative study of the removal of smear layer by three endodontic irrigants and two types of laser. International Endodontic Journal 32, 32–9.

Taylor JK, Jeansonne BG, Lemon RR (1997) Coronal leakage: effects of smear layer, obturation technique, and sealer. Journal of Endodontics 23, 508–12.

Tewfik HM, Pashley DH, Horner JA, Sharawy MM (1993) Structural and functional changes in root dentin following exposure to KTP/532 laser. Journal of Endodontics 19, 492–7.

Tidmarsh BG (1978) Acid-cleansed and resin-sealed root canals. Journal of Endodontics 4, 117–21.

Tidswell HE, Saunders EM, Saunders WP (1994) Assessment of coronal leakage in teeth root filled with gutta-percha and a glass of ionomer root canal sealer. International Endodontic Journal 27, 208–12.

Timpawat S, Sripanaratanakul S (1998) Apical sealing ability of glass ionomer sealer with and without smear layer. Journal of Endodontics 24, 343–5.

Timpawat S, Vongsavan N, Messer HH (2001) Effect of removal of the smear layer on apical microleakage. Journal of Endodontics 27, 351–3.

Torabinejad M, Khademi AA, Babagoli J et al. (2003) A new solution for the removal of the smear layer. Journal of Endodontics 29, 170–5.

Vassiliadis L, Liolios E, Kouvas V, Economides N (1996) Effect of smear layer on coronal microleakage. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology and Endodontics 82, 315–20.

Walker TL, del Rio CE (1989) Histological evaluation of ultrasonic and sonic instrumentation of curved root canals. Journal of Endodontics 15, 49–59.

Walker TL, del Rio CE (1991) Histological evaluation of ultrasonic debridement comparing sodium hypochlorite and water. Journal of Endodontics 17, 66–71.

Wayman BE, Kopp WM, Pinero GJ, Lazzari EP (1979) Citric and lactic acids as root canal irrigants in vitro. Journal of Endodontics 5, 258–65.

White RR, Goldman M, Lin PS (1984) The influence of the smeared layer upon dentinal tubule penetration by plastic filling materials. Journal of Endodontics 10, 558–62.

White RR, Goldman M, Lin PS (1987) The influence of the smeared layer upon dentinal tubule penetration by end- odontic filling materials. Part II. Journal of Endodontics 13, 369–74.

Wikesjo[°] UM, Baker PJ, Christersson LA et al. (1986) A biochemical approach to periodontal regeneration: tetracycline treatment conditions dentin surfaces. Journal of Periodontal Research 21, 322–9.

Williams S, Goldman M (1985) Penetrability of the smeared layer by a strain of Proteus vulgaris. Journal of Endodontics 11, 385–8.

Yamada RS, Armas A, Goldman M, Lin PS (1983) A scanning electron microscopic comparison of a high volume final flush with several irrigating solutions: Part 3. Journal of Endodontics 9, 137–42.

Yang SE, Bae KS (2002) Scanning electron microscopy study of the adhesion of Prevotella nigrescens to the dentin of prepared root canals. Journal of Endodontics 28, 433–7.

Chapter 4

Role of Enterococcus Faecalis

Factors that may contribute to a persistent periradicular infection after root canal treatment include intraradicular infection, extraradicular infection, foreign body reaction, and cysts containing cholesterol crystals (1). It is generally believed that the major cause of failure is the survival of microorganisms in the apical portion of the root-filled tooth (1, 2). Unlike primary endodontic infections, which are polymicrobial in nature and dominated by gram-negative anaerobic rods, the microorganisms in-volved in secondary infections are composed of one or a few bacterial species (2–5). Enterococcus faecalis is a persistent organism that, despite making up a small proportion of the flora in untreated canals, plays a major role in the etiology of persistent periradicular lesions after root canal treatment. It is commonly found in a high percentage of root canal failures and it is able to survive in the root canal as a single organism or as a major component of the flora (1). The intent of this article is (a) to describe characteristics inherent to E. faecalis; (b) to cite studies that implicate E. faecalis as an etiology of failing root canal treatment; (c) to list the mechanisms that allow E. faecalis the ability to survive and cause persistent periradicular pathosis; and (d) to discuss current treatment modalities that are effective in eliminating E. faecalis from the root canal system.

4.1 E. faecalis Characteristics and Strains

Enterococci are gram positive cocci that can occur singly, in pairs, or as short chains. They are facultative anaerobes, possessing the ability to grow in the presence or absence of oxygen (6,7). *Enterococcus* species live in vast quantities $[10^5 - 10^8$ colony-forming units (cfu) per gram of feces] in the human intestinal lumen and under most circumstances cause no harm to their hosts. They are also present in human female genital tracts and the oral cavity in lesser numbers (8). They catabolize a variety of energy sources including carbohydrates, glycerol, lactate, malate, citrate, arginine, agmatine, and many keto acids (6). *Enterococci* survive very harsh environments including extreme alkaline pH (9.6) and salt concentrations (6, 9). They resist bile salts, detergents, heavy metals, ethanol, azide, and desiccation (6). They can grow in the range of 10 to 45°C and survive a temperature of 60°C for 30 min (9). There are currently 23 *Enterococci* species and these are divided into five groups based on their interaction with

mannitol, sorbose, and arginine. E. faecalis belongs to the same group as E. faecium, E. casseliflavus, E. mundtii, and E. gallinarum. These five species form acid in mannitol broth and hydrolyze arginine; however, they fail to form acid in sorbose broth (6, 10). After establishing that the gram-positive coccus is a member of one of the five groups in the *Enterococcus* genus (Table 2) (10), several conventional tests are used to identify the specific species. In group 2, *E. faecalis* can normally be identified by further testing with arabinose, tellurite, and pyruvate. *E. faecalis* is arabinose negative and except for some atypical variants, is the only member of the group to utilize pyruvate and to tolerate tellurite (11). More recently, molecular techniques have been developed that have the capability to rapidly and accurately identify the Enterococcus species. Techniques involving DNA-DNA hybridization, sequencing of the 16S rRNA genes, whole-cell protein (WCP) analysis and gasliquid chromatography of fatty acids have been used for taxonomic purposes. Most of these methods are nucleic acid-based involving PCR amplification assays that are followed by electrophoretic analysis of the PCR products, probing, sequencing, or both (11). Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) analysis and pulse-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) are techniques that have been utilized to determine variations in DNA sequences and have been employed in determining various E. faecalis subtypes (12, 13). In fact, the Bac- teriology Collection of the ATCC (American Type Culture Collection) currently lists 69 isolates of *E. faecalis* that are commercially available (14). These isolates each have a different ATCC number and designation. The biosafety level ranges from 1 to 2 and growth conditions differ among the subtypes. Sources for these isolates include sour milk (ATCC number 376TM), meat involved in food poisoning (ATCC number 7080TM), and the root canal of a pulpless tooth (ATCC number 4083TM) (14).

Group	Species
Group I (+) acid formation in mannitol broth (+) acid formation in sorbose broth (-) arginine hydrolysis	E. avium E. gilvus E. malodoratus E. pallens E. pseudoavium E. raffinosus E. saccharolyticus
Group II (+) acid formation in mannitol broth (-) acid formation in sorbose broth (+) arginine hydrolysis	E. faecalis E. faecium E. casseliflavus E. gallinarum E. mundtii Lactococcus sp.
Group III (-) acid formation in mannitol broth (-) acid formation in sorbose broth (+) arginine hydrolysis	E. dispar E. durans E. hirae E. porcinus (E. villorum) E. ratti
Group IV (-) acid formation in mannitol broth (-) acid formation in sorbose broth (-) arginine hydrolysis	E. asini E. cecorum E. sulfureus
Group V (+) acid formation in mannitol broth (-) acid formation in sorbose broth (-) arginine hydrolysis	E. columbae Vagococcus sp.

Table 2. Categorization of Enterococcus species and two physiologically related gram-positive cocci based on phenotypic characteristics

Attention has been turned towards *Enterococci* since the 1970s when they were recognized as major nosocomial pathogens causing bacteremia, endocarditis, bacterial meningitis, urinary tract, and various other infections (15). Sources of the bacteria in these infections have been reported as originating from the hands of health care workers, from clinical instruments, or from patient to patient (8). Studies have shown that nosocomial infections are not caused by the patient's own prehospitalization flora (16). Enterococcal infections now account for roughly 12% of nosocomial infections in the United States with the majority of those being

caused by *E. faecalis* (greater than 80%) and *E. faecium* being responsible for the majority of the remaining infections (17). Studies show *E. faecalis* is able to translocate from the root canal system to the submandibular lymph nodes of germ-free mice, suggesting this route of infection may play a role in the pathogenesis of opportunistic infections in patients (18, 19). Enterococcal urinary tract and soft tissue infections are generally treated with single drug therapy, often with penicillin or vancomycin (20). There is emerging evidence of vancomycin resistance among *Enterococcus* species and routine use of previously standard recommendations for treatment of enterococcal infections can no longer be expected to provide optimal results (21). Enterococcal strains, particularly those causing endocarditis, must be screened to define antimicrobial resistance patterns. Thirty-five vancomycin resistant *Enterococci* have demonstrated susceptibility to linezolid (antibiotic, oxazolidinone derivative), suggesting it may be the treatment of choice for multi-drug resistant enterococcal infections (22).

4.2 Prevalence in Secondary Root Canal Infections

E. faecalis is a normal inhabitant of the oral cavity. The prevalence of *E. faecalis* is increased in oral rinse samples from patients receiving initial endodontic treatment, those midway through treatment, and patients receiving endodontic retreatment when compared to those with no endodontic history (23). E. faecalis is associated with different forms of periradicular disease including primary endodontic infections and persistent infections (7). In the category of primary endodontic infections, *E. faecalis* is associated with asymptomatic chronic periradicular lesions significantly more often than with acute periradicular periodontitis or acute periradicular abscesses. *E. faecalis* is found in 4 to 40% of primary endodontic infections (7). The frequency of *E. faecalis* found in persistent periradicular lesions has been shown to be much higher. In fact, failed root canal treatment cases are nine times more likely to contain *E*. faecalis than primary endodontic infections (7). Studies investigating its occurrence in rootfilled teeth with periradicular lesions have demonstrated a prevalence ranging from 24 to 77% (3-5, 7, 24-31). The wide range of *E. faecalis* prevalence among studies may be attributed to different identification techniques, geographic differences, or sample size (32, 33). In some cases, *E. faecalis* has been found as the only organism (pure culture) present in root- filled teeth with periradicular lesions (4, 28). The majority of these studies have been carried out using culturing techniques; however, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is currently a more predictable method for detection of *E. faecalis* (34, 35). This method proves to be faster, more sensitive, and more accurate than culturing methods (35). It has enabled researchers to detect bacteria that were difficult, and in some cases impossible, to detect (35). When compared to detection of *E. faecalis* by culturing (24-70%), *E. faecalis* has been found at consistently higher percentages (67-77%) when a PCR detection method is used (7). An optical spectroscopy-based method has also been studied as a way to detect *E. faecalis* activity (36). It is possible that this detection system could be used chairside to rapidly monitor the presence or absence of *E. faecalis* in the root canal system (36).

4.3 Survival and Virulence Factors

E. faecalis possesses certain virulence factors including lytic enzymes, cytolysin, aggregation substance, pheromones, and lipoteichoic acid (7). It has been shown to adhere to host cells, express proteins that allow it to compete with other bacterial cells, and alter host responses (7, 37). *E. faecalis* is able to suppress the action of lymphocytes, potentially contributing to endodontic failure (38). E. faecalis is not limited to its possession of various virulence factors. It is also able to share these virulence traits among species, further contributing to its survival and ability to cause disease (15). These factors may or may not contribute to the innate characteristics of *E. faecalis* to cause disease. Because *E. faecalis* is less dependent upon virulence factors, it relies more upon its ability to survive and persist as a pathogen in the root canals of teeth (7). E. faecalis overcomes the challenges of survival within the root canal system in several ways. It has been shown to exhibit widespread genetic polymorphisms (23). It possesses serine protease, gelatinase, and collagen-binding protein (Ace), which help it bind to dentin (39). It is small enough to proficiently invade and live within dentinal tubules (37). It has the capacity to endure prolonged periods of starvation until an adequate nutritional supply becomes available (40). Once available, the starved cells are able to recover by utilizing serum as a nutritional source (40). Serum, which originates from alveolar bone and the periodontal ligament, also helps E. faecalis bind to type I collagen (37). E. faecalis in dentinal tubules has been shown to resist intracanal dressings of calcium hydroxide for over 10 days (41, 42). *E. faecalis* is able to form a biofilm that helps it resist destruction by enabling the bacteria to become 1000 times more resistant to phagocytosis, antibodies, and antimicrobials than nonbiofilm producing organisms (43).

Calcium hydroxide, a commonly used intracanal medicament, has been shown to be ineffective at killing *E. faecalis* on its own, especially when a high pH is not maintained (42, 44 – 46). The following reasons have been proposed to explain why *E. faecalis* is able to survive intra- canal treatment with calcium hydroxide: (a) *E. faecalis* passively maintains pH

homeostasis. This occurs as a result of ions penetrating the cell membrane as well as the cytoplasm's buffering capacity. (b) *E. faecalis* has a proton pump that provides an additional means of maintaining pH homeostasis. This is accomplished by "pumping" protons into the cell to lower the internal pH. (c) At a pH of 11.5 or greater, *E. faecalis* is unable to survive (1, 45). However, as a result of the buffering capacity of dentin, it is very unlikely that a pH of 11.5 can be maintained in the dentinal tubules with current calcium hydroxide utilization techniques (46). Studies using the dentin powder model have shown that the presence of dentin has an inhibitory effect on various concentrations of root canal medicaments including calcium hydroxide, sodium hypochlorite, chlorhexidine, and iodine potassium iodide (47, 48). Diverse components of dentin including dentin matrix, type-I collagen, hydroxyapatite, and serum are responsible for altering the antibacterial effects of these medicaments (49).

4.4 Methods of Eradication

Many studies have been directed towards finding an effective way to eradicate and/or prevent *E. faecalis* from gaining access to the root canal space. *E. faecalis* can gain entry into the root canal system during treatment, between appointments, or even after the treatment has been completed (7). Therefore, it is important to consider treatment regimens aimed at eliminating or preventing the infection of *E. faecalis* during each of these phases. Preparing the apical portion of the root canal to a larger instrument size will help eliminate intracanal microorganisms by reaching areas not normally accessible by smaller master apical files (50). In addition, larger apical preparation sizes facilitate removal of the innermost (pulpal) dentin. This provides the potential to remove intratubular bacteria and open the dentinal tubules to allow antimicrobials to penetrate more effectively. Three percent to full strength sodium hypochlorite, if used in adequate amounts and exchanged regularly, has the capability to destroy *E. faecalis* in the root canal (51). Sodium hypochlorite is an effective irrigant for all presentations of *E. faecalis* including its existence as a biofilm (52). EDTA has little antibacterial activity, but is important in its ability to remove the inorganic portion of the smear layer thus allowing other irrigants access to the dentinal tubules (53, 54). A 10% citric acid solution will remove the smear layer and, like EDTA, has little effect against E. faecalis. A 0.1% sodium benzoate solution added to 10% citric acid will increase the chances of killing E. faecalis (55). MTAD, a new root canal irrigant consisting of a mixture of a tetracycline isomer, an acid, and a detergent has shown success in its ability to destroy *E. faecalis* in preliminary studies (53, 56). Its effectiveness is attributed to its anticollagenase activity, low pH, and ability to be released gradually over time (56). The effects of MTAD are enhanced when 1.3%

sodium hypochlorite is used as an irrigant during instrumentation (57). Calcium hydroxide is relatively ineffective against *E. faecalis* because of considerations mentioned previously (1, 41). Iodine potassium iodide may be a more effective intracanal agent than calcium hydroxide (58). Chlorhexidine, in a 2% gel or liquid concentration, is effective at reducing or completely eliminating *E. faecalis* from the root canal space and dentinal tubules (59 – 61). A 2-min rinse of 2% chlorhexidine liquid can be used to remove *E. faecalis* from the superficial layers of dentinal tubules up to 100 m (59). Two percent chlorhexidine gel is effective at completely eliminating *E. faecalis* from dentinal tubules for up to 15 days (60). This may be in part attributed to its substantive antimicrobial activity (62). It is questionable as to whether 0.12% chlorhexidine is more effective than calcium hydroxide. Some studies suggest it is more effective, yet neither will completely eradicate *E. faecalis* (44, 63). Another study suggests 10% calcium hydroxide alone is more effective (64). When heated to 46°C, both 0.12% chlorhexidine and 10% calcium hydroxide have greater antimicrobial effects against *E. faecalis* than at normal body temperature (65).

Other irrigants that may be effective at eliminating *E. faecalis* include ozonated water and stannous fluoride. Ozonated water has been shown to have the same antimicrobial efficacy as 2.5% sodium hypochlorite (66). Stannous fluoride demonstrated greater antimicrobial effectiveness against *E. faecalis* than calcium hydroxide (67).

Combinations of irrigants to eliminate *E. faecalis* have also been studied. In one study, a combination of calcium hydroxide mixed with camphorated paramonochlorophenol completely eliminated *E. faecalis* within dentinal tubules (68). Metapex, a silicone oil-based calcium hydroxide paste containing 38% iodoform, more effectively disinfected dentinal tubules infected with *E. faecalis* than calcium hydroxide alone (69). The addition of stannous fluoride to calcium hydroxide is also more effective than calcium hydroxide by itself (67). Concentrations of 1 to 2% chlorhexidine combined with calcium hydroxide have also demonstrated efficacy at killing *E. faecalis* (60, 68, 70). Chlorhexidine combined with calcium hydroxide mixed with water (70). Two percent chlorhexidine gel combined with calcium hydroxide achieves a pH of 12.8 and can completely eliminate *E. faecalis* within dentinal tubules (60). It is important to note, however, that chlorhexidine alone has been shown to provide as good, or even better, antimicrobial action against *E. faecalis* than calcium hydroxide/chlorhexidine combinations (60, 61). Until further studies have been conducted, an intracanal dressing of 2% chlorhexidine placed for 7 days may be the best way to eradicate *E. faecalis* from dentinal

tubules and the root canal space (60, 61). In some studies, chlorhexidine impregnated and iodoform containing guttapercha points have shown little inhibitory action against *E. faecalis* (71, 72). In another study, 5% chlorhexidine in a slow release device (Activ Point, Roeko, Langenau, Germany) completely eliminated *E. faecalis* in dentinal tubules up to 500 m (73).

The antimicrobial activity against *E. faecalis* of various sealers has also been studied. Roth 811 (Roth International Ltd., Chicago, IL), a zinc-oxide eugenol based sealer, has been shown to exhibit the greatest antimicrobial activity against *E. faecalis* when compared to other sealers (74). AH Plus epoxyresin based sealer (Dentsply, DeTrey, Konstanz, Germany) and Sultan zinc oxide-eugenol based sealer (Sultan Chemists, Inc., Englewood, NJ) both exhibit good antibacterial effects against *E. faecalis* using agar diffusion and direct-contact tests (75). AH Plus and Grossman's sealer are effective in killing *E. faecalis* within infected dentinal tubules (76). Based on these studies it can be concluded that a combination of adequate instrumentation, and appropriate use of irrigants, medicaments, and sealer will optimize the chances of eradicating *E. faecalis* during retreatment of failed root canal cases.

Additional steps should be taken to prevent *E. faecalis* from re-entering the root canal space. These include having the patient rinse with chlorhexidine before treatment, disinfecting the tooth and rubber dam with chlorhexidine or sodium hypochlorite, and disinfecting guttapercha points with sodium hypochlorite before insertion in the canal (77). Other possibilities may include using an obturating system that can provide a more effective seal. Newer obturation systems such as Epiphany (Pentron Corp., Wallingford, CT) have been designed to bond to the root canal walls and thus prevent bacterial leakage. Although research is still needed, a preliminary study shows that this system is better at preventing microleakage of *E. faecalis* than guttapercha filled canals (78). A well-sealed coronal restoration and root canal filling are important steps in preventing bacteria from entering the canal space (79).

4.5 Conclusion

Studies indicate that the prevalence of *E. faecalis* is low in primary endodontic infections and high in persistent infections. *E. faecalis* is also more commonly associated with asymptomatic cases than with symptomatic ones. Although *E. faecalis* possesses several virulence factors, its ability to cause periradicular disease stems from its ability to survive the effects of root canal treatment and persist as a pathogen in the root canals and dentinal tubules of teeth. Our challenge as endodontic specialists is to implement methods to effectively eliminate this

microorganism during and after root canal treatment. Currently, use of good aseptic technique, increased apical preparation sizes, and inclusion of full strength sodium hypochlorite and 2% chlorhexidine irrigants are the most effective methods to eliminate *E. faecalis*. Recent studies have helped us better understand *E. faecalis* and the mechanisms that enable it to cause persistent endodontic infections. In the changing face of dental care, continued research on *E. faecalis* and its elimination from the dental apparatus may well define the future of the endodontic specialty.

References

- 1. Evans M, Davies JK, Sundqvist G, Figdor D. Mechanisms involved in the resistance of *Enterococcus faecalis* to calcium hydroxide. Int Endod J 2002;35:221–8.
- Baumgartner JC, Falkler WA. Bacteria in the apical 5 mm of infected root canals. J Endod 1991;17:380 –3.
- 3. Molander A, Reit C, Dahlen G, Kvist T. Microbiological status of root-filled teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J 1998;31:1–7.
- Sundqvist G, Figdor D, Persson S, Sjogren U. Microbiologic analysis of teeth with failed endodontic treatment and the outcome of conservative re-treatment. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 1998;85:86 –93.
- Hancock HH, Sigurdsson A, Trope M, Moiseiwitsch J. Bacteria isolated after unsuccessful endodontic treatment in a North Am population. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2001;91:579 – 86.
- Gilmore MS. The *Enterococci*: pathogenesis, molecular biology, and antibiotic resistance.
 Washington: ASM Press, 2002.
- 7. Rôças IN, Siqueira JF, Santos KRN. Association of *Enterococcus faecalis* with different forms of periradicular diseases. J Endod 2004;30:315–20.
- 8. KochS, HufnagelM, TheilackerC, HuebnerJ. Enterococcal infections: hostresponse, therapeutic, and prophylactic possibilities. Vaccine 2004;22:822–30.
- 9. Tendolkar PM, Baghdayan AS, Shankar N. Pathogenic *Enterococci*: new developments in the 21st century. Cell Mol Life Sci 2003;60:2622–36.
- 10. Teixeira LM, Facklam RR. *Enterococcus*. In: Murray PR, ed. Manual of clinical microbiology, 8th ed. Washington: ASM Press, 2003:422–33.
- Facklam RR, Carvalho MGS, Teixeira LM. History, taxonomy, biochemical characteristics, and antibiotic susceptibility testing of *Enterococci*. In: Gilmore MS, ed. The *Enterococci*: pathogenesis, molecular biology, and antibiotic resistance. Washington: ASM Press, 2002:1–54.
- 12. Dautle MP, Ulrich RL, Hughes TA. Typ ingand subtyping of 83 clinical isolates purified
from surgically implanted silicone feeding tubes by random amplified polymorphic DNA amplification. J Clin Microbiol 2002;40:414 –21.

- Mato R, deLencastre H, Roberts RB, Tomasz A. Multiplicity of genetic backgrounds among vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium* isolates recovered from an outbreak in a New York City hospital. Microb Drug Resist 1996;2:309 –17.
- http://www.atcc.org/common/catalog/bacteria/bacteriaIndex.cfm. Accessed May 25, 2005.
- 15. Jett BD, Huycke MM, Gilmore MS. Virulence of *Enterococci*. Clin Microbiol Rev 1994;7:462–78.
- Nallapareddy SR, Duh RW, Singh KV, Murray BE. Molecular typing of selected *Enterococcus faecalis* isolates: pilot study using multilocus sequence typing and pulsefield gel electrophoresis. J Clin Microbiol 2002;40:868 – 76.
- Franz CM, Stiles ME, Schleifer KH, Holzapfel WH. *Enterococci* in foods: aconundrum for food safety. Int J Food Microbiol 2003;88:105–22.
- Ribeiro Sobrinho AP, Barros MHM, Nicoli JR. Experimental root canal infections in conventional and germ-free mice. J Endod 1998;24:405–8.
- de Melo Maltos SM, Ribeiro Sobrinho AP, Silva FV, et al. Bacterial concentrations determine the ability to implant in the root canal system and translocate to lymph nodes in germ-free mice. J Endod 2003;29:24 –7.
- 20. Murray BE. The life and times of *Enterococcus*. Clin Microbiol Rev 1990;3:46–65.
- Edmond MB, Ober JF, Dawson JD, Weinbaum DL, Wenzel RP. Vancomycin resistant enterococcal bacteremia: natural history and attributable mortality. Clin Infect Dis 1996;23:1234 –9.
- 22. Novias C, Vital C, Ribeiro G, Coque TM, Peixe LV.First characterization of vancomycin resistant *Enterococci* from a Portuguese hospital. J Antimicrob Chemother 2002;49:215–7.
- 23. Sedgley CM, Lennan SL, Clewell DB. Prevalence, phenotype, and genotype of oral *Enterococci*. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2004;19:95–101.

- 24. Engström B. The significance of *Enterococci* in root canal treatment. Odontol Revy 1964;15:87–106.
- 25. Möller AJR. Microbial examination of root canals and periapical tissues of human teeth. Odontol Tidskr 1966;74(Suppl):1–380.
- 26. Peciuliene V, Balciuniene I, Eriksen H, Haapasalo M. Isolation of *Enterococcus faecalis* in previously root-filled canals in a Lithuanian population. J Endod 2000;26:593–5.
- Peciuliene V, Reynaud AH, Balciuniene I, Haapasalo M. Isolation of yeastsandenteric bacteria in rootfilled teeth with chronic apical periodontitis. Int Endod J 2001;34:429 –34.
- Pinheiro ET, Gomes BPFA, Ferraz CCR, Sousa ELR, Teixeira FB, Souza Filho FJ. Microorganisms from canals of root-filled teeth with periapical lesions. Int Endod J 2003;36:1–11.
- 29. Pinheiro ET, Gomes BPFA, Ferraz CCR, Teixeira FB, Zaia AA, Souza-Filho FJ. Evaluation of root canal microorganisms isolated from teeth with endodontic failure and their antimicrobial susceptibility. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2003;18:100 – 3.
- 30. Siqueira JF, Rôças I. Polymerase chain reaction-based analysis of microorganisms associated with failed endodontic treatment. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2004;97:85–94.
- Gomes BPFA, Pinheiro ET, Gade-Neto CR, et al. Microbiological examination of infected dental root canals. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2004;19:71–6.
- 32. Fouad AF, Zerella J, Barry J, Spangberg LS. Molecular detection of *Enterococcus* species in root canals of therapy-resistant endodontic infections. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2005;99:112–8.

33. Baumgartner JC, Siqueira JF Jr, Xia T, Rôças IN. Geographical differences in bacteria detected in endodontic infections using polymerase chain reaction. J Endod 2004;30:141–4.

34. Molander A, Lundquist P, Papapanou PN, Dahlen G, Reit C. A protocol for polymerase chain reaction detection of *Enterococcus faecium* from the root canal. Int Endod J 2002;35:1–6.

35. Siqueira JF, Rocas IN. PCR methodology as a valuable tool for identification of endodontic

pathogens. J Dent 2003;31:333-9.

36. Kishen A, Chen NN, Tan L, Asundi A. Chairside sensor for rapid monitoring of *Enterococcus faecalis* activity. J Endod 2004;30:872–5.

37. LoveRM. *Enterococcus faecalis*: a mechanism for its role in endodontic failure. Int Endod J 2001;34:399 – 405.

38. Lee W, Lim S, Son H, Bae K. Sonicated extract of *Enterococcus faecalis* induces irreversible cell cycle arrest in phytohemagglutinin-activated human lymphocytes. J Endod 2004;30:209 – 12.

39. Hubble TS, Hatton JF, Nallapareddy SR, Murray BE, Gillespie MJ. Influence of *Enteroccocus faecalis* proteases and the collagen-binding protein, Ace, on adhesion to dentin. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2003;18:121–6.

40. Figdor D, Davies JK, Sundqvist G. Starvation survival, growth and recovery of *Enterococcus faecalis* in human serum. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2003;18:234 –9.

41. Orstavik D, Haapasalo M. Disinfection by endodontic irrigants and dressings of experimentally infected dentinal tubules. Endod Dent Traumatol 1990;6:142–9.

42. Haapasalo M, Orstavik D. Invitro infection and disinfection of dentinal tubules. J Dent Res 1987;66:1375–9.

43. Distel JW, Hatton JF, Gillespie MJ. Biofilm formation in medicated root canals. J Endod 2002;28:689–93.

44. Lin Y, Mickel A, Chogle S. Effectiveness of selected materials against *Enterococcus faecalis*: Part 3. The antibacterial effect of calcium hydroxide and chlorhexidine on *Enterococcus faecalis*. J Endod 2003;29:565–6.

45. McHugh CP, Zhang P, Michalek S, Eleazer PD. pH required to kill *Enterococcus faecalis* in vitro. J Endod 2004;30:218 –9.

46. Tronstad L, Andreasen J, Hasselgren G, Kristerson L, Riis I. pH changes in dental tissues after root filling with calcium hydroxide. J Endod 1981;7:17–21.

47. Haapasalo HK, Siren EK, Waltimo TMT, Orstavik D, Haapasalo MPP. Inactivation of local

root canal medicaments by dentine: an in vitro study. Int Endod J 2000;33:126 -31.

48. Portenier I, Haapasalo H, Rye A, Waltimo T, Orstavik D, Haapasalo M. Inactivation of root canal medicaments by dentine, hydroxylapatite and bovine serum albumin. Int Endod J 2001;34:184 – 8.

49. Portenier I, Haapasalo H, Orstavik D, Yamauchi M, Haapasalo M. Inactivation of the antibacterial activity of iodide potassium iodide and chlorhexidine digluconate against *Enterococcus faecalis* by dentin, dentin matrix, type-I collagen, and heat killed microbial whole cells. J Endod 2002;28:634–7.

50. Card SJ, Sigurdsson A, Orstavik D, Trope M. The effectiveness of increased apical enlargement in reducing intracanal bacteria. J Endod 2002;28:779 – 83.

51. Siqueira J, Machado A, Silveira R, Lopes H, DeUzeda M. Evaluation of the effectiveness of sodium hypochlorite used with three irrigation methods in the elimination of *Enterococcus faecalis* from the root canal in vitro. Int Endod J 1997;30:279 – 82.

52. Abdullah M, Ng YL, Gulabivala K, Moles DR, Spratt DA. Susceptibilties of two *Enter coccus faecalis* phenotypes to root canal medications. J Endod 2005;31:30 – 6.

53. Torabinejad M, Shabahang S, Aprecio RM, Kettering JD. The antimicrobial effect of MTAD: an in vitro investigation. J Endod 2003;29:400 –3.

54. Bystrom A, Sundqvist G. The antibacterial action of sodium hypochlorite and EDTA in 60 cases of endodontic therapy. Int Endod J 1985;18:35–40.

55. Barroso Ldos S, Habitante SM, Jorge AO, Faria Ida S. Microorganisms growth in endodontic citric-acid solutions with and without microbiological stabilizer. J Endod 2004;30:42–4.

56. Shabahang S, Torabinejad M. Effect of MTAD on *Enterococcus faecalis* contaminated root canals of extracted human teeth. J Endod 2003;29:576–9.

57. Torabinejad M, Cho Y, Khademi AA, Bakland LK, Shabahang S. The effect of various concentrations of sodium hypochlorite on the ability of MTAD to remove the smear layer. J Endod 2003;29:233–9.

58. Safavi K, Spangberg L, Langeland K. Root canal dentinal tubule disinfection. J Endod

1990;16:207-10.

59. Vahdaty A, Pitt Ford TR, Wilson RF. Efficacy of chlorhexidine in disinfecting dentinal tubules in vitro. Endod Dent Traumatol 1993;9:243–8.

60. Gomes B, Souza S, Ferraz C, et al. Effectiveness of 2% chlorhexidine gel and calcium hydroxide against *Enterococcus faecalis* in bovine root dentine in vitro. Int Endod J 2003;36:267–75.

61. Basrani B, Santos J, Tjaderhane L, et al. Substantive antimicrobial activity in chlorhexidinetreated human root dentin. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2002;94:240 –5.

62. White R, Hays G, Janer L. Residual antimicrobial activity after canal irrigation with chlorhexidine. J Endod 1997;23:229–31.

63. Sassone L, Fidel R, Fidel S, Vieira M, Hirata R. The influence of organic load on the antimicrobial activity of different concentrations of NaOCl and chlorhexidine in vitro. Int Endod J 2003;36:848 –52.

64. Lynne RE, Liewehr FR, West LA, Patton WR, Buxton TB, McPherson JC. In vitro antimicrobial activity of various medication preparations on *E. faecalis* in root canal dentin. J Endod 2003;29:187–90.

65. Evanov C, Liewehr F, Buxton TB, Joyce AP. Antibacterial efficacy of calcium hydroxide and chlorhexidine gluconate irrigants at 37 degrees C and 46 degrees C. J Endod 2004;30:653–7.

66. Nagayoshi M, Kitamura C, Fukuizumi T, Nishihara T, Terashita M. Antimicrobial effect of ozonated water on bacteria invading dentinal tubules. J Endod 2004;30:778 – 81.

67. Mickel AK, Sharma P, Chogle S. Effectiveness of stannous fluoride and calcium hydroxide against *Enterococcus faecalis*. J Endod 2003;29:259 – 60.

68. Sukawat C, Srisuwan T. A comparison of the antimicrobial efficacy of three calcium hydroxide formulations on human dentin infected with *Enterococcus faecalis*. J Endod 2002;28:102–4.

69. Cwikla SJ, Belanger M, Giguere S, Progulske-Fox A, Vertucci FJ. Dentinal tubule disinfection using three calcium hydroxide formulations. J Endod 2005;31:50 –2.

70. Evans MD, Baumgartner JC, Khemaleelakul SU, Xia T. Efficacy of calcium hydroxide: chlorhexidine paste as an intracanal medication in bovine dentin. J Endod 2003;29:338 –9.

71. Shur A, Sedgley C, Fenno J. The antimicrobial efficacy of "MGP" gutta-percha in vitro. Int Endod J 2003;36:616 –21.

72. Lui J, Sae-Lim V, Song K, Chen N. In vitro antimicrobial effect of chlorhexidineimpregnated gutta percha points on *Enterococcus faecalis*. Int Endod J 2004;37:105–13.

73. Lin S, Zuckerman O, Weiss EI, Mazor Y, Fuss Z. Antibacterial efficacy of a new chlorhexidine slow release device to disinfect dentinal tubules. J Endod 2003;29:416 – 8.

74. Mickel A, Nguyen T, Chogle S. Antimicrobial activity of endodontic sealers on *Enterococcus faecalis*. J Endod 2003;29:257–8.

75. Cobankara FK, Altinoz HC, Ergani O, Kav K, Belli S. In vitro antibacterial activities of rootcanal sealers by using two different methods. J Endod 2004;30:57–60.

76. Saleh I, Ruyter IE, Haapasalo M, Orstavik D. Survival of *Enterococcus faecalis* in infected dentinal tubules after root canal filling with different root canal sealers in vitro. Int Endod J 2004;37:193–8.

77. Senia E, Marraro RV, Mitchell J, Lewis A, Thomas L. Rapid sterilization of gutta-percha cones with 5.25% sodium hypochlorite. J Endod 1975;1:136 – 40.

78. Shipper G, Orstavik D, Teixeira F, Trope M. An evaluation of microbial leakage in roots filled with a thermoplastic synthetic polymer-based root canal filling material (Resilon). J Endod 2004;30:342–7.

79. Ray H, Trope M. Periapical status of endodontically treated teeth in relation to the technical quality of the root filling and the coronal restoration. Int Endod J 1995;28:12–8.

Experimental part

The purpose of the present thesis was to evaluate/correlate different aspects of the endodontic treatment in order to shed some light on the influence of microorganisms disinfection during root canal treatment.

Chapter 5

Final Rinse Optimization: Influence of Different Agitation Protocols

5.1 Introduction

Microorganisms and their end products are considered the main causes of pulp and periapical diseases (1), and their elimination by biomechanical procedures is crucial (2). Organic residues and bacteria located within the dentin tubules cannot be properly cleaned because of the anatomic complexities of many root canals, even after meticulous mechanical instrumentation and is a major concern for the clinical outcome (3).

Among currently used solutions, sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl) appears to satisfy most of the requirements for a root canal irrigant (4). It has the unique capacity to dissolve necrotic tissue (5) and the organic components of the smear layer (6). It also kills sessile endodontic pathogens organized in biofilms and in dentinal tubules as efficiently as chlorhexidine or iodine at a comparable concentration (7). It inactivates endotoxins (8) and also disintegrates endodontic biofilms (9, 10).

The application time of NaOCl solution is a factor that has gained little attention in endodontic studies. Even fast-acting biocides such as NaOCl require an adequate working time to reach their full potential (11). Because rotary root canal preparation techniques have expedited the

shaping process, the optimal time that NaOCl at a given concentration needs to remain in the canal system is an issue yet to be resolved.

Apart from contact time, the mode of application is a matter of concern for clinicians. Moorer and Wesselink (12) opined that mechanical agitation or fluid flow was more important in the ability of NaOCl to dissolve tissue than the initial percentage of available active chlorine. The use of an irrigant in conjunction with ultrasonic vibration is directly associated with the cleaning effectiveness of the canal space (13, 14). This could reduce the time needed for the antimicrobial efficacy of the irrigating solution.

Different techniques have been proposed for the final rinsing step to reduce the time needed for an irrigant to be effective. Huang et al (15) showed that agitation of a canal irrigant using hand files or irrigation needles could significantly remove more test album medium or allow better apical irrigant replacement. In addition, manual dynamic irrigation (push-pull agitation) with a well-fitting gutta-percha point can improve the penetration and exchange of irrigant at the apical level (16). The use of a plastic file in conjunction with sonic and ultrasonic devices has also been tested. However, a recent Cochrane review (17) revealed insufficient evidence on ultrasonic instrumentation effectiveness either when it is used alone or in conjunction with hand instrumentation (18–20).

Alizarin red is a fluorescent organic compound used in biomorphologic assays for quantifying the presence of calcific depositions (21). The purpose of this study was to assess the penetration of 5% NaOCl labeled with 0.2% alizarin red into dentinal tubules when used in root canals with different agitation protocols. The null hypothesis tested was that there is no difference in irrigant penetration using different agitation protocols.

5.2 Materials and Methods

Fifty-six recently extracted human single-rooted teeth with a straight single canal were selected for the study under a protocol approved by the University of Siena (Italy). Exclusion criteria were as follows: teeth shorter than 20 mm; apex larger than #25 before instrumentation; and presence of caries, root fissures, or fractures. All teeth were stored in saline at 4°C and used within 1 month after extraction.

To standardize canal instrumentation, crowns were removed by cutting the teeth 2 mm above the cementoenamel junction using a slow-speed Isomet saw (Buehler, Lake Bluff, IL) under copious water cooling. A size 10 K-type file was inserted into each canal until it was seen through the apical foramen. The working length was established by reducing this length by 0.5 mm.

The canals were shaped with nickel-titanium rotary instruments (FlexMaster, VDW, Munich, Germany). A size 40, 0.06 taper was the last file used at the working length. Irrigation with 5% NaOCl was performed during instrumentation using a syringe with a 30-G needle (Perio/Endo Irrigation Needle, Biaggio, Switzerland). Smear layer removal was achieved after irrigation with 3 mL of 17% EDTA for 2 minutes followed by 3 mL of sterile saline. The teeth were randomly divided into seven groups (N = 8 for each group). The exterior part of the apical third of each root was covered with wax to prevent irrigant from dripping through the apical foramen. This was done after placing a calibrated FineMedium guttapercha cone at the working length in order to avoid wax intrusion into the apex. The cone was removed after the wax had set.

A final rinse of each canal was performed by using 5 mL of 5% NaOCl labeled with 0.2% alizarin red using the 30-G endodontic needle at 5 mm from the working length. To standardize the procedures for all teeth, a flux of 1 mL/30 seconds was used for 90 seconds. The following Basic Research Technology

groups had a different agitation procedure during the final rinse: (1) control group: no agitation (NaOCl with Alizarin red without activation), (2) K-file group: agitation with a size 10 K-file (20 up and down movements to the working length at a frequency of 3 per second), gutta-percha group: agitation with a fine medium gutta-percha cone (20 up and down movements to the working length at a frequency of 3 per second), (3) EndoActivator group: agitation with a sonic device (EndoActivator; Advanced Endodontics, Santa Barbara, CA) 10,000 cpm for 20 seconds, (4) Plastic Endo group: agitation with F-file (Plastic Endo LLC, Lincoln-shire, IL) for 30 seconds at 500 rpm to 1 mm from the working length, (5) Satelec group: agitation with Passive Ultrasonic IrriSafe Satelec (Acteongroup, Merignac, France) with power setting at 5 for 20 seconds, and (6) EMS group: agitation with Passive Ultrasonic ESI File (EMS, Nyon, Switzerland) with power setting at 5 for 20 seconds at 1 mm from the working length.

After drying the canal with paper points, each specimen was cut into three 1-mm thick slabs at 1, 3, and 5 mm from the apex. Slabs were then bonded onto glass slides and ground with wet silicon carbide papers to approximately 40-mm thick. The slides were examined with a fluorescence light microscope (Nikon Eclipse; Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) at 100X with a wavelength of 540 to 570 nm. If the whole canal could not fit completely in one image, two or more partial images were taken to produce a montage using Adobe Photoshop CS3 (Adobe Systems Italia S.r.l, Milan, Italy). Images from all specimens were evaluated by two blinded operators. In the case of disagreement between the operators, the lower score was assigned. The following set of scores was used to assess the penetration of the irrigant solution into the dentinal tubules (Fig. 1A): "0" = no visible alizarin red, "1" = minor traces of alizarin red, "2" = traces of alizarin red along the whole intraradicular surface of the canal, "3" = penetration of alizarin red in <50% of the dentinal tubules, and "4" = penetration of alizarin red in >50% of the tubules.



Figure 1. (A) Dye penetration scores based on the extent of fluorescence observed from dentinal tubules. "0": no visible alizarin red, "1": minor (incomplete) traces of alizarin red along the surface of the canal wall, "2": traces of alizarin red along the entire circumference of the canal wall, "3": penetration of alizarin red in less than 50% of the dentinal tubules, and "4": penetration of alizarin red in more than 50% of the dentinal tubules. (B) A representative example of fluorescence exhibited by group 7 at 1 mm from the apex. Evidence of alizarin red could be identified from the entire canal wall circumference and with penetration of the fluorescence exhibited by group 4 at 1 mm from the apex. Traces of alizarin red could be partially identified along the canal wall circumference, with partial penetration into the dentinal tubules.

Additional specimens were prepared as controls as follows: (1) negative control: without adding 0.2% alizarin red to the final rinse solution and (2) positive control: 1-mm thick slabs were immersed in 0.2% alizarin red for 10 minutes to investigate dye uptake pattern. Statistical analysis was performed by using Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance followed by Dunn's multiple comparison tests to reveal differences among the groups at a = 0.05. Data were investigated either pooled together or separately with respect to the distance from the apex.

5.3 Results

Statistically significant differences were found among groups in relation to the agitation mode. For the entire canal, groups were ranked in the following order: control = K-file = guttapercha < EndoActivator = Plastic Endo < Satelec = EMS Group (Table 1, p < 0.05). For different sections of the canal space, the distance from the apex (1, 3, and 5 mm) did not influence alizarin red penetration within each group (p > 0.05).

Analysis of the irrigant agitation modes at different locations revealed that at 1 mm from the root apex, the EMS group exhibited the highest score (Fig. 1B) and was significantly different (p < 0.001) from the control, K-file, gutta-percha, EndoActivator, and Plastic Endo groups (Fig. 1C). There was no difference between the Satelec groups and the EMS group (Table 2). At 3 and 5 mm from the root apex, the Plastic Endo, Satelec, and EMS groups yielded similar scores that were significantly higher than the other groups (p < 0.001). No fluorescence was found in negative controls, whereas the intense presence of dye tracing within dentinal tubules was recorded in positive controls.

Group*	Ν	Median	25%	75%	p value
1 (control) ^c	24	1.0	0	1.0	< 0.001
2 (K-file) ^{b,c}	24	1.0	1.0	1.0	
3 (gutta-percha) ^{b,c}	24	1.0	1.0	1.0	
4 (Plastic Endo) ^{b,c}	24	1.0	1.0	1.0	
5 (EndoActivator) ^b	24	1.5	1.0	2.0	
6 (Satelec) ^a	24	3.0	3.0	4.0	
7 (EMS) ^a	24	4.0	3.0	4.0	

TABLE 1. Summary of Median Scores when the Dye Penetration Scores Derived from the Coronal, Middle, and Apical Thirds of the Canal Walls Were Pooled Together

*Groups with the same superscripts are not statistically significant (p > 0.05).

Group	Ν	Median	25%	75%	p value
		1 mm			
Control	8	0.0	0.0	1.0	<0.001
K-file ^c	8	1.0	0.5	1.0	
Gutta-percha ^{b,c}	8	1.0	1.0	1.0	
Plastic Endo ^{b, c}	8	1.0	1.0	1.0	
EndoActivator ^{b,c}	8	1.0	1.0	1.0	
Satelec ^{a, b}	8	3.0	3.0	3.5	
EMS 7 ^a	8	4.0	3.0	4.0	
		3 m m			
Control ^b	8	1.0	0.5	1.0	< 0.001
K-file 2 ^b	8	1.0	1.0	1.0	
Gutta-percha 3 ^b	8	1.0	1.0	1.0	
Plastic Endo ^b	8	1.0	1.0	1.0	
EndoActivator ^{a,b}	8	2.0	1.0	2.0	
Satelec ^a	8	3.0	3.0	4.0	
EMS ^a	8	4.0	3.0	4.0	
		5 mm			
Control ^b	8	1.0	0.5	1.0	<0.001
K-File ^b	8	1.0	1.0	2.0	
Gutta-percha ^b	8	1.0	1.0	2.0	
Plastic Endo ^b	8	1.0	1.0	1.5	
EndoActivator ^{a,b}	8	2.0	1.5	2.0	
Satelec ^a	8	3.5	3.0	4.0	
EMS ^a	8	4.0	3.5	4.0	

TABLE 2. Median Scores at 1, 3, and 5 mm from the Root Apex

Group 1, control; group 2, K-file; group 3, gutta-percha; group 4, Plastic Endo; Group 5, EndoActivator; group 6, Satelec; and group 7, EMS.

^{a.b.c}Groups with the same superscripts are not statistically significant (p > 0.05).

5.4 Discussion

Although mechanical instrumentation reduces bacteria from human root canals by approximately 50%, disinfecting irrigants are needed to eliminate the microbiota in locations where instruments cannot access (22–24). Although NaOCl is an effective disinfectant when it comes into direct contact with bacteria biofilms, it produced clean and debris-free dentin surfaces only in the coronal and middle thirds but not in the apical third of the canal wall when used in conjunction with nickel-titanium instruments (25). Consequently, different irrigant agitation techniques have been proposed to increase the efficacy of the irrigant solutions. Some of these techniques include manual agitation with hand files, manual agitation with gutta-percha cones, mechanical agitation with plastic instruments, and sonic and ultrasonic agitation (26).

In this study, alizarin red was used to label NaOCl. Because the validity of this methodology was confirmed with the control group, the protocol was used for investigating the penetration of the dye-labeled NaOCl within the root canal space after different final rinsing procedures. Tracing of NaOCl penetration into dentinal tubules with fluorescence microscopy enabled us to evaluate the effect of irrigant agitation techniques on irrigant penetration within the apical 1- to 5-mm region of the canal space. Additional studies should investigate the optimal concentration of the NaOCl to kill bacteria and deproteinize organic tissues without extracting collagen from the mineralized radicular dentin (27).

The null hypothesis tested was rejected because differences were found in irrigant penetration using different agitation protocols. Passive ultrasonic irrigation (28) improves the efficacy of irrigating solutions in removing organic and inorganic debris from root canal walls (29, 30). The term passive does not adequately describe the process because it is in fact active; however, when it was first introduced the term passive related to the "noncutting" action of the ultrasonically activated file. The technique relies on the transmission of acoustic energy from an oscillating file or smooth wire to an irrigant in the canal space. The energy is transmitted by means of ultrasonic waves and can induce acoustic streaming of the irrigant (31–33). A possible explanation for the improved irrigant penetration into those nonsclerotic tubules within the apical third of the canal wall is the better current flow and increased irrigant volume (34) associated with ultrasonic agitation.

Because a vapor lock exists in the apical third of the canal (35, 36) when the apical foramen is sealed with wax, it is prudent to elaborate on why better dye penetration was observed in the ultrasonic groups. Using a control and an experimental balanced design to compare the effect

of vapor lock on the efficacy of canal debridement from the apical 0 to 2 mm of the canal walls, we recently observed that the use of NaOCl and EDTA was able to remove smear layers from that region irrespective of the presence or absence of a vapor lock (ie, same "smear score"). However, canals that simulated the presence of a vapor lock exhibited a significantly higher "debris score" compared with those simulating the absence of a vapor lock (37). Because this study examined only dye penetration into dentinal tubules (ie, smear layer removal), it is understandable that the ultrasonic agitation techniques produce better results. Further studies should be conducted to examine the effect of different agitation techniques on the "debris score." A novel way in accomplishing this objective is to stain soft-tissue debris with phosphotungstic acid so that both hard and soft tissue debris can be simultaneously evaluated by high contrast threedimensional imaging using microcomputed tomography. Investigations with this technique are in order.

References

1. Grossman LI, Meinmamn BW. Solution of pulp tissue by chemical agents. J Am Dent Assoc 1941;8:223–5.

2. Harrison J. Irrigation of the root canal system. Dent Clin North Am 1984;28:797–8.

3. Peters OA. Current challenges and concepts in the preparation of root canal systems: a review. J Endod 2004;30:559–67.

4. Zehnder M. Root canal irrigants review. J Endod 2006;32:389–98.

5. Naenni N, Thoma K, Zehnder M. Soft tissue dissolution capacity of currently used and potential endodontic irrigants. J Endod 2004;30:785–7.

6. Haikel Y, Gorce F, Allemann C, et al. In vitro efficiency of endodontic irrigation solutions on protein desorption. Int Endod J 1994;27:16–20.

7. Spratt DA, Pratten J, Wilson M, et al. An in vitro evaluation of the antimicrobial efficacy of irrigants on biofilms of root canal isolates. Int Endod J 2001;34:300–7.

8. Sarbinoff JA, O'Leary TJ, Miller CH. The comparative effectiveness of various agents in detoxifying diseased root surfaces. J Periodontol 1983;54:77–80.

9. Clegg MS, Vertucci FJ, Walker C, et al. The effect of exposure to irrigant solutions on apical dentin biofilms in vitro. J Endod 2006;32:434–7.

10. Dunavant TR, Regan JD, Glickman GN, et al. Comparative evaluation of endodontic irrigants against Enterococcus faecalis biofilms. J Endod 2006;32:527–31.

11. McDonnell G, Russell AD. Antiseptics and disinfectants: activity, action, and resistance. Clin Microbiol Rev 1999;12:147–79.

12. Moorer WR, Wesselink PR. Factors promoting the tissue dissolving capability of sodium hypochlorite. Int Endod J 1982;5:187–96.

13. Baumgartner JC, Cuenin PR. Efficacy of several concentrations of sodium hypochlorite for root canal irrigation. J Endod 1992;8:605–12.

14. Gu LS, Kim JR, Ling J, et al. Review of contemporary irrigant agitation techniques and

devices. J Endod 2009;35:791-804.

15. Huang TY, Gulabivala K, Ng YL. A bio-molecular film ex-vivo model to evaluate the influence of canal dimensions and irrigation variables on the efficacy of irrigation. Int Endod J 2008;41:60–71.

16. McGill S, Gulabivala K, Mordan N, et al. The efficacy of dynamic irrigation using a commercially available system (RinsEndo) determined by removal of a collagen 'bio-molecular film' from an ex vivo model. Int Endod J 2008;41:602–8.

17. Pedrazzi V, Oliveira-Neto JM, Sepueira P, et al. Hand and ultrasonic instrumentation for orthograde root canal treatment of permanent teeth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2008;8:CD006384.

18. Chopra S, Murray PE, Namerow KN. A scanning electron microscopic evaluation of the effectiveness of the F-file versus ultrasonic activation of a K-file to remove smear layer. J Endod 2008;34:1243–5. Basic Research—Technology

19. Jensen SA, Walker TL, Huttler JW, et al. Comparison of the cleaning efficacy of passive sonic activation and passive ultrasonic activation after hand instrumentation in molar root canals. J Endod 1999;25:735–8.

20. van der Sluis LW, Versluis M, Wu MK, et al. Passive ultrasonic irrigation of the root canal: a review of the literature. Int Endod J 2007;40:415–26.

21. Shoji K. Alizarin red S staining of calcium compound crystals in synovial fluid. Nip- pon Seikeigeka Gakkai Zasshi 1993;67:201–10.

22. Dalton DC, Ørstavik D, Phillips C, et al. Bacterial reduction with nickel titanium instrumentation. Int Endod J 1998;24:763–7.

23. Ciucchi B, Khettabi M, Holz J. The effectiveness of different endodontic irrigation procedures on the removal of the smear layer: a scanning electron microscopic study. Int Endod J 1989;22:21–8.

24. Zehnder M, Schmidlin P, Sener B, et al. Chelation in root canal therapy reconsid- ered. J Endod 2005;31:817–20.

25. Foschi F, Nucci C, Montebugnoli L, et al. SEM evaluation of canal wall dentine following use of MTwo and ProTaper NiTi rotary instruments. Int Endod J 2004; 37:832–9.

26. Gu LS, Kim JR, Ling J, et al. Review of contemporary irrigant agitation techniques and devices. J Endod 2009;35:791–804.

27. Zhang Z, Kim YK, Cadenaro M, et al. Effects of different exposure times and concentrations of sodium hypochlorite/ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid on the structural integrity of mineralized dentin. J Endod 2010; accepted for publication.

28. Weller RN, Brady JM, Bernier WE. Efficacy of ultrasonic cleaning. J Endod 1980;6: 740–3.

29. Lee SJ, Wu MK, Wesselink PR. The effectiveness of syringe irrigation and ultrasonics to remove debris from simulated irregularities within prepared root canal walls. Int Endod J 2004;37:672–8.

30. Townsend C, Maki J. An in vitro comparison of new irrigation and agitation tech- niques to ultrasonic agitation in removing bacteria from a simulated root canal. J Endod 2009;35:1040–
3.

31. Ahmad M, Pitt Ford TR, Crum LA. Ultrasonic debridement of root canals: acoustic streaming and its possible role. J Endod 1987;14:490–9.

32. Ahmad M, Pitt Ford TR, Crum LA. Ultrasonic debridement of root canals: an insight into the mechanism involved. J Endod 1987;13:93–100.

33. Ahmad M, Pitt Ford TR, Crum LA, et al. Ultrasonic debridement of root canals: acoustic cavitation and its relevance. J Endod 1988;14:486–93.

34. de Gregorio C, Estevez R, Cisneros R, et al. Effect of EDTA, sonic, and ultrasonic activation on the penetration of sodium hypochlorite into simulated lateral canals: an in vitro study. J Endod 2009;35:891–5.

35. Senia ES, Marshall FJ, Rosen S. The solvent action of sodium hypochlorite on pulp tissue of extracted teeth. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1971;31: 96–103.

36. Pesse AV, Warrier GR, Dhir VK. An experimental study of the gas entrapment process in closedend microchannels. Int J Heat Mass Transfer 2005;48: 5150–65.

37. Tay FR, Gu L-S, Schoeffel JG, et al. The effect of vapor lock on root canal debridement using a side-vented needle for positive pressure irrigant delivery. J Endod 2010; accepted for publication.

Chapter 6

Comparison of smear layer removal using four final-rinse protocols

6.1 Introduction

The main purpose of root canal therapy in infected teeth is the elimination of debris, toxins and microorganisms by chemomechanical preparation. However, even after cleaning and shaping, total sterilization of the root canal system remains difficult to achieve (1). Studies have shown that mechanical instrumentation of root canals implies the formation of a smear layer covering the dentinal walls (2) and containing both inorganic and organic materials (2). The presence of the smear layer may considerably delay or prevent the penetration of antimicrobial agents, such as endodontic irrigants and intracanal medications, into the dentinal tubules (3), as well as interfere with the adhesion of root canal sealers to the root canal walls, thus compromising the quality of the root canal filling (4).

Keeping or removing the smear layer is a highly controversial subject. Nevertheless, it seems that the smear layer itself may be infected and may harbor bacteria within the dentinal tubules (5). This is significant in teeth with infected root canal system where the outcome of the endodontic treatment depends on the elimination of bacteria and their byproducts from the root canal system. In these cases at least, removing the smear layer appears to be of importance (6).

For effective removal of both organic and inorganic components of the smear layer, combined application of sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl) and a chelating agent, such as ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), is recommended (7). The combination of these substances is capable of removing the smear layer, mainly from the middle and cervical thirds (8). However, the application of EDTA for more than 1 minute (9,10) and in volume more than 1 ml (9,10,11) has been reported to be associated with dentinal erosion. It is also noteworthy that chemical interactions between NaOCl and EDTA should be taken into account. Mixing them caused a complete loss of free available chlorine from NaOCl in less than one minute (7). This suggests that in an alternating irrigating regimen, copious amounts of hypochlorite should be administered to rinse out chelator remnants and allow the NaOCl to develop its antimicrobial and tissue dissolving potential. However, the interaction between NaOCl and EDTA makes usage of this two component difficult (12).

In 2003, Torabinejad (9) proposed the use of an irrigant to be used in association with 1.3% NaOCl to remove smear layer from canal walls and facilitate the elimination microorganism from infected dentin (13). This irrigant (MTAD, Dentsply Tulsa Dental, Johnson City, TN USA) is a solution containing a mixture of an antibiotic (doxycycline), an acid (citric acid), and a detergent (Tween-80). Citric acid works as a chelating agent in association with the lower chelating action of the antibiotic, while surfactant is able to facilitate the penetration of the solution into the root canal system. While Shabahang and Torabinejad (13) demonstrated the efficacy of this solution, other studies have shown several important limits. Tay et al. (14) demonstrated that the solution was more aggressive against intertubular dentin, leading to a reduction of collagenic matrix exposed. A new irrigant, Tetraclean (Ogna Laboratori Farmaceutici, Milano, Italy), has been developed containing a mixture of a tetracycline isomer, an acid and 2 detergents. It is recommended to be used as a final rinse after root canal preparation (15). It is similar to MTAD but with a reduced amount of doxicycline (50mg/5ml instead of 150mg/5ml for MTAD), with polypropylene glycol (a surfactant), citric acid, and cetrimide. This substance is supposedly capable of eliminating all bacteria and smear layer from the root canal system when used as a final irrigation.

This study aimed to compare the efficacy of Tetraclean and 17% EDTA in the removal of smear layer from the coronal, middle and apical thirds of instrumented root canals. The null-hypothesis tested was that there are no statistically significant differences between different protocols for smear layer removal.

6.2 Materials and Methods

Sample preparation

Forty human single-rooted teeth with a straight single canal recently extracted for periodontal reasons were selected for the study under a protocol approved by the local ethical committee. Exclusion criteria were: teeth shorter than 20 mm, apex larger than #25 before instrumentation, presence of caries, root fissures or fractures. All teeth were stored in saline at 4°C and used within one month after extraction.

To standardize canal instrumentation, crowns were removed by cutting the teeth 12 mm above the apex, using a water-cooled slow-speed Isomet saw (Buehler, Lake Bluff, IL). Size 10

K-file was inserted into each canal until it was seen through the apical foramen. The working length was established by reducing this length by 0.5 mm. The canals were shaped with nickel-titanium rotary instruments (FlexMaster, VDW, Munich, Germany). Size 30/.06 taper was the last file used at the working length. Irrigation with 5% NaOCl (Niclor 5 Dentale, Ogna, Muggio', MI) was performed during instrumentation using a syringe with a 30-gauge needle (Perio/Endo Irrigation Needle, Biaggio, Switzerland), and the teeth were then randomly divided into four groups (N=10). The exterior part of the apical third of each root was covered with sticky wax to prevent irrigants from dripping through the apical foramen. This was done after placing a calibrated Fine-Medium guttapercha cone (Mynol Curaden Healthcare SRL, Saronno, VA) at the working length in order to avoid wax intrusion into the apex and the cone was removed after the wax had set.

After instrumentation, each group of teeth underwent a specific final irrigation protocol. For group 1 (control), 5% NaOCl was used (3ml); for group 2 (EDTA), 17% \EDTA (3ml, Ogna, Muggio', Milano, Italy) was used for 1 minute followed by 5% NaOCl (3ml); for group 3 (Tetraclean liquid, polypropylene glycol and citric acid), the liquid component of Tetraclean was used for 1 minute (3ml), followed by 5% NaOCl (3ml); and for group 4 (Tetraclean), Tetraclean (powder+liquid, 3ml, polypropylene glycol, citric acid and Doxycycline 50 mg/5 ml) was used for 1 minute followed by 5% NaOCl (3ml). The solutions were introduced into the root canals using a 30-gauge needle (Miraject, Hager Werken, Duisburg, Germany), which penetrated to 1-2 mm of the working length. The root canals were then irrigated with 5ml of distilled water and dried with paper points.

SEM observations

Two longitudinal grooves confined to dentin were prepared on the buccal and lingual surfaces of each root using a diamond disc. The roots were then immersed for 30 seconds in a bowl containing liquid nitrogen, which was sufficient for most of them to generate a separation of the two root halves, otherwise a chisel was introduced into the grooves to separate the two root halves. For each root, the half containing the most visible part of the apex was conserved and coded. The coded specimens were then mounted on metallic stubs, gold sputtered, and examined using a scanning electron microscope (SEM JSM-6060LV, JEOL, Tokyo, Japan). Pictures taken at 500X and 1000X were used to evaluate the coronal (10 mm from apex), middle (6 mm from apex), and apical (2 mm from apex) levels of each specimen. The amount of smear layer remaining on the surface of the root canal or in the dentinal tubules was scored

according to the following criteria (7): no smear layer on the surface of the root canals, all tubules were clean and open (score 1); no smear layer was observed on the surface of root canal, but tubules contained debris (score 2); and smear layer covering the entrances of the tubules (score 3) (figure 1). Approximately 250 scanning electron microscopy photomicrographs were scored by two expert endodontists who were unaware of the coding system in order to exclude observer bias. In the case of disagreement between the operators, the higher score was assigned.

Statistical analysis was performed using Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance followed by Dunn's multiple comparison tests to reveal differences among the groups at p<0.05.



Figure 1: SEM MICROGRAPHS SCORE 1 = No smear layer. No smear layer on the surface of the root canals; all tubules were dean and open; 2 = Moderate smear layer. No smear layer was observed on the surface of root canal, but tubules contained debris; and 3 = Heavy smear layer. Smear layer covered the root canal surface and the tubules.

6.3 Results

One specimen in the control group and one in group 3 were excluded from the study because the canals had been perforated by the disc during the preparation for SEM evaluation. Statistically significant differences were found among the groups in relation to the irrigant used. When the levels were compounded, groups were ranked in the following order: $1>2\ge3=4$ (p<0.05). For different sections of the canal space, the distance from the apex (2, 6 and 10 mm) influenced the smear layer removal within each group (p<0.05).

Analysis of the smear layer removal at different locations revealed that at 10 mm from the apex, the control group showed the highest score without significant differences with group 2. Groups 3 and 4 revealed the lowest scores (p<0.05). At 6 mm the result obtained were similar to those at 10 mm but group 4 performed significantly better than group 2 (fig.2) (p<0.05). At 2 mm from the apex the control group showed the highest score with a statistical significant difference with all the other groups (p<0.05).



Figure 2: SEM micrographs representing different smear layer removal ability at 6 mm from the apex between group 1 and 4.

6.4 Discussion

The null-hypothesis tested in the study had to be rejected since there were statistical differences between the smear layer removal ability of the different irrigation protocols.

In the present study, 3ml of chelating solutions were used. There is no agreement in the literature concerning the volume of chelating agent or the contact time required in final rinse protocols. (7,9,11) EDTA and Tetraclean were not used according to usually recommended durations but according to experimental ones. As it has been shown that EDTA is effective in removing smear layer without affecting intra and peritubular dentin (11) 1min application of EDTA was chosen as protocol, and tetraclean application time was mirrored to that of EDTA. It is noteworthy that different application times might yield different results.

The results of the present study are in accordance with other studies showing that NaOCl is not effective in removing the smear layer (7,9,11) when used without a chelatant. When considering the whole root canal it was evident that the use of a chelatant was imperative for removing the smear layer. Tetraclean is a helpful solution for the removal of the smear layer when used as a final rinse ex vivo: it promotes clean canal walls, with absence of smear layer and opened dentinal tubules, without changing the structure of dentine (16). In this study, a final rinse of each canal was performed by using 3 ml of 5% NaOCl for all the experimental groups to standardize final irrigation protocols. Because this study examined only the efficacy of different protocols for smear layer removal, further studies should be conducted to examine the effect of 5% NaOCl final rinse on antimicrobial effectiveness of doxycycline component in Tetraclean and its substantivity. The liquid component of Tetraclean has been proposed for the final rinsing step, followed by 5%NaOCl (group 3), for understanding the chelating action when citric acid works with surfactants, estimating an optimal time-effect relationship for the clinical application. De Deus et al.(17) reported that demineralization kinetics promoted by 10% citric acid is faster than for 17% EDTA as demineralizing substance: real-time observation of the demineralization process in radicular dentine 17% EDTA promoted much weaker demineralization and caused less peritubular and intertubular dentine erosion when compared with 10% citric acid. The association of a powder and a liquid (group 4) is even more effective in cleaning the root canal walls. This is possibly due to the presence of an antibiotic with chelating action in the powder. Doxycycline has been used in periodontal treatments because of its antibacterial and chelating ability as well as its substantivity (18). Barkhordar et al (19) and Haznedaeroglu and Ersev (20) recommended

the use of tetracycline hydrochloride to remove the smear layer from the surface of instrumented canals and root-end cavity preparations.

At 6 mm from the apex, groups 2 and 3 gave better results than control group, and group 4 revealed statistically significant differences with all the other groups: this can be explained by the addition of a powder containing a tetracycline isomer which has a chelating action and improves the penetration ability of the solution into this narrow region of the root canal. However at 2 mm from the apex, groups 2, 3 and 4 were not statistically different, and gave lower scores when compared to the control group. At this level, the presence of the surfactant agent should have improved the penetration of the solution into dentinal tubules however, no significant differences were detected. Although images from groups 4 revealed better smear layer removal than group 2, the sample size was probably too small to allow detection of differences between these groups. The current study showed that the process of smear layer removal was more efficient in the coronal and middle thirds than in the apical third of the canals. This finding is in agreement with the results of various studies that have shown an effective cleaning action in the coronal and middle thirds of the canals even when different irrigation times and volumes of solutions were investigated (7). A larger canal diameter in the coronal and middle thirds exposes the dentin to a higher volume of irrigants, allowing a better flow of the solution and, hence, further improving the efficiency of smear layer removal (7). Consequently, it is important to use other methods, such as ultrasonic devices, for improving the efficiency of low-volume chelating agents used for a short application time (22). From another standpoint, Mancini et al (21) showed that the apical third is always the least cleaned as it is likely to receive less volume of irrigant when compared to the more coronal portion of the canal. In a recent study Poggio et al (16) investigating by SEM image analysis the endodontic dentinal surfaces after canal shaping with Ni- Ti instruments and irrigating with 5.25% NaOCl + different irrigating solutions as final rinse showed that NaOCl+Tetraclean group had significantly lower scores than other groups were in accordance with present study.

It is evident that increasing the instrument taper will allow a deeper penetration of the irrigation needle and improve the flushing of debris (23). Shuping et al (24) found a better antibacterial effect using nickel-titanium (NiTi) instrumentation when NaOCl was used, but only after instrumentation exceeded ISO size #30 to #35. To overcome the potential limited irrigation in the apical area, enlargement of this area has been advocated for better cleansing (25). For this reason it was decided to prepare the apical foramen of the samples to #30 in

order to be able to compare the outcome of the present study with other studies in literature.

It is noteworthy that when an antibiotic is included in the formulation of the irrigant, the possibility of increasing the microbial resistance to that antibiotic should be taken into account. Several mechanisms including oxygen limitation, antibiotic penetration, and the presence of a small subpopulation of 'persister' cells, could be responsible of antiobiotic susceptibilities (26).

Therefore it can be concluded, within the limitation of this ex-vivo study, that the use of a chelating agent leads to a higher removal of smear layer from the root canal walls. Differences between EDTA and Tetraclean were only evident at 6 mm from the apex, whereas at 2 mm both protocols had similar performances in smear layer removal from the root canal system of single-rooted permanent teeth.

References

1. Byström A, Sundqvist G. The antibacterial action of sodium hypochlorite and EDTA in 60 cases of endodontic therapy. Int Endod J 1985;18:35-40.

2. McComb D, Smith DC. A preliminary scanning electron microscopic study of root canals after endodontic procedures. J Endod 1975;1:238–42.

3. Lynne RE, Liewehr FR, West LA, Patton WR, Buxton TB, McPherson JC. In vitro antimicrobial activity of various medication preparations on E. faecalis in root canal dentin. J Endod 2003;29:187–90.

4. Economides N, Liolios E, Kolokuris I, Beltes P. Long-term evaluation of the influence of smear layer removal on the sealing ability of different sealers. J Endod 1999;25:123–5.

5. Torabinejad M, Handysides R, Khademi AA, Bakland LK. Clinical implications of the smear layer in endodontics: a review. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2002;94:658–66.

6. Clark-Holke D, Drake D, Walton R, Rivera E, Guthmiller JM. Bacterial penetration through canals of endodontically treated teeth in the presence or absence of the smear layer. J Dent 2003;31:275–81.

7. Torabinejad M, Khademi AA, Babagoli J, et al. A new solution for the removal of the smear layer. J Endod 2003;29:170 –5.

8. Yamashita JC, Tanomaru Filho M, Leonardo MR, Rossi MA, Silva LA. Scanning electron microscopic study of the cleaning ability of chlorhexidine as a root-canal irrigant. Int Endod J 2003;36:391–4.

9. Torabinejad M, Khademi AA, Babagoli J, et al. A new solution for the removal of the smear layer. J Endod 2003;29:170 –5.

10.Tay FR, Gutmann JL, Pashley DH. Microporous, demineralized collagen matrices in intact radicular dentin created by commonly used calcium-depleting endodontic irrigants. J Endod 2007;33:1086 –90.

11. Calt S, Serper A Time-dependent effects of EDTA on dentin structures. J Endod. 2002

Jan;28(1):17-9.

12. Zehnder M, Schmidlin P, Sener B, Waltimo T. Chelation inRoot Canal Therapy Reconsidered. J Endod 2005; 31: 817-820.

13.Shabahang S, Torabinejad M. Effects of MTAD on Enterococcus Faecalis–contaminated root canals of extracted human teeth. J Endod 2003; 29: 576-9.

14. Tay F, Pashley DH, Loushine RJ, Doyle MD, Gillespie WT, Weller RN. Ultrastructure of smear layer – covered intraradicular dentin after irrigation with BioPure MTAD. J Endod 2006; 32(3): 218-21

15. Giardino L, Ambu E, Becce C, Rimondini L, Morra M. Surface tension comparison of four common root canal irrigants and two new irrigants containing antibiotic. J Endod. 2006; 32: 1091-3.

16. Poggio C, Dagna A, Chiesa M, Bianchi S, Arciola CR, Visai L, Giardino L. SEM evaluation of the root canal walls after treatment with Tetraclean. Int J Artif Organs. 2010 Sep;33(9):660-6.

17. G. De-Deus, S. Paciornik, M. H. Pinho Mauricio & R. Prioli. Real-time atomic force microscopy of root dentine during demineralization when subjected to chelating agents Int Endod J2006;39,683–692,

18. Genco R, Singh S, Krygier G, Levine M. Use of tetracycline in the treatment of adult periodontitis. I. Clinical studies [Abstract]. J Dent Res 1978;57:266.

19. Barkhordar RA, Watanabe LG, Marshall GW, Hussain, MZ. Removal of intracanal smear by doxycycline in vitro. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1997;84:420– 3.

20. Haznedaeroglu F, Ersev H. Tetracycline HCl solution as a root canal irrigant. J Endodon 2001;27:738–40.

21. Mancini M, Armellin E, Casaglia A, Cerroni L, Cianconi L. A comparative study of smear layer removal and erosion in apical intraradicular dentine with three irrigating solutions: a scanning electron microscopy evaluation J Endod. 2009 Jun;35(6):900-3.

22. Lui JN, Kuah HG, Chen NN. Effect of EDTA with and without surfactants or ultrasonics on removal of smear layer. J Endod 2007;33:472–5.

23. Albrecht LJ, Baumgartner JC, Marshall JG. Evaluation of apical debris removal using various sizes and tapers of ProFile GT files. J Endod. 2004 Jun;30(6):425-8.

24. Shuping G, Ørstavik D, Sigurdsson A, Trope M. Reduction of intracanal bacteria using nickel-titanium rotary instrumentation and various medications. J Endod 2000;26:751–5.

25. Ørstavik D, Kerekes K, Molven O. Effects of extensive apical reaming and calcium hydroxide dressing on bacterial infection during treatment of apical periodontitis: a pilot study. Int Endod J 1991;24:1–7.

26. Siqueira JF. Endodontic infections: concepts, paradigms, and perspectives. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 2002;94:281-293.

Chapter 7

Influence of surfactant and PUI on the effectiveness of NaOCl for final rinse optimization

7.1 Introduction

The elimination of microorganisms from infected root canal systems (RCS) is a complex task involving the use of various instrumentation techniques, irrigation regimens and intracanal medicaments. Obtaining a bacteria-free root canal system is difficult mainly due to the complex anatomy of the root canal system (1). In fact, ex vivo and clinical evidence has shown that mechanical instrumentation leaves significant areas of the root canal walls untouched (2) and complete elimination of bacteria by instrumentation alone is thus unlikely to occur (3). Therefore chemical disinfection using irrigation is necessary to remove residual tissues and to kill microorganisms. Among currently used solutions, sodium hypochlorite (NaOCl) appears to satisfy most of the requirements for a root canal irrigant (4). It has the unique capacity to dissolve necrotic tissue (5) and the organic components of the smear layer (6). It also kills sessile endodontic pathogens organized in biofilms and in dentinal tubules as efficiently as chlorhexidine or iodine at a comparable concentration (7). It inactivates endotoxins (8) and also disintegrates endodontic biofilms (9,10). Despite its excellent tissue-dissolving and antimicrobial abilities, NaOCl possesses some drawbacks such as high surface tension limiting its penetration into canal irregularities or dentinal tubules. Stojicic et al (11) have shown that hypochlorite with added surface active agent had the lowest contact angle on dentin and was most effective in tissue dissolution in all experimental situations. In this spirit, a recently a new modified sodium hypochlorite solution was introduced (Hypoclean, OGNA, Laboratori Farmaceutici S.p.A. Muggiò, Italy) composed of 5.25% NaOCl and two detergents with addition of surfactant. In addition, the use of an irrigant in conjunction with ultrasonic vibration is directly associated with the cleaning effectiveness of the canal space (12,13). This could reduce the time needed for the antimicrobial efficacy of the irrigating solution. The purpose of this study was to assess the penetration of a modified sodium hypochlorite solution labelled with 0.2% alizarin red into dentinal tubules when used in root canals with PUI activation. The null hypothesis tested was that modification of the irrigant solution or PUI does not change in irrigant penetration.

7.2 Materials and Methods

Forty recently extracted human single-rooted teeth (maxillary central incisor) with a straight single canal in 35 patients 40 to 50 years old were selected for the study under a protocol approved by the University of Siena (Italy). Exclusion criteria were as follows: teeth shorter than 20 mm; apex larger than #25 before instrumentation; and presence of caries, root fissures or fractures. All teeth were stored in saline at 4°C and used within 1 month after extraction. To standardize canal instrumentation, crowns were removed by cutting the teeth 2 mm above the cementoenamel junction using a water-cooled slow-speed Isomet saw (Buehler, Waukegan Road, Lake Bluff, IL). The working length was established visually by inserting size 10 K-type file (Dentsply, Maillefer, Verger 3, Ballaigues, Switzerland) into each canal until its tip was seen at the apical foramen and reducing this length by 0.5 mm. The canals were shaped with nickel-titanium rotary instruments (FlexMaster, VDW, Munich, Germany) to size 30/.06 taper. Irrigation with 5% NaOCl was performed during instrumentation using a syringe with a 30 gauge needle (Perio/Endo Irrigation Needle, Biaggio, Switzerland) at 2 mm from the working length. Smear layer removal was achieved after irrigation with 3 mL of 17% EDTA (OGNA) for 2 minutes followed by 3mL of sterile saline. The teeth were randomly divided into four groups (n=10). The exterior part of the apical third of each root was covered with wax to prevent irrigant from dripping through the apical foramen. This was done after placing a calibrated fine medium gutta-percha cone (Mynol, Ada Products Company, Milwaukee, Wisconsin) at the working length in order to avoid wax intrusion into the apex. The cone was removed after the wax had set. A final rinse of each canal was performed by using 5 mL of 5% NaOCl (OGNA) labeled with 0.2% alizarin red using the 30 gauge endodontic needle at 2 mm from the working length for group 1 and 2, and 5 mL of Hypoclean labeled with 0.2% alizarin red using the 30-G endodontic needle at 2 mm from the working length for group 3 and 4. To standardize the procedures for all teeth, a flux of 1mL/30 seconds was used for 90 seconds. The following groups had a different agitation procedure during the final rinse: (1) control group: no agitation (NaOCl without activation), (2) NaOCl+PUI group: agitation with Passive Ultrasonic ESI File (EMS, Nyon, Switzerland) with power setting at 5 for 20 seconds at 2 mm from the working length, (3) Hypoclean group: no agitation, (4) Hypoclean +PUI group: agitation of Hypoclean with Passive

Ultrasonic ESI File (EMS, Nyon, Switzerland) with power setting at 5 for 20 seconds, at 2 mm from the working length.

After drying the canal with paper points, each specimen was cut into three 1mm thick slabs at 1, 3, and 5 mm from the apex, the thickness of the root slices was verified using a digital caliper. Slabs were then bonded onto glass slides and ground with wet silicon carbide papers to approximately 40µm thick. The slides were examined with a fluorescence light microscope (Nikon Eclipse; Nikon, Tokyo, Japan) at 100x with a wavelength of 540 to 570 nm. If the whole canal could not fit completely in one image, two or more partial images were taken to produce a montage using Adobe Photoshop CS3 (Adobe Systems Italia S.r.l, Milan, Italy). Images from all specimens were evaluated by two operators that were blinded to the procedure. In case of disagreement between the operators, the unfavorable score was assigned. The penetration of the irrigant solution into the dentinal tubules was assessed semi-quantitavely (Fig. 1): "A"= 0 = no visible penetration, "B" = 1 = minor traces of dye, "C" = 2 = superficial traces of dye on the whole periphery of the section, "D" = 3 = penetration of dye <50% of the dentinal tubules, and "E" = 4 = penetration of dye >50% of the tubules. Additional specimens were prepared as controls: negative control without adding 0.2% alizarin red to the final rinse solution and positive control: immersed in 0.2% alizarin red for 10 minutes to investigate dye uptake patterns. Statistical analysis was performed using Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance followed by Dunn's multiple comparison tests to reveal differences among groups at a=0.05. Data were investigated either pooled or separately.

Fig.1 Dye penetration scores based on the extent of fluorescence observed from dentinal tubules. "A" = (Score 0) : no visible alizarin red; "B" = (Score 1): minor (incomplete) traces of alizarin red along the surface of the canal wall; "C" = (Score 2): traces of alizarin red along the entire circumference of the canal wall; "D" = (Score 3): penetration of alizarin red in less than 50% of the dentinal tubules; "E" = (Score 4): penetration of alizarin red in more than 50% of the dentinal tubules.



7.3 Results

No fluorescence was found in negative controls, whereas the intense presence of dye tracing within dentinal tubules was recorded in positive controls. Statistically significant differences

were found among experimental groups in relation to the irrigation regimen used. When results from the 3 sections were pooled, groups ranked in the following order: control = Hypoclean < control+PUI = Hypoclean+PUI (p<0.05). When taken separately, non-PUI groups displayed similar alizarin red penetration irrespective of the distance from the apex (p>0.05). Results also revealed that at 1 mm from the root apex, the PUI groups were significantly different (p<0.001) from non PUI groups (Fig 2), however, there was no difference between PUI groups. While the control groups exhibited the lower score. At 3 and 5 mm from the root apex, both PUI groups and Hypoclean group yielded similar scores that were significantly higher than the control groups (p<0.001).

Fig.2 A representative example of fluorescence exhibited by Group 1 (A) and Group 4 (B) at 1 mm from the apex. In group 4, evidence of alizarin red could be identified from the entire canal wall circumference and with penetration of the fluorescent dye into the patent dentinal tubules. In group 1 traces of alizarin red could be partially identified along the canal wall circumference, with no penetration into the dentinal tubules.



7.4 Discussion

In this study, alizarin red was used to label NaOCl. This method was validated and used in a previous study (14). Tracing NaOCl penetration into dentinal tubules with fluorescence microscopy enabled us to evaluate the effect of chemical modifications and agitation techniques and the degree of penetration of the irrigant inside the dentinal tubules in the apical region of the root canal space. The null hypotheses tested were partially rejected because differences were found in irrigant penetration using the modified sodium hypochlorite solution without activation but no differences were found when irrigants were used in combination with PUI.

Adequate application mode and sufficient volumes are required to reduce working time in the main canals, but antimicrobial effect of NaOCl depends on its ability to reach the irregularities of root canal systems and penetrate inside dentinal tubules (5). Moreover, its wettability on solid dentin (15) is strictly correlated to its surface tension (16). The surface tension is defined as "the force between molecules that produces a tendency for the surface area of a liquid to decrease" (17). This force tends to limit the ability of the liquid to penetrate a capillary tube, which is why endodontic irrigants should have a low surface tension. It was reported that to achieve optimal wettability, the surface energy of the substrate must be as high as possible and the surface tension of the liquid contacted with substrate must be as low as possible (18,19). The spreading of root canal irrigants, therefore, appears to change depending on the properties of dentine surfaces. Dentine is composed of 2 different substrates: collagen, which has a low surface energy, and hydroxyapatite, which has a high surface energy (20). It should also be noted that when using irrigant solutions on a dentin surface is succession or alternation, the first conditioning solution will change the surface properties of the substrate and therefore affect the wettability properties of subsequent irrigating solutions (21).

By improving the wettability, an irrigant antimicrobial solution could increase its protein solvent capability and enable better activity in uninstrumented areas of the root canal system (22). Abou-Rass and Patonai (23) found that Polysorbate 80 reduced the surface tension of distilled water, NaOCl, EDTA, and alcohol by 15 to 20%, thereby enhancing the flow and penetration of the test solutions into the irregularities of the root canal system. Furthermore, Mohammadi *et al* (24) compared the antimicrobial efficacy of modified NaOCl and 5.25% NaOCl solution against *Enterococcus faecalis* in bovine root dentin *in vitro*, at all experimental periods, modified NaOCl demonstrated more effective antibacterial action than 5.25% NaOCl:

modified NaOCl group showed no bacterial growth after treatment. However, reducing the surface tension in irrigants used during instrumentation may also cause an increased penetration of smear material into the dentinal tubules: Aktener *et al* (25) indicated that a solution or an agent with low surface activity should not be used in the root canals during instrumentation, otherwise the smear material would show deeper penetration into the dentinal tubules. The results of the present study did not show any effect by modifying the surface tension of the irrigant. This could be due to the wettability of dentin described by Perdigao (26). This is agreement with the results obtained by Zehnder (4). As for the absence of penetration of the irrigant in the apical 1mm in non-PUI groups, it could be due to the vapour lock effect described by Senia *et al* (27), and Tay *et al* (28). It is also noteworthy to indicate that absence of penetration in dentin tubules can also be attributed to the presence of sclerotic dentin (29,30).

Passive ultrasonic irrigation has been shown to improve the efficacy of irrigating solutions by dislodging organic and inorganic debris from root canal walls (31). The technique relies on the transmission of acoustic energy from an oscillating file or smooth wire to an irrigant in the canal space, and these ultrasonic waves could in turn induce acoustic streaming of the irrigant (32). This could possibly explain the improved irrigant penetration into nonsclerotic tubules within the apical third due to better flow and increased irrigant volume (27).

Because of the vapor lock phenomenon that occurs in the apical third of closed-end root canals (33), it is prudent to elaborate on why better dye penetration was observed in the ultrasonic groups. Using a control and an experimental balanced design to compare the effect of vapor lock on the efficacy of canal debridement from the apical 0 to 2 mm of the canal walls, we recently observed that the use of NaOCl and EDTA was able to remove smear layers from that region irrespective of the presence or absence of a vapor lock (ie, same "smear score"). However, canals that simulated the presence of a vapor lock exhibited a significantly higher "debris score" compared with those simulating the absence of a vapor lock (28). Because this study examined only dye penetration into dentinal tubules (ie, smear layer removal), it is understandable that the ultrasonic agitation techniques produce better results.

Within the limitations of the present study, Hypoclean showed a better result when was used without activation, but no differences were found between the solutions when PUI was used. Further investigations regarding intratubular penetration and antibacterial power of new low surface tension endodontic irrigants should be performed.
References

- Hess W. Anatomy of root canals in the teeth of the permanent dentition. New York, William Wood & Co. 1925
- 2. Peters OA, Laib A, Gohring TN, Barbakow F. Changes in root canal geometry after preparation assessed by high resolution computed tomography. J Endod 2001;27:1-6
- 3. Byström A, Sundqvist G. Bacteriologic evaluation of the efficacy of mechanical root canal instrumentation in endodontic therapy. Scan J Dent Res 1981;89:321-8.
- 4. Zehnder M. Root canal irrigants review. J Endod 2006;32:389–98.
- 5. Naenni N, Thoma K, Zehnder M. Soft tissue dissolution capacity of currently used and potential endodontic irrigants. J Endod 2004;30:785–7.
- Haikel Y, Gorce F, Allemann C, Voegel JC. In vitro efficiency of endodontic irrigation solutions on protein desorption. Int Endod J 1994;27:16–20.
- Spratt DA, Pratten J, Wilson M. An in vitro evaluation of the antimicrobial efficacy of irrigants on biofilms of root canal isolates. Int Endod J 2001;34:300–7.
- Sarbinoff JA, O'Leary TJ, Miller CH. The comparative effectiveness of various agents in detoxifying diseased root surfaces. J Periodontol 1983;54:77–80.
- 9. Clegg MS, Vertucci FJ, Walker C, Belanger M, Britto LR. The effect of exposure to irrigant solutions on apical dentin biofilms in vitro. J Endod 2006;32:434–7.
- Dunavant TR, Regan JD, Glickman GN, Solomon ES, Honeyman AL. Comparative evaluation of endodontic irrigants against Enterococcus faecalis biofilms. J Endod 2006;32:527– 31.
- 11. Stojicic S, Zivkovic S, Qian V, Zhang H, Haapasalo M. Tissue Dissolution by Sodium Hypochlorite: Effect of Concentration, Temperature, Agitation, and Surfactant. J Endod 2010;36:1558-1562.
- 12. Baumgartner JC, Cuenin PR. Efficacy of several concentrations of sodium hypochlorite for root canal irrigation. J Endod 1992;8:605–12.
- 13. Gu LS, Kim JR, Ling J, Choi KK, Pashley DH, Tay FR. Review of contemporary irrigant agitation techniques and devices. J Endod 2009;35:791–804.
- Paragliola R, Franco V, Fabiani C. Mazzoni A, Nato F, Tay FR, Breschi L, Grandini S. Final Rinse Optimization: Influence of Different Agitation Protocols. J Endod 2010;36:282– 285.

- 15. Retamozo B., Shabahang S., Johnson N., Aprecio RM, Torabinejad M. Minimum Contact Time and Concentration of Sodium Hypochlorite Required to Eliminate Enterococcus faecalis. J Endod 2010;36:520–523.
- 16. Miller TA, Baumgartner JC. Comparison of the efficacy of irrigation using the Endovac to endodontic needle delivery. J Endod 2010;36:509-511.
- 17. Tasman F, Cehreli ZC, Oğan C, Etikan I. Surface tension of root canal irrigants. J Endod 2000;26:586-7.
- 18. Erickson RL. Surface interactions of dentin adhesive materials. Oper Dent 1992;5: 81-94.
- 19. Ruyter IE. The chemistry of adhesive agents. Oper Dent 1992;5:32-43.
- 20. Akinmade AO, Nicholson JW. Glass-ionomer cements as adhesives. Part I. Fundamental aspects and their clinical relevance. J Mater Sci Mater Med 1993;4:95-101.
- 21. Iwanami M, Yoshioka T, Sunakawa M, Kobayashi C, Suda H. Spreading of root canal irrigants on root dentine. Aust Endod J 2007;33(2):66-72.
- 22. Cameron JA. The effect of a fluorocarbon surfactant on the surface of the endodontic irrigant sodium hypochlorite. A preliminary report. Aust Dent J 1986;31:364-8.
- 23. Abou-Rass M, Patonai FJ. The effects of decreasing surface tension on the flow of irrigating solutions in narrow root canals. Oral Surg, Oral Med, Oral Pathol 1982;53:524-6.
- 24. Mohammadi Z, Mombeinipour A, Giardino L, Shahriari S. Residual antibacterial activity of a new modified antibacterial activity of a new modified sodium hypochlorite-based endodontic irrigation. Med oral patol oral 2011;Jul 1;16(4):e588-92.
- 25. Aktener B, Cengiz T, Pipkin B. The Penetration of Smear Material into Dentinal Tubules during Instrumentation with Surface-Active Reagents: A Scanning Electron Microscopic Study. J Endod 1989;15:588-590.
- 26. Perdigão J. Dentin bonding-variables related to the clinical situation and the substrate treatment. Dent Mater 2010 Feb;26(2):e24-37.
- 27. Senia ES, Marshall FJ, Rosen S. The solvent action of sodium hypochlorite on pulp tissue of extracted teeth. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 1971;31: 96-103.
- 28. Tay FR, Gu L-S, Schoeffel JG, Wimmer C, Susin L, Zhang K, Arun SN, Kim J, Looney SW, Pashley DH. The effect of vapor lock on root canal debridement using a side-vented needle for positive pressure irrigant delivery. J Endod 2010;36(4):745-50.
- 29. Lottanti S, Gautschi H, Sener B, Zehnder M. Effects of ethylenediaminetetraacetic, etidronic and peracetic acid irrigation on human root dentine and the smear layer. Int Endod J 2009;42:335-343.

- 30. Paqué F, Luder HU, Sener B, Zehnder M. Tubular sclerosis rather than the smear layer impedes dye penetration into the dentine of endodontically instrumented root canals. Int Endod J 2006;39:18-25.
- 31. Lee SJ, Wu MK, Wesselink PR. The effectiveness of syringe irrigation and ultrasonics to remove debris from simulated irregularities within prepared root canal walls. Int Endod J 2004;37:672–8.
- 32. Ahmad M, Pitt Ford TR, Crum LA. Ultrasonic debridement of root canals: an insight into the mechanism involved. J Endod 1987;13:93–100.
- 33. Pesse AV, Warrier GR, Dhir VK. An experimental study of the gas entrapment process in closed-end microchannels. Int J Heat Mass Transfer; 2005;48:5150-65.

Chapter 8

The influence of PUI in eradicating EF in chemomechanical root canal disinfection

8.1 Introduction

The presence of microorganisms in the root canal system (RCS) is a key factor in the development of periapical lesions (1), hence, endodontic treatment procedures aim at completely eliminating the microorganisms from the root canal. However, this proves to be very difficult not to say impossible to achieve due to the anatomic complexites and the subsequent limitations of both instruments and irrigants to reach all aspects of the RCS (2). Chemomechanical detersion techniques more realistically aim at reducing bacterial populations below the threshold required to induce or sustain disease (3). Sodium hypochlorite (NaOCI) has been widely used since its introduction in endodontics by Walker in 1936 (10). Besides its bleaching, deodorant, and tissue dissolution effect, NaOCI has been proven to be an effective disinfectant (11). Furthermore, several studies have also suggested the use of ultrasonics as a mean to improve the effectiveness of the irrigant (12). Passive ultrasonic instrumentation (PUI) has been shown to be more effective than other irrigation systems in removing tissue remnants and dentinal debris from the main root canal as well as from irregularities (13).

A member of the endodontic flora, Enterococcus faecalis, displays resistance to endodontic treatment. E. faecalis has been frequently selected for experimental studies of endodontic infection (4) because it is often associated with treatment failure (5) and commonly expresses multiple drug resistance (6). E. faecalis is a gram-positive facultative anaerobic coccus commonly found in cases of failure in endodontic therapy (7). Its prevalence is higher in persistent infections than in primary infections (8). This can be explained by its ability to withstand prolonged periods of nutrient deficiency, allowing it to persist as a pathogen within the root canal (9).

Therefore, E. faecalis was chosen to evaluate the residual antimicrobial activity of five final irrigation regimens in root canals contaminated with E. faecalis biofilms. The null hypothesis tested in this study is that there is no difference between the five irrigation regiments.

8.2 Materials and methods

Sample Preparation

Forty freshly extracted single-rooted teeth were obtained and autoclaved individually at 121°C for 15min. To prepare the root canals, the crowns of all teeth were removed, and the root lengths standardized to 15mm. Then, patency of each canal was established with a size 10 K-File (Dentsply Maillefer, Ballaigues, Switzerland). The canals were prepared with reciproc R25 files (VDW, Dentsply Maillefer, Ballaigues, Switzerland) to the full working length. Irrigation with 5% sodium hypochlorite solution was performed throughout the instrumentation. The canals were rinsed copiously with sterile saline solution to flush away residual irrigants and each root was placed into a block of freshly mixed silicone impression material (Elite HD, Zhermack, Via Bovazecchino 100, 45021 Badia Polesine (RO), Italy) and molded inside a glass specimen jar ensuring that the coronal end of the prepared root was flush with the surface of the silicone block. Each root was then sectioned longitudinally through the root canal using a 0.3mm-thickness diamond wafering blade mounted on an Isomet low-speed saw (Buehler, Lake Bluff, IL).

One half with the most uniform visible canal from each root was selected for biofilm growth. The root halves were placed back into their corresponding silicone index, to ensure good reapproximation. Both silicone blocks and the chosen root halves were marked, so that the correct orientation of each root in its block could be ensured. The marked root halves were then removed from the silicone indices and immersed in a 17% solution of EDTA for 1min to remove the smear layer, after which they were washed thoroughly with water. The corresponding root halves were then re-autoclaved as previously described. Following autoclaving, the root halves that were not used for biofilm growth were left hydrated in labelled sterile flasks.

An E. faecalis biofilm (ATCC29212) was grown on each selected root half using a standardized biofilm growth protocol. The strain was cultured anaerobically at 37°C on Fastidious Anaerobe Agar (LabM, Bury, UK) supplemented with 5% defibrinated horse blood. Starter cultures were set up in filter-sterilized modified fluid universal medium (mFUM), which were incubated anaerobically at 37°C for 3h, until the growth appeared moderately turbid. The turbidity was adjusted with fresh mFUM to an optical density of 0.5 at 540nm (Labsystems iEMS Reader MF, Basingstoke, UK). Each root was incubated with 3mL of the E. faecalis culture in 24-well trays, and the medium was replaced after 24, 48, 72, 96, 120, 144,

168, 192h. After the final replacement, the tray was removed from the anaerobic cabinet and stored at 4°C. Preliminary studies had shown that after 72 h, the biofilm was uniformly present over the surface of the root canal. The 40 root half pairs were reapproximated and divided into 5 groups, each consisting of 8 roots. Group A was irrigated with 4.5mL of 5% sodium hypochlorite solution energized with size 25 ultrasonic file (VDW). Irrigation sequence in this group was performed in 3 sequences of 1.5mL irrigation and 20s passive ultrasonic activation. Experimental group B was irrigated by 4,5 mL of 5% sodium hypochlorite solution energized with a size 25 ultrasonic file. The irrigation sequence for this group was performed in 2 sequences of 2.25mL irrigation, and 20s passive ultrasonic activation. Group C received 6mL irrigation of 5% sodium hypochlorite solution. Negative control groups D and E received respectively irrigation with 6mL of sterile saline solution and no irrigation. Irrigation was carried out with a 27-gauge side-venting irrigating needle (Perio/Endo Irrigation Needle, Biaggio, Switzerland) and 3mL syringe (Monoject, Tyco Healthcare, Gosport, UK). A stabilized 5% sodium hypochlorite solution (Ogna, Muggio', Milano, Italy) was used for the experimental groups. Penetration of irrigating needles was controlled to 12mm using a silicon stopper. Irrigation was performed using digital pressure with the forefinger only, and the needle was gently moved back and forth in the canal ensuring that the needle did not bind in the canal itself. Irrigation time was 2 minutes in all relevant groups. Power setting on the ultrasonic unit (VDW Ultra) was kept at one quarter of the maximum setting and the file was inserted 1.5mm shy of the working length. All shaping and irrigation procedures were performed by the same operator.

After completion of the respective irrigation protocols, roots were immediately immersed in a phosphate-buffered glutaraldehyde fixative for 4h followed by glutaraldehyde wash solution. The samples were subsequently immersed in ethanol for 10min at successive concentrations of 10%, 50%, 70%, 90% and completed with two cycles at 100%. Specimens were then immersed for 15min in one part of hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) (Panreal S.A.U., Castellar de Vallès, Barcellona, España) to two parts of absolute ethanol, followed by a 15min immersion in one part HMDS to one part 100% ethanol. This was also followed by 15min in one part 100% ethanol to two parts HMDS, and finally two cycles of 20min in 100% HMDS. The specimens were dried on clean lint-free tissue. The root halves were then mounted on stub plates and gold-sputtered (Polaron E5100; Quorum Technologies, Ringmer, UK). Three scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images were taken for each sample along the midline of the canal at 9mm from the apex (coronal area), 6mm from the apex (middle area), and 3mm from the apex (apical area) at x700 and at x2000 magnification.

Scoring system

Images from all specimens were evaluated by three operators, who were not aware of the purpose of the study. A 4-point scoring system was devised to allow the E. faecalis biofilms to be assessed semi-quantitatively: 1= less than 5% biofilm coverage of the root canal walls, 2= biofilm coverage between 5–33% of the root canal walls, 3= biofilm coverage between 34–66% of the root canal walls, and 4= biofilm coverage between 67–100% of the root canal walls. The 3 examiners were calibrated using several images obtained during preliminary studies. In the case of a disagreement between the operators, the lower score was assigned.

Data alalisys

Statistical analysis was performed using Kruskall-Wallis analysis of variance followed by Dunn's multiple comparison tests to reveal differences among the groups at a=0.05.

8.3 Results

The scores obtained for each group are given in tables 1, 2 and 3.

No significant differences were observed in the scores between the three levels (coronal, middle and apical) of observation in any of the five groups.

There were no significant differences between the scores for group A (conventional syringe irrigation with 4,5 mL of 5% sodium hypochlorite solution energized with a size 25 ultrasonic file, three cicles of PUI/20s), for group B (4,5 mL of 5% sodium hypochlorite solution energized with a size 25 ultrasonic file, two cicles of PUI/20s) and group C (conventional syringe irrigation with 6 mL of 5% sodium hypochlorite solution) at any of the three levels (Tables 1, 2, 3)

There was a significant difference between experimental groups (groups A, B & C) and group E (P < 0.001) at all three levels (Tables 1, 2, 3). Both conventional syringe irrigation and passive ultrasonic irrigation with 5% sodium hypochlorite were more effective at removing the biofilm than group not exposed to any irrigant.

At 3, 6 and 9mm from the root apex, Group A exhibited the highest score and was significantly different (p<0.001) from Groups D and E. There was no difference between Group A and Group B (Tables 1, 2, 3). At 6 and 9mm from the root apex, Group B yielded similar scores that were significantly higher than groups D and E (p<0.001). groups where PUI with 5% sodium

hypochlorite was used were more effective at removing the biofilm than conventional syringe irrigation with sterile saline solution.

No significant differences were observed in the scores between group C and group D at the three levels (coronal, middle and apical).

Control group E (no irrigation) proved to be effective in biofilm covering at all three levels of the root canal in the eight observed specimens.

8.4 Discussion

This in vitro study investigated the ability of five final irrigation regimens used after chemomechanical procedures to disinfect root canals contaminated with E. faecalis biofilms.

The model of biofilm formation used in this study has already been reviewed and reported in previous articles that focused on antimicrobial strategies against biofilms. However, there is still no consensus in the literature regarding the formation time of this biofilm. Some studies used 24 hours (14–17), whereas others used 48 hours (18), 72 hours (19), 21 days (20), and even 6 weeks (21). In this study the teeth were incubated with E. faecalis for 8 days to ensure the penetration of the bacteria into the dentinal tubules, which was confirmed by SEM evaluation.

Scanning electron microscopy has frequently been used to observe intraradicular biofilms (22, 23, 24). One limitation of the SEM may be that only a topographic localization of the structures observed is possible. The resulting images are only pseudo-three dimensional, and since the biofilm is stratified on various levels, the SEM is not suitable to identify the depth of such structures. For this reason, with this technique you can only make qualitative and semi-quantitative observations. Clearly, although this method is not representative of the true distribution of the biofilm on the entire root canal surface, the high number of observations made in this study should have compensated for this limitation. The irrigation effect for each protocol was evaluated at three levels for each sample. The reference points were taken at 3, 6 and 9 mm from the apex, these points were referring respectively to the apical, middle and coronal root canal.

There were no observed differences between the three levels in any of the experimental or control groups.

In the experimental group (A & B) subjected to passive ultrasonic irrigation with 5% sodium hypochlorite solution, the total irrigation time was two minutes for each root, but included three 20 s cycles for group A and two 20 s cycles for group B of passive ultrasonic irrigation.

The protocol for conventional syringe irrigation used in this study was again two minutes in duration, with a volume of 6 mL of 5% sodium hypochlorite solution being used for each root. Two control groups were used in the study. The first control group (D) was exposed to 6 mL of conventional syringe irrigation with sterile saline solution, with the same protocol being used as for the syringe irrigation with sodium hypochlorite. The purpose of this control group was to assess the mechanical flushing effect of an irrigant with no antibacterial or tissue-dissolving properties. The second control group (D) was not exposed to any irrigant. The purpose of this group was to demonstrate the reliability of the biofilm growth at all three levels of the root canal. The assessed SEM images were acquired at a magnification of X700. This was the lowest magnification at which the biofilm images could be accurately evaluated. Use of this magnification permitted the maximum possible surface area to be assessed with each image.

Conventional syringe irrigation with sterile saline solution was only partially effective at biofilm removal, with persistent bacteria frequently evident not only on the root canal wall, but also within the dentinal tubules.

The use of ultrasonics as an aid in root canal irrigation has been suggested as an alternative to improve cleaning and disinfection of the root canal system (25, 26, 27). However, in this study, no significant differences were found between the groups that used NaOCl with or without ultrasonic agitation. The ability of both conventional syringe and passive ultrasonic irrigation with sodium hypochlorite to completely remove the intraradicular biofilm demonstrates that both of these protocols were effective in obtaining clean root canal walls.

These results are consistent with the findings of Siqueira et al (11) and Bhuva et al (19), who also found no difference between conventional irrigation with NaOCl and the ultrasonic passive irrigation using this irrigant.

The efficacy of ultrasonic passive irrigation in cleaning areas unreachable by endodontic instruments has been tested in other studies using simulated lateral canals (28, 29) and irregularities (30) created in human teeth. The artificial production of these inaccessible areas may help to explain the superiority of ultrasonic irrigation found in these studies because irregularities or artificially created lateral canal are larger than dentinal tubules, which benefit from the irrigating solution and ultrasonics. However, it must be considered that these studies only assessed the efficacy of the irrigation techniques on the visual cleanliness of the artificial grooves rather than the removal of bacteria, particularly those within a biofilm (28, 31).

Within the limitations of this in vitro study, both conventional syringe irrigation and passive ultrasonic irrigation with sodium hypochlorite solution were completely effective at removing the E. faecalis biofilm from the root canal walls of extracted human teeth. Conventional syringe irrigation with sterile saline solution was only partially effective at removing the biofilm.

References

- Fabricius L, Dahle'n G, Sundqvist G, et al. Influence of residual bacteria on periapical tissue healing after chemomechanical treatment and root filling of experimentally infected monkey teeth. Eur J Oral Sci 2006;114:278–85
- Siqueira JF Jr, Rôças IN. Clinical implications and microbiology of bacterial persistence after treatment procedures. J Endod 2008;34:1291–301.
- Sjögren U, Figdor D, Persson S, Sundqvist G. Influence of infection at the time of root filling on the outcome of endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis. Int Endod J 1997;30:297–306.
- Haapasalo M, Ørstavik D. In vitro infection and disinfection of dentinal tubules. J Dent Res 1987;66:1375–9
- 5. Gomes BP, Pinheiro ET, Gadê-Neto CR, et al. Microbiological examination of infected dental root canals. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2004;19:71–6.
- Nakajo K, Komori R, Ishikawa S, et al. Resistance to acidic and alkaline environments in the endodontic pathogen Enterococcus faecalis. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2006;21:283– 8.
- Pinheiro ET, Gomes BPFA, Ferraz CCR, Sousa ELR, Teixeira FB, Souza Filho FJ. Microorganisms from canals of root-filled teeth with periapical lesions. Int Endod J 2003;36:1–11.
- 8. Stuart CH, Schwartz SA, Beeson TJ, Owatz CB. Enterococcus faecalis: its role in root canal treatment failure and current concepts in retreatment. J Endod 2006;32:93–8.
- 9. Figdor D, Davies JK, Sundqvist G. Starvation survival, growth and recovery of Enterococcus faecalis in human serum. Oral Microbiol Immunol 2003;18:234–9.
- 10. Walker A. Definite and dependable therapy for pulpless teeth. J Am Dent Assoc 1936;23:1418–24.
- 11. Siqueira JF, Machado AG, Silveira RM, Lopes HP, Uzeda M. Evaluation of the effectiveness of sodium hypochlorite used with three irrigation methods in the elimination of Enterococcus faecalis from the root canal, in vitro. Int Endod J 1997;30: 279–82.
- 12. Plotino G, Pameijer C, Grande NM, Somma F. Ultrasonics in endodontics: a review of the literature. J Endod 2007;33:81–95.

- 13. Rodig T, Sedghi M, Konietschke F, et al. Efficacy of syringe irrigation, RinsEndo and passive ultrasonic irrigation in removing debris from irregularities in root canals with different apical sizes. Int Endod J 2010;43:581–9.
- 14. Arias-Moliz MT, Ferrer-Luque CM, Espigares-García M, Baca P. Enterococcus faecalis biofilms eradication by root canal irrigants. J Endod 2009;35:711–4.
- 15. Arias-Moliz MT, Ferrer-Luque CM, González-Rodríguez MP, Valderrama MJ, Baca P. Eradication of Enterococcus faecalis biofilms by cetrimide and chlorhexidine. J Endod 2010;36:87–90.
- 16. Chávez de Paz LE, Bergenholtz G, Svensäter G. The effects of antimicrobials on endodontic biofilm bacteria. J Endod 2010;36:70–7.
- 17. Ozdemir HO, Buzoglu HD, Calt S, Stabholz A, Steinberg D. Effect of ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid and sodium hypochlorite irrigation on Enterococcus faecalis biofilm colonization in young and old human root canal dentin: in vitro study. J Endod 2010;36:842–6.
- 18. Liu H, Wei X, Ling J, Wang W, Huang X. Biofilm formation capability of Enterococcus faecalis cells in starvation phase and its susceptibility to sodium hypochlorite. J Endod 2010;36:630–5.
- 19. Bhuva B, Patel S, Wilson R, Niazi S, Beighton D, Mannocci F. The effectiveness of passive ultrasonic irrigation on intraradicular Enterococcus faecalis biofilms in extracted single-rooted human teeth. Int Endod J 2010;43:241–50.
- 20. Soares JA, Carvalho MAR, Santos SMC, et al. Effectiveness of chemomechanical preparation with alternating use of sodium hypochlorite and EDTA in eliminating intracanal Enterococcus faecalis biofilm. J Endod 2010;36:894–8.
- 21. Prabhakar J, Senthilkumar M, Priya MS, Mahalakshmi K, Sehgal PK, Sukumaran VG. Evaluation of antimicrobial efficacy of herbal alternatives (Triphala and green tea polyphenols), MTAD, and 5% sodium hypochlorite against Enterococcus faecalis biofilm formed on tooth substrate: an in vitro study. J Endod 2010;36:83–6.
- 22. Clegg MS, Vertucci FJ, Walker C, Belanger M, Britto LR. The effect of exposure to irrigant solutions on apical dentin biofilms in vitro. Journal of Endodontics 2006;32, 434–7.
- 23. Takemura N, Noiri Y, Ehara A, Kawahara T, Noguchi N, Ebisu S Single species biofilmforming ability of root canal isolates on gutta-percha points. European Journal of Oral Sciences 2004;112, 523–9.

- 24. Kishen A, George S, Kumar R. Enterococcus faecalismediated biofilm formation on root canal in vitro. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research 2006;77, 406–15.
- 25. Plotino G, Pameijer C, Grande NM, Somma F. Ultrasonics in endodontics: a review of the literature. J Endod 2007;33:81–95.
- 26. Spoleti P, Siragusa M, Spoleti MJ. Bacteriological evaluation of passive ultrasonic activation. J Endod 2003;29:12–4.
- 27. Gregorio C, Estevez R, Cisneros R, Heilborn C, Cohenca N. Effect of EDTA, sonic, and ultrasonic activation on the penetration of sodium hypochlorite into simulated lateral canals: an in vitro study. J Endod 2009;35:891–5.
- 28. Van der Sluis LWM, Versluis M, Wu MK, Wesselink PR. Passive ultrasonic irrigation of the root canal: a review of the literature. Int Endod J 2007;40:415–26.
- 29. Gregorio C, Estevez R, Cisneros R, Paranjpe A, Cohenca N. Efficacy of different irrigation and activation systems on the penetration of sodium hypochlorite into simulated lateral canals and up to working length: an in vitro study. J Endod 2010;36:1216–21.
- 30. Rödig T, Sedghi M, Konietschke F, Lange K, Ziebolz D, Hülsmann M. Efficacy of syringe irrigation, RinsEndo and passive ultrasonic irrigation in removing debris from irregularities in root canals with different apical sizes. Int Endod J 2010;43:581–9.
- 31. Araquam KR, Britto MLB, Nabeshima CK. Evaluation of apical extrusion of debris during ultrasonic versus rotary instrumentation. J Dent Sci (Rev Odonto Cienc) 2009;24:32–5.

Chapter 9

Summary and future directions

The purpose of the present thesis was to evaluate/correlate different aspects of the endodontic treatment in order to shed some light on the influence of microorganisms disinfection during root canal treatment.

Although mechanical instrumentation reduces bacteria from human root canals by approximately 50%, disinfecting irrigants are needed to eliminate the microbiota in locations where instruments cannot access (1-3). Although NaOCl is an effective disinfectant when it comes into direct contact with bacteria biofilms, it produced clean and debris-free dentin surfaces only in the coronal and middle thirds but not in the apical third of the canal wall when used in conjunction with nickel-titanium instruments (4). Consequently, different irrigant agitation techniques have been proposed to increase the efficacy of the irrigant solutions.

In our research Passive ultrasonic irrigation (PUI) was found to be more effective in delivering sodium hypochlorite inside the dentinal tubules. (5) PUI improves the efficacy of irrigating solutions in removing organic and inorganic debris from root canal walls (6, 7).

Another aspect to consider for the success of root canal therapy is the presence of the smear layer. However, even after cleaning and shaping, total sterilization of the root canal system remains difficult to achieve (8). Studies have shown that mechanical instrumentation of root canals implies the formation of a smear layer covering the dentinal walls (9) and containing both inorganic and organic materials (9). The presence of the smear layer may considerably delay or prevent the penetration of antimicrobial agents, such as endodontic irrigants and intracanal medications, into the dentinal tubules (10), as well as interfere with the adhesion of root canal sealers to the root canal walls, thus compromising the quality of the root canal filling (11).

In our research the association of a chelating agent, such as Tetraclean, was found to be effective in leading to a higher removal of smear layer from the root canal walls.

Microbiota are found in highly organized and complex entities, known as biofilms, the characteristics of which are fundamentally different from microbes in planktonic suspensions. Root canal infections are biofilm mediated. The anatomical complexity of the root canal

system, together with the multi-species nature of biofilm, make disinfection of this system extremely challenging. Microbial persistence appears to be the most important factor for failure of root canal treatment and this could further have an impact on pain and quality of life. Biofilm removal is accomplished by a chemo-mechanical process, using specific instruments and disinfecting chemicals in the form of irrigants and/or intracanal medicaments. Endodontic research has focused on the characterization of root canal biofilms and the clinical methods to disrupt the biofilms in addition to achieving microbial killing. Ultrasonic agitation can cause deagglomeration of the bacterial biofilm, thus re-suspending the bacteria in planktonic form which are then, more susceptible to antimicrobial irrigants (12, 13).

Also, any cavitation that may be produced, would cause temporary weakening of the cell membrane, thereby increasing the bacterial cell permeability to antimicrobial irrigants (14).

In our research passive ultrasonic irrigation with sodium hypochlorite solution has proven to be completely effective in the removal of the E. faecalis biofilm from the root canal walls of extracted human teeth.

Despite the increasing knowledge of the microbial status of root canal systems, much still remains unknown. The reported success rates of root canal treatment have not undergone significant improvement.

From the clinical perspective, it is important to understand the etiopathogenesis of periradicular periodontitis as a disease caused by microbial infection of the root canal system. Even though it is known that root canal biofilms are complex, the literature unfortunately does not seem to offer due credence to understanding the dynamics between the components of a biofilm. Crosstalk between bacteria is a paradigm that has not be sufficiently studied thus far in the context of endodontic disease.

Further studies should be conducted to examine the effect of different agitation techniques on the 'debris formation and on the "Enterococcus Faecalis".

References

1. Dalton DC, Ørstavik D, Phillips C, et al. Bacterial reduction with nickel titanium instrumentation. Int Endod J 1998;24:763–7.

2. Ciucchi B, Khettabi M, Holz J. The effectiveness of different endodontic irrigation procedures on the removal of the smear layer: a scanning electron microscopic study. Int Endod J 1989;22:21–8.

3. Zehnder M, Schmidlin P, Sener B, et al. Chelation in root canal therapy reconsid- ered. J Endod 2005;31:817–20.

4. Foschi F, Nucci C, Montebugnoli L, et al. SEM evaluation of canal wall dentine following use of MTwo and ProTaper NiTi rotary instruments. Int Endod J 2004; 37:832–9.

5. Weller RN, Brady JM, Bernier WE. Efficacy of ultrasonic cleaning. J Endod 1980;6: 740–3.

6. Lee SJ, Wu MK, Wesselink PR. The effectiveness of syringe irrigation and ultrasonics to remove debris from simulated irregularities within prepared root canal walls. Int Endod J 2004;37:672–8.

7. Townsend C, Maki J. An in vitro comparison of new irrigation and agitation tech- niques to ultrasonic agitation in removing bacteria from a simulated root canal. J Endod 2009;35:10403.

8. Byström A, Sundqvist G. The antibacterial action of sodium hypochlorite and EDTA in 60 cases of endodontic therapy. Int Endod J 1985;18:35-40.

9. McComb D, Smith DC. A preliminary scanning electron microscopic study of root canals after endodontic procedures. J Endod 1975;1:238–42.

10. Lynne RE, Liewehr FR, West LA, Patton WR, Buxton TB, McPherson JC. In vitro antimicrobial activity of various medication preparations on E. faecalis in root canal dentin. J Endod 2003;29:187–90.

11. Economides N, Liolios E, Kolokuris I, Beltes P. Long-term evaluation of the influence of smear layer removal on the sealing ability of different sealers. J Endod 1999;25:123–5.

12. Van der Sluis LWM, Versluis M, Wu MK, Wesselink PR. Passive ultrasonic irrigation of the root canal: a review of the literature. Int Endod J 2007;40:415–26.

13. Gregorio C, Estevez R, Cisneros R, Paranjpe A, Cohenca N. Efficacy of different irrigation and activation systems on the penetration of sodium hypochlorite into simulated lateral canals and up to working length: an in vitro study. J Endod 2010;36:1216–21.
14. Rödig T, Sedghi M, Konietschke F, Lange K, Ziebolz D, Hülsmann M. Efficacy of syringe irrigation, RinsEndo and passive ultrasonic irrigation in removing debris from irregularities in root canals with different apical sizes. Int Endod J 2010;43:581–9.

CURRICULUM VITAE

del Dr. Raffaele Paragliola DDS, MSC

Dati personali

Recapito	Via dei Molinari 24
	85100 Potenza.
Telefono	Tel: 0971-334410 (casa)
	cellulare: 347-8744958
	e-mail: raffapr@gmail.com
	raffapr@tiscali.it
Data e luogo di nasci	ta: Potenza, 2 Novembre 1982
Codice Fiscale	PRGRFL82S02G942U

Titoli conseguiti ed esperienze didattiche

2001	Diploma di maturità scientifica (92/100).
2001-2006	Studente presso il Corso di Laurea in Odontoiatria e Protesi Dentaria a Siena
Luglio 2006	Laurea in Odontoiatria e Protesi Dentaria (110/110 e lode) con discussione di una tesi dal titolo "Analisi della variabile operatore nella preparazione canalare standardizzata con strumenti al Ni-Ti". Relatore: Prof. Simone Grandini.
2006	Abilitazione professionale (78/80).
2007	Iscrizione alla scuola di dottorato in Biotecnologie, sezione di Biomateriali Dentari (Prof. Marco Ferrari)
2008 protesi fissa	Conseguimento master universitario di II° livello in endodonzia, restaurativa e (Prof. Marco Ferrari, Prof. Simone Grandini)
2009	Conseguimento Master scientifico-culturale nell'ambito della Scuola di Dottorato in Biotecnologie, sezione di Biomateriali Dentari
Dal 2009	Collaboratore presso il Centro Odontostomatologico Porta Mascarella Bologna (Sede Accademia Italiana Odontoiatria Protesica) Direttore Sanitario: Dr. Massimo Fuzzi Direttore Amministrativo: Dr. Gianfranco Di Febo

- 2009-2010 Tutor del corso di perfezionamento in uso del laser e delle nuove tecnologie in odontostomatologia, nel trattamento dei tessuti duri e molli, orali e periorali per odontoiatri
- 2011-2012 Docente presso il Master universitario di II livello in Endodonzia e Odontoiatria Restaurativa. Università degli studi di Siena (Prof. Simone Grandini)

Conoscenze linguistiche

Inglese (Buona conoscenza lingua scritta e parlata) Francese (Discreta conoscenza lingua scritta e parlata)

Incarichi universitari

2006-2007 Medico Interno presso il reparto di Odontostomatologia Policlinico Le Scotte Siena

2007 Assistente alla didattica nelle esercitazioni di Restaurativa agli studenti del III anno del CLOPD

Dal 2007 Studente del Dottorato in Biotecnologie, sezione di Biomateriali Odontostomatologici, presso l'università degli studi di Siena. Inizio dottorato Ottobre 2007

Associazioni scientifiche e professionali

2006-2007	Socio SIE (Società Italiana di Endodonzia)
2007-2008	Socio SIDOC (Società Italiana Di Odontoiatria Conservatrice)
2008-2009	Socio SIDOC (Società Italiana Di Odontoiatria Conservatrice)

Comunicazioni a Congressi, Conferenze e seminari:

Verona, XXVII Congresso Nazionale SIE, 16-18 Novembre 2006 Presentazione del Poster: "Analisi della variabile operatore nella preparazione scanalare standardizzata con strumenti al Ni-Ti"

Pescara, ANDI Abruzzo, 25 Novembre 2006 Comunicazione: "Preparazione e otturazione tridimensionale del canale radicolare. Ricostruzione del dente trattato endodonticamente"

Roma, XI Congresso Nazionale SIDOC, 16-17 Febbraio 2007 Presentazione del Poster: "Analisi della variabile operatore nella preparazione scanalare standardizzata con strumenti al Ni-Ti"

Roma, XIV Congresso Nazionale del "Collegio dei Docenti di Odontoiatria", 21 Aprile 2007 Conferenza: *"Analisi della variabile operatore nella preparazione scanalare standardizzata con strumenti al Ni-Ti"*

> Roma, XII Congresso Nazionale SIDOC, 14-15-16 Febbraio 2008 Comunicazione Scientifica VI Premio Pietro De Fazio: *"Resistenza alla fatica di strumenti al Ni-Ti"*

Roma, XIII Congresso Nazionale SIDOC, 19-20-21 Febbraio 2009 Comunicazione Scientifica VII Premio Pietro De Fazio: *"Final rinse optimization: influence of different operative protocols"*

Articoli Internazionali

1) Final rinse optimization: influence of different agitation protocols. **Paragliola R**, Franco V, Fabiani C, Mazzoni A, Nato F, Tay FR, Breschi L, Grandini S. J Endod. 2010 Feb;36(2):282-5. Epub 2009 Dec 4.

2) Effect of repeated use on the shaping ability of ProTaper Universal Rotary files Ounsi H, Franciosi G, **Paragliola R**, Goracci C, Grandini S. IDSA 2010;12 (6):30-7

3) Evaluation of the fracture resistance of reattached incisal fragments using different materials and techniques Chazine M, Sedda M, Ounsi HF, **Paragliola R**, Ferrari M, Grandini S .Dental Traumatology 2011; 27: 15–18.

4) Comparison of two techniques for assessing the shaping efficacy of repeatedly used nickel-titanium rotary instruments.

Ounsi HF, Franciosi G, **Paragliola R**, Al-Hezaimi K, Salameh Z, Tay FR, Ferrari M, Grandini S. J Endod. 2011 Jun;37(6):847-50. Epub 2011 Apr 6. Erratum in: J Endod. 2011 Aug;37(8):1175. Al Huzaimi, Khalid [corrected to Al-Hezaimi, Khalid].

5) Comparison of smear layer removal using four final-rinse protocols **Paragliola R**, Franco V, Fabiani C, Giardino L, Palazzi F, Chieffi N, Ounsi H, Grandini S. International Dentistry, Australasian edition, 2011, vol 7, n 1;50-6

6) Efficacy of two Ni-Ti systems and hand files for removing gutta-percha from root canals. Mollo A, Botti G, Prinicipi Goldoni N, Randellini E, **Paragliola R**, Chazine M, Ounsi HF, Grandini S. Int Endod J. 2012 Jan;45(1):1-6. 7) Influence of surfactant and passive ultrasonic irrigation on the effectiveness of sodium hypochlorite for final rinse optimization. **Paragliola R**, Franco V, Fabiani C, Ounsi H, Grandini S.

Int J of Rehabilitation 2015 Vol 1, n 2.

Estratti di congressi internazionali

1) Ferrari M, Cagidiaco M, Chazine M, **Paragliola R**, Grandini S 1-year evaluation of Class II made with "Kalore" resin composite IADR 2009, Munich

2) Grandini S, **Paragliola R**, Chazine M, Cagidiaco M, Ferrari M Final rinse optimization: influence of different operative protocols IADR 2009, Munich

3) **Paragliola R**, Chazine M, Porciani PF, Ferrari M, Grandini S Comparison of smear layer removal ability by different rinse protocols IADR 2010 Barcellona

4) Ferrari M, Cagidiaco M, Chazine M, **Paragliola R**, Grandini S 1-year evaluation of Class II made with"Kalore" resin composite IADR 2010 Barcellona

Pubblicazioni Nazionali

1) Resistenza a fatica ciclica di strumenti in lega Nichel-Titanio. Franciosi G, Fulceri L, Cafaro G, **Paragliola R**, Franco V, Fabiani C, Grandini S Giornale Italiano di Endodonzia, 2012

Estratti di Congressi Nazionali

1) Analisi della variabile operatore nella preparazione canalare standardizzata con strumenti al Ni-Ti. **Paragliola R**., Mollo A., Randellini E., Goracci C., Chazine M., Grandini S. P17. Atti del Congresso SIE, Novembre 2006

2) Analisi della variabile operatore nella preparazione canalare standardimodelzzata con due differenti sistemi al Ni-Ti. **Paragliola R.**, Mollo A., Goracci C., Randellini E, Grandini S. Giornale Italiano di Conservativa, suppl. al vol V, n1, Genn Marzo 2007, P40, pag 92

3) Resistenza alla fatica di strumenti al Ni-Ti. **Paragliola R**, Cafaro G, Chiappetta E, Mollo A, Grandini S. Atti del XII Congresso Nazionale SIDOC, pag 183-188. Febbraio 2008

4) Final rinse optimization: influence of different operative protocols **Paragliola R,** Franco V, Fabiani C, Breschi L, Mollo A, Grandini S. Atti del XIII Congresso Nazionale SIDOC. Febbraio 2009

5) Analisi della abilità di rimozione dello smear layer di differenti protocolli operativi **Paragliola R**, Pavolucci G, Chazine M, Grandini S Atti del XIV Congresso Nazionale SIDOC - Roma 2010

6) Minimal approach to restorative dentistry: minimal intervention's philosophy. Cosenza G, **Paragliola R**, Goracci C, Chazine M, Ottolenghi L, Grandini S. MINERVA STOMATOLOGICA – Volume 59 – Supplemento 1 al N.4 – Aprile 2010 Atti del Congresso del collegio dei docenti di discipline odontostomatologiche

7) Comparison of smear layer removal ability using different protocols for the final rinse optimization.

E.Chiappetta, **R. Paragliola**, V. Franco, C. Fabiani, G. Franciosi, S. Grandini. Atti del Congresso del collegio dei docenti di discipline odontostomatologiche. Siena-Firenze 14-16 Aprile 2011.

8) Case report with a new Ni-Ti single file for the preparation of the root canal space **R.Paragliola**, V. Franco, C. Fabiani, G. Franciosi, S. Grandini. Atti del Congresso del collegio dei docenti di discipline odontostomatologiche. Siena-Firenze 14-16 Aprile 2011

9) Evaluation of cyclic fatigue resistance of different Ni-Ti files C.Roghi, G. Franciosi, **R. Paragliola**, V. Franco, C. Fabiani, S. Grandini Atti del Congresso del collegio dei docenti di discipline odontostomatologiche. Siena-Firenze 14-16 Aprile 2011

10) Single visit procedure for root canal treatment and bleaching of a discolored tooth: a case report C.Mongelli, E. Randellini, **R. Paragliola**, G. Franciosi, S. Grandini Atti del Congresso del collegio dei docenti di discipline odontostomatologiche. Siena-Firenze 14-16 Aprile 2011

11) Control of torque accuracy in some endodontic motors L.Fulceri, **R. Paragliola**, G. Franciosi, M. Ferrari, S. Grandini Atti del Congresso del collegio dei docenti di discipline odontostomatologiche. Siena-Firenze 14-16 Aprile 2011

12) Comparison of two techniques for assessing the shaping efficacy of repeatedly-used NiTi rotary G.Franciosi, **R. Paragliola**, H. Ounsi, S. Grandini Atti del Congresso del collegio dei docenti di discipline odontostomatologiche. Siena-Firenze 14-16 Aprile 2011

13) Comparison of different solutions for final rinse optimization J.Vittoni, **R. Paragliola**, V. Franco, C. Fabiani, G. Franciosi, S. Grandini

Atti del Congresso del collegio dei docenti di discipline odontostomatologiche. Siena-Firenze 14-16 Aprile 2011

14) Endodontic surgery with guided tissue regeneration comparison with only flap closure. A Case Report
E. Randellini, **R. Paragliola**, G. Franciosi, S. Grandini
Atti del Congresso del collegio dei docenti di discipline odontostomatologiche.
Siena-Firenze 14-16 Aprile 2011

Io sottoscritto RAFFAELE PARAGLIOLA, nato a POTENZA il 02/11/1982,

residente in POTENZA in VIA DEI MOLINARI 24

dichiaro che

tutto quanto è contenuto nel curriculum vitae soprariportato corrisponde a verità ai sensi delle norme in materia di dichiarazioni sostitutive di cui agli artt. 46 e seguenti del D.P.R. 445/ 2000.

In fede,

Raffaele Paragliola